
Community and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Panel  
 

Dear Member, 
 

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Community and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny 
Panel to be held as follows for the transaction of the business indicated. 
Tom Stannard 

Chief Executive  

 
DATE: Monday, 21 November 2022 

 
TIME:  2.00 pm 

 
VENUE: Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton 

 
In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 
2014,’ the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record 

this meeting.  
 

AGENDA 

 
1   Apologies  

 

 

2   Declarations of Interest  

 

 

3   Minutes of meeting held on 17 October 2022 and matters arising  

 
(Pages 1 - 6) 

4   Policing in Salford (Chief Insp. Darren Lomas, GMP) (to follow/be 
tabled)  

 

 

5   Neighbourhood Resilience Forums (NRFs) and Neighbourhood 
Management Update (Jeanette Staley - Head of Community 

Safety)  

 

(Pages 7 - 38) 

6   Elections Act 2022 and Voter ID (Jacquie Russell - Asst Director 

Strategy & Change)  

 

(Pages 39 - 134) 

7   Work Programme 2022/23  

 
(Pages 135 - 138) 

8   Any other business  

 

 

9   Next Meeting -  16 January 2023 at 2.00 pm  

 

 

 
Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 3013 

Mike Relph Senior Democratic Services Adviser E-Mail: mike.relph@salford.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



COMMUNITY AND NEIGHBOURHOODS SCRUTINY PANEL 
 

 17  October 2022 
 

 Meeting commenced: 2.00 p.m. 
 “                  ended: 3:50 p.m. 
 

 
PRESENT: Councillors Barnes, Brabiner, Fletcher, Mullen and  

Gina Reynolds.  
 
Councillor Barbara Bentham - Lead Member for Environment, 

Neighbourhoods and Community Safety 
Councillor David Lancaster* - Executive Support, Environment, 

Neighbourhoods and Community Safety 
Councillor Stephen Coen* - Executive Support, Culture, Leisure and 
Sports 

  
OFFICERS:  David Seager* - Asst Director, Operational and Community Services 

                     John Wooderson - Head of Service, Urban Renewal 
                     Julie King - Lead Practitioner, Regulatory Services 
                     Steve Dennison - Environmental Co-ordinator 

                     Jo Regan* - Environmental Programme Manager 
                     Mike Relph - Senior Democratic Services Officer 

                      
                    *Attended via Teams  

 

1. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR 
 

RESOLVED: THAT, in the absence of both the Chair and Vice-Chair, Councillor 
Gina Reynolds, be appointed as chair for the meeting. 
 

(Councillor Gina Reynolds - in the Chair) 
  

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Boshell, Dickman 

Karen Garrido, Wain, Walters, Ward and Warner. 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
Councillor John Mullen declared an interest in the item detailed in Minute 7. 

 
4. MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS  

 
The minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 18 July 2022, were approved as a 
correct record. 

 
 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



5. MATTERS ARISING 
 

(a)  Citywide School Meal Service 
(Previous Minute 5(a) - 18 July 2022) 

 
In response to the progress on the provision of Kosher and Halal school meals, David 
Seager advised this matter was currently being considered by the Lead Member for 

Environment, Neighbourhoods and Community Safety, on which the Panel would be 
updated in due course. 

 
(b)  Work Programme 2022/23 

(Previous Minute 7 - 18 July 2022) 

 
RESOLVED: THAT, future editions of the Work Programme contain an appendix 

detailing recommendations of the Panel, their progress and subsequent outcomes. 
 

(c)     Salford Quays - Water Safety 

(Previous Minutes 4(h) and 7(2) - 18 July 2022) 
 

David Seager reminded the Panel in July, the City Mayor had commissioned an 
independent third party review into water safety and unauthorised swimming at 
Salford Quays. It was anticipated that this review would present its findings early in 

2023, at which time they would be submitted to the Panel for consideration.  

 

6. PESTICIDES USE IN SALFORD 
 
Jo Regan gave a presentation providing an overview of Salford City Council’s use of 

pesticides in controlling weeds on streets and pavements and other public areas and 
land in its ownership within Salford, which focussed on the following key themes: 

 

 Use of pesticides. 

 Treatment options. 

 Control options. 

 Safety concerns. 

 Chemical control option. 

 Thermal. 

 Mechanical/manual. 

 Acetic acid (vinegar). 

 Perceptions. 

 Design options. 

 
Members raised issues, commented on, and noted them, as follows: 

 
(a) Clarification was sought on the use of acetic acid (vinegar) as means of weed 
control. It was indicated this method had been trialled by Bristol City Council with 

some success, but there had been “odour” problems, which had resulted in more 
traditional approaches being reintroduced. The substance used was stronger than 

household table vinegar. 
 

Page 2



(b) With Giant Hogweed generally most prevalent along water courses, what 
precautions were taken to ensure there was no contamination of rivers or harm 

to fish stocks? There were strict guidelines and procedures in place when using 

pesticides in such locations, with the need to apply for a licence from the Environment 

Agency. 
 
(c) Had there been instances where claims had been made against the City 

Council due to of individuals being injured by Giant Hogweed located on land in 
their ownership? There had been no such cases. 

 
(d) How did members of the public go about reporting weed infestations, 
including those of Giant Hogweed? This could be done in the same way as reporting 

any issue to the City Council and through either the website, or call centre. 
 
(e) Did the chemical treatment of Giant Hogweed pose a danger to animals? 

When using pesticides, the safety of humans and animals, both wild and domestic, 
was paramount and appropriate measure taken to ensure this was the case. No issues 

of harm being caused to animals had been reported. 
 
(f) The City Council’s use of pesticides had been reduced by 50%, were there 
any plans to reduce this even further? While there were no planned targets this 

remained a long-term objective, but was dependent on the introduction of alternative 

effective control methods.  
 
(g) Were the locations of Giant Hogweed and Japanese Knotweed in Salford 
mapped? This information was mapped and could be provided if required, though it 

was only for land in the City Council’s ownership. 

 
RESOLVED:  (1) THAT the presentation be noted, and thanks be extended to the 

Environmental Services Team in continuing to provide quality services and facilities to 
the residents of Salford. 
 

             (2) THAT Strategic Director for Place being asked to consider the 
trialling of acetic acid as method of weed control. 

 
7. ALLOTMENTS IN SALFORD 

 

(Councillor John Mullen declared an interest in this item in that, he was (i) a trustee of 
the Tindall Street Allotment Association and (ii) a member of Salford Allotment 

Federation (see Minute 3)) 
 
Jo Regan gave a presentation providing an overview of allotments in Salford, their use 

and management which focussed on the following key themes: 
 

 Developing an allotment strategy  

 Meeting growing demand 

 Promoting self-management 

 Salford allotment Federation 

 Tatton Street, Ordsall - case study 

 Rediscovering derelict plots 

Page 3



 Beechfield Allotments, Swinton Park - case study  

 Site updates  

 Community growing schemes 

 Greenspace Strategy: Supplementary Planning Document  

 Future plans and development 
 

Members raised issues, commented on, and noted them, as follows: 
 
(a) Was the information listed on the Salford City Council website accurate in 
terms of the waiting lists for allotment plots? It was believed to be the case and 

there had been a recent “audit” of applications which confirmed this.  

 
(b) Was there active monitoring of allotment use, particularly when they became 

vacant and untended? There was such monitoring, but it created challenges. Where 

there were instances of non-payment of fees these would be pursued in accordance 
with the City Council’s normal debt recovery practices, but these could cause delays 

in identifying individual allotment plots were no longer being used. The Covid-19 
pandemic had compounded this problem. As an allotment owner, Councillor John 

Mullen, commented in his personal experience the system did operate effectively and 
there was an element of self-monitoring by owners. He said allotment owners while 
they respected neighbouring owners for personal reasons, such as illness, may be 

unable to take care of their plots, if in the long term this remained an issue, they would 
be drawn to the attention of the City Council. 

 
(c) It was suggested there was not effective use of Community Payback as a 
means of clearing and renovating derelict allotment sites, so they could be 

brought back into use. The need for suitable on site toilet facilities for those 
participating in such schemes was highlighted and whether this was a statutory 

requirement for allotment sites? In accordance with the Greenspace Strategy, 

requirements for toilet facilities only applied to new sites, not existing ones. Councillor 
David Lancaster provided an update on the Community Payback scheme and the 

types of activities which could be supported by it. 
 
(d) What was the anticipated the new allotment sites which were proposed would 
be operational? It was hoped this would be late summer or autumn of 2023. 

 
(e) The creation of a “Salford Allotment App” providing general information and 
advice was suggested. 

 
(f) It was suggested there was a need for a more proactive and community 
engaged focus in identifying new allotment sites, particularly engagement with 

the many allotment associations across Salford, with an overarching strategy 
for this to ensure a comprehensive and co-ordinated approach. 

 
(g) Whether there could be better use of Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
Section 106 money to create new allotments, upgrade existing ones and bring 

derelict sites back into use etc? It was recognised that funding was fundamental to 

many of the challenges faced and realising the City Council’s ambitions in terms of 

delivering allotments in Salford and all potential finance streams were identified and 
rigorously pursued. 

Page 4



RESOLVED:  THAT the presentation be noted, and thanks be extended to the 
Environmental Services Team in continuing to provide quality services and facilities to 

the residents of Salford. 
 

8. PEST CONTROL AND DOG WARDEN SERVICE 
 
John Wooderson, Julie King and Steve Dennison gave a presentation providing an 

overview of pest control and dog warden services in Salford, which focussed on the 
following key themes: 

 

 Background 

 Legal requirements 

 Trends 

 Rats in Public Places (RIPP) 

 United Utilities 

 Improvements in 2022 

 Next steps 
 

Members raised issues, commented on, and noted them, as follows: 
 
(a) The rise from £15,000 to £18,000 paid by United Utilities to Salford City 
Council for sewer baiting was noted and welcomed, but was there any potential 
for this to be increased further? This payment was similar to that paid to other 

Greater Manchester local authorities for the same service and it was unlikely to be 
increased in the short term. 

 
(b) Whether the leaflet produced by the Service, advising Salford residents 
how to identify if they have a rodent problem, and how to avoid getting a 

rodent problem, could be placed in Gateway centres across the City? This was 

something which could be investigated. 

 
(c) Had any reasons been identified for the rise in bedbug treatment cases and 
could details be provided of the locations of these? No definite causes had been 

identified, though an increase in people purchasing second hand furniture could be 
one possibility, infestations in communal areas of multi occupancy premises was 
another. An analysis of cases on ward by ward basis could be provided. 

 
(d) Were pesticides used in the treatment of bedbug infestations? Treatment by 

steaming was the preferred option, but the use of chemicals remained an option held 
in reserve if the former proved unsuccessful.  
 
(e) Other than baiting, what activities were undertaken in terms of treating, or 
deterring rats? Providing general advice and education for householders about 

avoiding things, or activities, which could encourage rats, or taking simple practical 
preventative measures, was having a positive impact.  
 
(f) Was the Manchester Ship Canal seen as a major conduit for rats coming 
into the City? There was no specific evidence to suggest this was the case, but in 

any event was outside the responsibility of Salford City Council, if identified as a 
problem this instead could be raised with the Port Health Authority. 

Page 5



(g) It was suggested there was a need to have a comprehensive and localised 
approach to gathering information on rat infestations/sightings, which would 

enable a quicker and more effective response. This was recognised and already 

links were being established between the City Council and relevant stakeholders in 

Salford, including housing providers, to achieve this. 
 
(h) The decision to waive pest control fees for residents experiencing financial 

hardship was welcomed. 
 

(i) Was dog fouling a significant problem? This appeared to be less of an issue 

than it once had been. It was suggested preventative and educational initiatives had 
played a part in this, but it was something the service remained alert to. 

 
(j) Was there data available of pest treatment visits in Salford? This information 

could be provided on a ward by ward basis. 
 
RESOLVED:  THAT the presentation be noted, and thanks be extended to the 

Regulatory Services Team in continuing to provide quality services and facilities to the 
residents of Salford in terms of pest control and the dog warden service. 

 
9. WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 

 

Members considered the Panel’s Work Programme for 2022/23.  
 

RESOLVED: (1) THAT the Panel’s Work Programme for 2022/23, be noted. 
 
  (2) THAT the findings of independent third party review into water 

safety and unauthorised swimming at Salford Quays as commissioned by the City 
Mayor be scheduled into the Panel’s Work Programme for early 2023 (see also 

Minute 5(c)). 
 

10. DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

 
It was noted that the next meeting of the Panel would be held on Monday, 21 

November 2022, commencing at 2.00 pm.  
 

Page 6



 1 

Part 1: Open to the Public  

 

REPORT OF 

 

TO: The Community and  Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Panel  

 

ON: Monday 21 November 2022

 

TITLE: East Salford Neighbourhood and Swinton and Pendlebury Neighbourhood -

Resilience Forums Update 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: The Community and  Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Panel is requested 
to note the information. 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  

The purpose of the report is to provide an overview of the work of the East Salford 
Neighbourhood Resilience Forum and Swinton and Pendlebury Neighbourhood Resilience 
Forum during 2022. 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: N/A 

 

KEY DECISION: NO 

 

DETAILS: 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 

 
Neighbourhood Resilience Forums (NRFs) were established in each of the city’s eight 
neighbourhood areas in April 2020 in response to the Covid pandemic with the purpose of; 
 

 Developing civil resilience in Salford at a neighbourhood level. 

 Being the multi-agency tasking and co-ordinating group for each Neighbourhood area.  
 

This paper provides an update on the work of two NRFs – East Salford Neighbourhood 
Resilience Forum (covering the wards of Broughton, Kersal and Broughton Park, Blackfriars 
and Trinity) and Swinton and Pendlebury Neighbourhood Resilience Forum (covering the 

wards of Pendlebury and Clifton, Swinton and Wardley, Swinton Park). 
 
 
 
 
Partnership – Resilience Forums 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



 2 

Both Forums are now embedded in each neighbourhood as the model of effective partnership 
working. The NRFs model has enabled proactive responses to neighbourhood issues to be 
addressed, a shared desire to work together to get business done and improved methods of 
communication.  
 
NRFs in each neighbourhood meet monthly and are well attended by elected members and 
partners, both internal and external from the council.  
 
Both NRFs have a standard agenda which allow partners to provide an update regards their 
area of work and to identify and highlight any problems, barriers, or challenges.  
 
Partners are: 
 
Greater Manchester Police  
Great Manchester Fire & Rescue Service  
Public Health  
Health Improvement Team  
Regulatory Services  
Youth Services  
Salford Community Leisure 
Housing Providers 
Environmental Services  
Prevention & Cohesion 
 
In each neighbourhood specific representatives from partner organisations relevant to that 
area are also included on the agenda. In East Salford these being Broughton Hub, Inspiring 
Communities Together and The Broughton Trust and in Swinton and Pendlebury Swinton 
Gateway and Swinton Shopping Centre Manager.  There are several housing providers across 
the neighbourhoods, ForHousing, Salix Homes, Irwell Valley, Onward, all of which have an 
identified representative who attends NRF.  

 
Councillors’ updates are also a standard agenda item which provides an opportunity for 
members to raise specific issues with partners if they haven’t already been discussed through 
their updates.  This has been particularly useful in being able to respond to resident issues 
raised around community safety, housing, public health and council services. The 
effectiveness of NRFs and its partners is also demonstrated by partners working together in 
new ways outside of formal meetings to tackle issues raised and working together as one team.   
 

2. KEY DISCUSSION AND ACTION 

 
A summary of the key discussions and actions for each NRF is detailed: 
 

- Bike seizures around Heath Avenue and Kersal supported by a communications plan. 
- Burglaries, activity around cocooning, community engagement, target hardening.  
- Vehicle Crime, particularly theft of catalytic convertors – intense activity through 

engagement, awareness raising. 
- Community reassurance, working with GMP, CST and Broughton Park Community 

Patrol.  
- Developing a community engagement plan for Clowes Park. 
- Swinton Town Centre anti-social behaviour responded to with patrol plan, youth 

engagement, CSRT referrals.  
- Leaflet drops in target areas to encourage the reporting of crime. 
- Working with GMFRS to improve security of Swinton Park Golf Club. 
- Seasonal issues regard youth related anti-social behaviour. 

Page 8



 3 

- Partnership planning regarding seasonal campaigns Safe 4 Summer and Operation 
Treacle.  

- Action plan to address antisocial behaviour and building management issues at Adelphi 
Wharf apartments. 

- Responding to off road bike issues at Swinton Greenway and Moorside Park through 
encouraging reporting, patrol plans being in place and improved Section 59 signage.  

- Promoting Covid vaccination sites and public health messages.  
- Understanding health inequalities and working with partners to address these. 
- Increased partnership knowledge of grant funding available to support community 

projects. 
- Increased focus on environmental hotspots and proactive work to respond to the 

challenges these bring.   
 

3. PLANNING AND TASKING 

 
The strengthened partnerships that have been developed through NRFs have enabled several 
planning and tasking meetings to be developed within each neighbourhood, that have led to 
an improved and more effective structure: 
 
Pace-Catch Up meetings 

These are held weekly with the Neighbourhood Manager, GMP Neighbourhood 
Inspector/Sergeant, and main housing providers for each neighbourhood; ForHousing and 
Salix Homes. The meetings are swift, lasting only half an hour, but are focussed on identifying 
addresses and individuals of concern so they can be responded to and addressed at pace, 
preventing any issues or concerns to further develop.  
 
Place-based meetings 

Each NRF has identified a priority place of focus within its neighbourhood where identified 
partners meet as working group to develop an action plan to respond to these issues. 
 
The priorities of the action plans are: 
 

- Tackling Crime and Anti-Social behaviour 
- Outreach, Communication and Engagement 
- Environmental Improvements  
 

In East Salford the priority place of focus is Heath Avenue, this is an area where there have 
been repeat issues of crime and anti-social behaviour and where it has been difficult to engage 
residents. Meetings have been held quarterly over a 12-month period and have been 
successful in securing additional CCTV in partnership with funding from Salix Homes, working 
with the youth partnership to develop youth activities on the estate and working closely with 
GMP and Salix Homes to identify and act against offenders. The plan is now focusing upon 
wider community engagement within the estate and Salix Homes and GMP are arranging 
resident surgeries, as well as environmental improvements such as removing old street 
infrastructure and developing an allotment project.  
 
In Swinton and Pendlebury Neighbourhood the priority place of focus is  around Ackworth 
Road.  This is an area where there has been repeat issues of anti-social behaviour and youth 
crime. Engagement with residents and schools, through leaflet drops, visits and walkabouts 
have been key priorities to gather information and offer reassurance.  Working through the 
youth partnership for this area to be a priority of focus has also been key for issues to be 
addressed and responded to. The plan is now focusing on wider school engagement such as 
through the Pupil Referral Units (PRUs) and identifying where there maybe opportunities for 
longer term improvements through physical infrastructure such as lighting and security.  
 

Page 9



 4 

Youth Partnerships 
The East Salford and Swinton and Pendlebury (SPY) Youth Partnerships are strong and 
successful partnerships. Both partnerships, are chaired by members of the youth service and 
have a membership of voluntary and community groups, housing associations, GMP, Salford 
City Council and Salford Community Leisure. In addition, East Salford membership includes 
local councillors. 
 
The meetings take place bi-monthly, and the Neighbourhood Development Officer liaises with 
the chair to ensure there is an effective agenda which captures NRF priorities around youth 
outreach and engagement and includes partner updates, funding updates and proposed 
projects where partners can discuss and identify further partnership working. 
 
The East Salford partnership has been instrumental in delivering the effective youth 
engagement modal in Health Avenue and the SPY partnership is working to develop a similar 
modal in Clifton.   
 
Ward Walkabouts  

Throughout the year a walkabout has been scheduled in each of the wards within the 
neighbourhoods. The Neighbourhood Management Team and Ward Councillors have planned 
the itinerary which has given an overview of the wards strengths and elected members 
concerns regarding the ward.  Discussions and priorities from NRFs have often been the focus 
of the walkabouts which have been attended by the City Mayor and Chief Executive. 
 
The NRFs have also arranged estate-based walkabouts throughout the year, particularly in 
partnership with housing colleagues, but also attended by Ward Councillors, GMP, and 
representatives from Salford Councils environment, youth, and regulatory servicers.  These 
have enabled an onsite discussion focusing in more detail on its priority areas as well and an 
opportunity to provide a visible presence and engage with members of the community.  
 
 

4. COMMUNICATION  

 
The neighbourhood management team has developed a community contacts database of local 
groups, organisations, and key individuals.  A weekly e-newsletter is sent to the database that 
promotes local information, events, and messages.  NRF partners have found this, and 
neighbourhood social media platforms, an effective method to share information within the 
community. 
 

5. CONCLUSION 
 

East Salford Neighbourhood Resilience Forum and Swinton and Pendlebury Resilience Forum 
are firmly established and embedded within the neighbourhood as the partnership meeting. A 
regular monthly meeting that enables communication and swift action to be taken has added 
value to the neighbourhood model.  The partnership has expanded to include additional 
partners such as public health and is working effectively, almost as one team, with a shared 
sense of purpose.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



 5 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  

 

 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: N/A 

 

 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: Low 

 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 

 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 

 
 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 

 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: N/A 

 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: Andrew Meadows  TEL NO: 0161 603 4293 

 

 
 

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: Broughton, Kersal and Broughton Park, 
Blackfriars and Trinity, Pendlebury and Clifton, Swinton and Wardley, Swinton Park. 

 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

Part 1: Open to the Public  

 

REPORT OF 

 

TO: The Community and  Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Panel  

ON: Monday 21 November 2022

 

TITLE: The Quays, Ordsall, Pendleton and Charlestown, Claremont, Weaste and Seedley 

(Southeast) Neighbourhood Resilience Forum Update 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: The Community and  Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Panel is requested 
to note the information. 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  

The purpose of the report is to provide an overview of the work of the Neighbourhood 
Resilience Forums serving the Southeast wards from July 2021 to July 2022.  

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: N/A 

 

KEY DECISION: NO 

 

DETAILS: 

 
Background 
 
In Summary, Neighbourhood Resilience Forums (NRFs) were established in each of the city’s 
eight neighbourhood areas in April 2020 in response to the Covid pandemic with the purpose 
of; 
 

 Developing civil resilience in Salford at a neighbourhood level. 

 Being the multi-agency tasking and co-ordinating group for each Neighbourhood area.  
 

This paper provides an update on the work of two NRFs – The Quays, Ordsall, Pendleton and 
Charlestown forum and secondly, the Claremont, Weaste and Seedley forum.  
 
The forums in both neighbourhoods continue to be well attended by partners and elected 
members. All have commented upon the positive role the forums have had in supporting 
communications across the local partnership, sharing current and real time information and 
enabling issues to be addressed quickly.  
 

1. The Quays, Ordsall, Pendleton and Charlestown Neighbourhood Resilience 
Forum 

 

Page 13



 2 

This forum is attended by all key local partners however Salford University and Salford 
Shopping Centre Management are additional attendees in this neighbourhood area.  
 
The NRF agenda is themed as follows; 
 
Community Safety and Antisocial behaviour 
 

The latest monthly Lead Member briefing detailing crime and ASB rates is reviewed by both 
forums. This review accompanies the verbal update from GMP.  
 

There have been several community safety challenges that the forum has focused upon 
including; 
 

 Youth related gatherings at various locations, notably, Ordsall, Charlestown and the 
Quays. There have been repeat incidents around Regent Square in Ordsall and a 
partnership action plan is in place to address this. There is also a subgroup meeting 
with GMP, housing providers and the NM Team to share intelligence and agree 
enforcement actions. This has resulted in some success recently whereby a number of 
stolen bikes have been seized. 
 

 Hate crime incidents in Charlestown and preventative measures to support victims. 
Bespoke Community Safety Referral Team meetings took place in response to these 
incidents where enforcement action and support for victims was agreed.  
 

 Antisocial behaviour at Salford Quays and the wider action plan for the Quays area, 
including patrol plans, outreach and engagement and enforcement activity. This 
includes actions to address vehicle related ASB at the Quays.  
 

 Seasonal issues with antisocial behaviour at parks and open spaces, specifically 
Ordsall Park. 
 

 Issues of youth related crime at the Salford University campus. 
 

 Seasonal issues with theft of pedal cycles and mobile phones across the area. 
 

 Issues of crime within the Pendleton area, notably, sporadic incidents of criminal 
damage and drug supply in Charlestown. 
 

 Unauthorised bonfires and public gatherings across the area particularly the Ordsall 
and Pendleton. 
 

 Theft of Motor Vehicle and Theft from Motor Vehicle in Ordsall. 
 

 The meetings have agreed locations for the introduction of deployable and permanent 
CCTV installations, in response to local need.   
 

 A bespoke action plan for the Pendleton and Charleston ward was devised due to the 
high crime rates in the area. This plan was presented at a previous Lead Member 
briefing and continues to be a focus for the NRF.  
 

 Police intervention in areas of regeneration in the Charleston area where inconsiderate 
parking has occurred, for example, Littleton Road.  
 

Page 14



 3 

 The issues with public order and gatherings at the Broadwalk are not as prevalent as 
previous years, nonetheless, the forum monitors activity there and can response with 
a partnership response as needed.  
 

Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue service  
 

The team attend meetings when they are available and around seasonal issues such as 
October/November and pre-Summer to discuss planning of safety campaigns. The team 
attending this forum have lead water safety events at the Quays and undertake engagement 
events with schools as required.  
 
Regulatory services 

 
Regulatory Services assist with problem solving in relation to area issues and enforcement 
activity for example working with Quayside shopping centre to address youth related antisocial 
behaviour by facilitating a series of acceptable behaviour agreement meetings with parents, 
young people and schools. This intervention resulted in a significant reduction in antisocial 
behaviour in the centre.  
 
The team lead on partnership campaigns such as Safe for Summer and seasonal campaigns 
connected to Bonfire events. The team have led the consultation to reintroduce the new Public 
Space Protection Order as Salford Quays and assist with coordinating the Council foot patrols 
and public engagement at the quays during Summer.  
 
Resilience forum partners attended a training session led by regulatory services to ensure that 
designated powers to serve fixed Penalty notices and community protection notices was 
understood and adopted across the partnership. 
 
Environmental Services  
 
Partners discuss the various environmental hotspots across the area and agree interventions 
to address these. There are locations in the Charlestown area around clusters of private rented 
properties and HMO’s whereby high turnover of residents can create challenges with waste 
disposal. Other areas of focus have been Clarendon Park and other open spaces where fly 
tipping occurs.  
 
Specific streets discussed at the forum have included Beeley Street/Rowley 
Street/Coniston/Blandford Street, all of which are repeat locations for side waste. The team 
have actively attended walkabouts with partners and Councillors, as agreed at resilience forum 
meetings and from these areas for enforcement and education have been identified.  
 
 A recent issue that has been raised at the meeting has been the issue of rat infestations 
around the Pendleton area, the Broadwalk and greenspaces around the high-rise properties 
being problematic. A subgroup of the forum will convene to discuss the partnership approach 
to addressing this with input from housing providers.  
 
 
Public health  

 
Public Health still provide updates on Covid to ensure that partners to fully understand the 
picture at city, neighbourhood and ward level.  In previous months this has enabled useful 
discussion about any trends or hotspots and focussed the work of the Health Improvement 
Teams and CVS outreach and engagement. The role of public health teams at resilience 
forums has more recently focus upon health campaign promotion and how to reach 
underrepresented groups in areas where the demographic has changed, for example in 

Page 15



 4 

Pendleton, Charlestown and Ordsall where regeneration is taking place and communities are 
changing.  
 
Health Improvement  

 
Health Improvement Teams are now delivering a full programme of activity within the locality, 
moving away from Covid related outreach and engagement. Currently activity includes tackling 
social isolation, weight management, family nutrition and public engagement sessions offering 
general health advice.  
 
Housing providers 
 
Housing providers represented at the Quays, Ordsall and Pendleton/Charleston Forum 
are;  
 

 Pendleton Together 
 Salix 

 Great Places 
 
These partners are central to various aspects of problem solving, specifically antisocial 
behaviour, crime, youth and community engagement.  
   
 
Youth Services and Salford Community Leisure  

 
Given that the locality has a separate youth partnership forum, the lead officer for youth 
outreach attends Resilience forum meetings. The forum guides where youth outreach has 
taken place within the locality. This is a reactive service that enables evening outreach to be 
delivered where needed. A recent example is where the team have assisted with the ASB 
hotspot at Regent Square, Ordsall.  
 
Salford Community Leisure are also linked into the meetings as a means of providing updates 
on availability of leisure services across the locality and planning around term time and holiday 
activity provision. The locality has hosted a community led violence reduction pilot in recent 
months and input from NRF members have guided how this funding has bene invested in 
projects aimed at young people 11 – 25 years of age. All youth delivery partners have 
contributed to the production of a timetable of term time and holiday activity programmes. 
These are shared widely via social media and weekly bulletins.  
 
Prevent and cohesion  

 
Salford City Council prevent and cohesion team attend forums to provide update on 
campaigns, public engagement and training available. Campaigns include hate crime 
awareness week and Black history month. Any feedback from public engagement undertaken 
is shared with NRF members, for example recent consultation at Gateways around hate crime 
reporting.  The team also highlight where there has been a significant increase of extremism 
and /or far right activities in the city to enable partners to monitor tensions amongst 
communities.  
 
Inspiring communities together (ICT) 

 
ICT are a charitable incorporated organisation operating in Pendleton, Pendleton, Weaste and 
Seedley. They undertake community development activity and have started to assist in 
delivering community based projects to engage people in their local environment. They are 
active in the Charlestown area where we have challenges with side waste amongst gated 

Page 16



 5 

communities. This work compliments that of our Environmental Services officers who 
undertaken education in hotspot areas. ICT attend the forum and the meeting guides the work 
of the team.  
 
Salford Shopping City 

 
The centre manager has been a regular attendee at the resilience forum throughout Covid and 
to present day. The team at the centre have assisted with public engagement and crime 
prevention, sharing CCTV images and intelligence with GMP on offenders who frequent the 
centre.  The team have also linked community organisations to vacant spaces/units if required.  
 
Salford University  
 

The university is a new partner at meetings but very much a vital one where personal safety, 
health and other campaigns are concerned. The team have worked closely with partners to 
address recent youth related ASB issues through information sharing and by proactively 
sharing CCTV to help identify those involved.  We have begun to work with the university on 
campaigns such as ‘Don’t drink and drown’ and a ‘Good night out’. Through the university, we 
are also extending environmental education to students who reside in HMOs in the city. 
 
Ward Walkabouts – City Mayor, Chief Executive and Ward Councillors  

 
During the year, the Neighbourhood Management Team and local Councillors have led 
walkabouts around the area, attended by the City Mayor and Chief Executive. 
 
In the Ordsall area, two walkabouts have been undertaken and the entire ward has been 
covered through these visits. Issues addressed as a result have been overgrown trees 
obscuring street lighting and contributing to ASB, environmental issues, communications 
detailing good news stories eg, new affordable house building and identifying potential uses 
for vacant buildings.  
 
In the Pendleton and Charlestown area, one walkabout has been undertaken with the City 
Mayor and Chief Executive however several have been undertaken on a neighbourhood basis 
with GMP, housing providers and councillors. These have been important in improving the 
visibility of officers in areas where serious acquisitive crime has been high. All walkabouts in 
this area have identified environmental issues and community safety concerns which have 
been addressed as a result.  
 
One walkabout has been undertaken at The Quays. This visit focused upon the quality of the 
waterside, environmental issues and recognition of Host as a facility for training and innovation. 
Since the walkabout number improvements to greening along the waterside have been 
addressed and the various notice boards around the area have been refurbished.  
 

2. Claremont, Weaste and Seedley Neighbourhood Resilience Forum  
 
Crime and Antisocial behaviour  
 

There have been several community safety challenges that the forum has focused upon 
including; 
 

 Youth related antisocial behaviour within parks and open spaces at Lightoaks Park, 
Oakwood Park, Buile Hill park and Chimney Pot Park.  

 Burglary and attempted Burglary in Claremont, at various locations. 
 Theft from motor vehicle in Claremont, around the Duffield Road and immediate area 

 Off road bike issues in parks and at the Duchy area. 

Page 17



 6 

 Bogus callers targeting elderly residents  
 
The area has a number of active Homewatch schemes and these have been an important 
vehicle to share community safety advice.  
 

This forum is also attended by Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service, Regulatory 
Services, Public Health and Health improvement and their input is like that at the Quays, 
Ordsall, Pendleton and Charlestown forum.  
 
Environmental Services 

 
The work to address hotspots for fly tipping, contaminated bins, side waste and unmaintained 
alleyways is a priority for this NRF and this was supported by a round table discussion with the 
city mayor and others during 2021. These challenges are across the area but particularly 
amongst areas of high private rented and HMO properties. Key streets are Barrfield road, 
Tootal road, Weaste Lane, Dodd Street, Southbourne Street, Nadine and Edmund Street 
Spring Gardens and Highfield road. Opportunities for education and enforcement are pursued 
NRF partners. Separately, the condition of Bolton Road public realm is also a priority, this area 
suffers from graffiti, litter and the condition of neighbouring subways are being addressed via 
the NRF.  
 
Housing providers  
 
The housing providers attending the forum are predominantly Salix, Great Places and 
occasionally Irwell Valley Housing association. The focus of these providers is the Duchy area, 
Stanhope estate, Sage Place, Barff road areas such as Nadine Street where there is housing 
stock mixed with private sector housing. All these partners contribute to the work to address 
crime, quality of the environment and wider issues. An example is working with Salix to address 
those involved in off road biking within the Duchy area.  
 
 
City Mayor / Chief Executive and ward Councillor walkabout 
 
Claremont 
 

The walkabout focused upon open spaces and potential for new community facilities. The 
attendees visited the former Height Youth centre and discussed the business plan for the 
space and aspiration by several local community groups to raise funds to bring the space back 
into use. This is a priority that the NRF and Community Committee for the area supports. 
Environmental issues at Bolton Road and the quality of open spaces in the area – Lightoaks 
park and Oakwood Park were also a focus. Various actions were addressed including removal 
of waste, graffiti and support to Friends of the Park community groups.  
 
Weaste and Seedley  

 
 
This walkabout visited the Cumbrae Gardens and Tootal road areas to review environmental 
issues, highways repairs and general street scene priorities. Actions to investigate and remove 
waste were undertaken and Salix agreed to review highway repairs that they own. The 
walkabout also noted the high concentration of HMOs in the area and the need to raise 
awareness amongst of waste management requirements, responsibilities around gated 
alleyways and responsibilities of private landlords.  
 
 
Inspiring Communities Together (ICT) 

Page 18



 7 

 
ICT deliver essential community engagement at the Tootal, Barff and Kennedy Road areas of 
Weaste where we have ongoing issues with poor waste management. These are areas of 
predominately private tenancies where turnover is high. Chimney Pot Park is a priority for the 
team as they focus upon delivering community development activity and links to the 
Cornerstone Centre to increase usage and eventually support to a new friend of the park group.   
 
Councillors Updates 
 

At both forums there is a stand alone agenda item to capture additional points that ward 
members want to raise.  
 
In the case of the Claremont and Weaste NRF, some of these issues relate to highways 
concerns as this is a particular community concern in Claremont, whilst there isn’t a highways 
agenda item at the NRF, issues to be raised at the Highways Task Group will sometimes be 
raised at the NRF.   
 
Pendleton and Charlestown Councillors often share concerns raised by residents about crime 
and antisocial behaviour and the NRF meetings have been key in arranging a number of multi-
agency walkabouts as a means of increasing community reassurance. 
 
The Quays Councillors have found the regular updates on the partnership action plan useful 
in the summer months when the area is busy.  
 
Councillors have commented upon how useful the meeting is as a means of raising issues 
reported by residents.  
 
 
Communications  

 
Resilience Forums have developed strong methods of information sharing with partners 
sending information to the neighbourhood management team to share with the wider 
partnership. This has enabled useful information to be disseminated to the partners and 
community in a prompt and timely manner.   
 
Feedback 

 
As Resilience Forums have developed, the Neighbourhood Manager has regularly asked 
partners for feedback as to how the forum is valued.   
 
Feedback from partners has always been positive as they have found value the model for 
several reasons. 
 

- The frequency of the meetings has fostered a stronger sense of partnership and shared 
problem solving during a challenging time. A bi-weekly meeting enables a fuller 
understanding of neighbourhood issues as they arise and allows for real time 
information to be shared and acted upon 
 

- Comment has been made about the efficiency of the meetings, whilst meeting on a 
more frequent basis, they are more succinct and time effective overall. Emerging issues 
have been discussed and enabled partners to respond with quick resolve. 
 

- Information from all partners has been shared regularly and so there is an improved 
understanding of the work each service is delivering. 
 

Page 19



 8 

- The involvement of public health has been extremely valuable. In embedding the public 
health lead into the local partnership arrangements, the meetings have provided a 
means of sharing current information relating to the pandemic but also wider areas of 
work.  
 

The resilience forums are now welcomed as a way partnership work is facilitated and the added 
value the wider partners bring provides a more effective approach to place based working.  
 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  

 

 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: N/A 

 

 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: Low 

 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 

 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:N/A 

 

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 

 
 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 

 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: N/A 

 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: Marie Shields  TEL NO: 0161 603 4091  

 

 

Page 20



 9 

 

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: Claremont, Weaste, Seedley, The Quays , 
Ordsall, Pendleton and Charlestown 

 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Part 1: Open to the Public 

 
REPORT OF STRATEGIC DIRECTOR PLACE 

 

TO: The Community and  Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Panel  

ON: Monday 21 November 2022
 

TITLE: Eccles, Barton & Winton and Higher Irlam/Peel Green & 
Cadishead/Lower Irlam  

Neighbourhood Resilience Forums Update. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: The Community and  Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Panel  

is requested to note the information. 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: The purpose of this report is to share the work of 
Eccles, Barton & Winton and Higher Irlam/Peel Green & Cadishead/Lower Irlam 
Neighbourhood Resilience Forums.  

 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: N/A 

 
KEY DECISION: NO 

 
DETAILS: 

 
Background 

 
Neighbourhood Resilience Forums (NRF) were established in each of the city’s eight 

neighbourhood areas in April 2020 in response to the covid 19 pandemic with the 
purpose of:  

 

 Developing civil resilience in Salford at a neighbourhood level. 

 Being the multi-agency tactical tasking and co-ordinating group for each 

Neighbourhood area.  
 

When the Neighbourhood Resilience Forums were launched in 2020, the Eccles, 
Barton & Winton and Higher Irlam/Peel Green & Cadishead/Lower Irlam forums met 

on a bi-weekly basis. In the last few months, the cycle for both areas have moved to 
a monthly meeting to run in line with the rest of the city.  
 
Neighbourhood Resilience Forum Membership  

 
Neighbourhood Resilience Forums have a diverse membership, with a wide range of 

partner agencies playing a key role, alongside Elected Members. This incorporates 
housing, GMP, GMFRS, Public Health, Youth Services, Health Improvement, 

Regulatory Services, Salford CVS and other internal and external partners who join 
meetings when required to input on specific issues and priorities.  
 

 

Page 23



 
 
Focus/Priorities 

 

The Neighbourhood Resilience Forums for Eccles, Barton & Winton and Higher 
Irlam/Peel Green & Cadishead/Lower Irlam have been at the forefront of driving 
forward improvements to both areas by focusing on issues that impact on the quality 

of life for residents within these neighbourhoods and setting priorities that matter most 
to local residents. Some of the key priorities over the last 12 months have included the 

following: 
 
Community Safety 

 

The Neighbourhood Resilience Forums have been an effective mechanism to update 

partners on neighbourhood and city-wide police operations, including Op Sycamore 
(knife crime) and the annual Safe 4 Summer response to anti-social 
behaviour.  Priorities such as burglary and car crime are brought to the forums for 

discussion with partners and Cllrs. This has helped in spreading target hardening 
messages throughout the neighbourhood to assist residents and to also feedback on 

progress in tackling these issues.  
 
Following the significant increase in burglaries within the Southwest of the city in the 

second quarter of 2022, there was a big focus from GMP on targeting suspected 
offenders and through close partnership working via the Resilience Forums and 

Community Safety Referral Team (CSRT), suspects were identified and warrants 
executed. This resulted in a key offender from the Eccles area being arrested and 
charged and a significant reduction in burglaries and car crime was achieved. 
 
Anti-Social Behaviour: 

 

The Neighbourhood Resilience Forums have played a key role, alongside the CSRT, 
in targeting hotspots where anti-social behaviour is impacting on communities across 

the Southwest of the city. The forums have provided a fully joined up approach for 
partners and Cllrs to both identify where issues are occurring and develop solutions to 

tackling the issues. Some examples of key hotspot areas that forum members have 
come together to tackle include the following: 
 

 Cadishead Railway Embankment 

 Cadishead Park 

 Monton Veterans Shelter 

 AJ Bell Stadium (Football Pitches) 

 Ivy Street Park  
 

When hotspots of anti-social behaviour have occurred across the area, the forums 
have been at the very forefront of tackling the issues. Youth service detached teams 
have visited these locations when directed from information shared at Neighbourhood 

Resilience Forums by partners and Cllrs. This has led to positive engagement of many 
young people, in particular on the Brookhouse Estate and in Monton, both at the 

Veterans Shelter and Duke’s Drive. 
 

Page 24



The forums have linked in effectively with CSRT, to ensure problematic individuals 
and hotspot areas identified are referred to CSRT for discussion so that multi-agency 

plans can be put in place. This process has enabled Cllrs, housing providers and police 
partners to feed back to complainants regarding the actions taken. Issues including 

the need for additional CCTV in hotspot areas, such as Bray Avenue and the Veterans 
Shelter, have been identified and discussed via the forums and then CCTV units have 
been secured via devolved budget and standing together monies.   

 
In May 2022 the Higher Irlam/Peel Green & Cadishead/Lower Irlam forum helped 

identify a number of issues that were occurring on the Cadishead railway embankment 
with youths throwing stones and ballasts at houses, which resulted in multiple police 
reports and significant community anger. In response to this issue an agenda item was 

added for discussion at the Higher Irlam/Peel Green and Cadishead/Lower Irlam 
resilience forum. Colleagues from Network Rail were invited to attend to discuss the 

issues and solutions were agreed, including assistance from Youth Service detached 
teams, patrols from local PCSO’s and physical improvements to the site by Network 
Rail. No new reports have been received following these actions.  

 
The Eccles, Barton & Winton resilience forum has also been pivotal in tackling 

issues of anti-social behaviour in and around the veterans shelter in Monton. Issues 
have been brought to the forum, discussed in detail with partners including GMP, 
SCC Youth Services and regulatory services colleagues, before agreeing a robust 

and successful approach to resolving them. Detached teams from youth services 
were deployed, engagement took place with local schools and patrol plans focused 

on attending the shelter at key times when ASB had been reported were put into 
action by the Neighbourhood Inspector.  
 
Resident Engagement  
 

The Eccles, Barton & Winton Neighbourhood Resilience Forum played a key role in 
establishing the new ‘Eccles Connects’ networking event, which launched in June 
this year. The event was aimed at anyone living, working or just with an interest in 

the Eccles, Barton and Winton wards. The initial idea for the initiative was first 
brought to the resilience forum for discussion with partners and Cllrs with a view to it 

providing an opportunity for stakeholders to come together to network and share 
information on services, local projects and groups. The idea was well received and 
members of the forum committed to playing key roles in the event and it’s planning.  

 
When the event took place in June there were in excess of 20 stalls featuring local 

partners such as GMP, housing providers and SCC services, alongside community 
organisations including Tindall Street Allotments, Barton Athletics and local 
Councillors. A number of local residents visited the event and feedback from 

residents and stallholders was that it was a great success and planning is underway 
for 2023. 

 
Primary Care Networks (PCN’s) 
 

Neighbourhood Resilience Forums have facilitated a much closer working 
relationships between Public Health and the neighbourhood partnership. Public Health 

attended the forums throughout the last two years, initially to provide support through 

Page 25



the covid pandemic, sharing regular data updates for partners to fully understand the 
picture at city, neighbourhood and ward level. More recently the Public Health 

representative has been important in clarifying the vaccination process and testing 
arrangements, this has enabled forum members to seek guidance and ask questions 

ensuring that the correct information is relayed wider and into the community. In 
conjunction with public health, partners and Cllrs contributed to identifying local testing 
sites and any local issues surrounding those sites were addressed. 

 
Following the recent implementation of the new Primary Care Network’s across the 

city, close links have been established between the PCN and Neighbourhood 

Resilience Forum in each neighbourhood. Public Health Engagement and Inclusion 

Leads (PHEIL) now represent Public Health at the forums and provide detailed 

updates, using an evidence-based approach. The link between the PCN and the 

forum allows key health messages to be conveyed to members and then onto the 

wider neighbourhood and the collection of information at ward level to identify gaps 

in knowledge to reduce health inequalities. 

 
Health Improvement Team  

 
Both the Eccles, Barton & Winton and Higher Irlam/Peel Green & Cadishead/Lower 

Irlam Health Improvement teams are represented at the forums by their Health 

Improvement officers. They share information on key initiative’s such as smoking 

cessation, weight management, getting active and linking residents with special 

interest groups.  

Recently the team linked in with partners through the forum for Eccles, Barton and 

Winton to help promote their work to assist people within the area to quit smoking as 

there had been a big upsurge in the area. Following promotion of their targeted 

programme via social media and through various partners online comms, targets set 

by the health improvement team have already been met. 

Other initiatives promoted via the forums and various partners include the Holiday 

Hunger scheme, summer activity programs and the Warm Home Investment 

scheme, which has subsequently been running weekly sessions at Brookhouse 

Community Centre for older residents and their families across Higher Irlam and 

Peel Green. 

CVS outreach & support  
 

In a similar approach to the Health Improvement Team, CVS first linked into the forums 
in the early stages of the pandemic, playing a key role in delivering outreach and 

support across all wards within the area, offering support to vulnerable and elderly 
residents. Attendance at the forums enables CVS colleagues to update partners and 
Cllrs on work including their support of Community Champions, hard to reach groups 

including disability awareness, BME community and LGTBQ groups.  
 

CVS attendance at Resilience Forums has also led to new initiatives being developed, 
including the establishing of new groups within the area. A recent example of this has 
been the collaboration between the Neighbourhood Management Team, CVS 

colleagues, GMP, Cllrs and residents living around Winton Park, to address issues of 

Page 26



safety and security within the park. This has resulted in a new constituted group of 
residents being established to support volunteering within the park and potential 

access to funding for future events within the park.  
 
Housing providers 
 

The forums for Eccles, Barton & Winton and Higher Irlam/Peel Green & 

Cadishead/Lower Irlam have benefitted from attendance by all of the key local housing 
providers, these include: 

 

 For Housing 

 Salix 

 Great Places 

 Irwell Valley 

 
Extensive discussions have taken place at both forum meetings between key housing 

providers, wider partners and Cllrs regarding issues such as anti-social behaviour, 
serious criminality and environmental concerns. An example of this is the work 
undertaken through the Higher Irlam/Peel Green & Cadishead Lower Irlam forum to 

tackle issues that have occurred around Tiger Moth Square. There have been a 
number of reports of anti-social behaviour, drug dealing and problem drinking, so 

these issues have been discussed at the forum and plans put in place with input from 
the housing provider and wider partners including GMP, youth services and SCC 
officers.  

 
A number of measures were deployed for Tiger Moth Square, including repairs to 

bollards that prevented access by vehicles alleged to be dealing drugs, this was part 
of a wider plan for target hardening. Lighting around the square was also reviewed 
and subsequently improved and increased patrols put in place by GMP, alongside 

youth service detached teams who visited the square to engage with any young 
people at risk of getting involved in anti-social behaviour. Colleagues from GMP also 

sent letters to a number of young people found to be frequenting the square and this 
resulted in a steep drop in reports of anti-social behaviour over the following weeks. 
 
Youth Engagement / Providers 

 

Eccles, Barton & Winton and Higher Irlam/Peel Green and Cadishead/Lower Irlam 
have an established youth partnership and lead officers from the partnership attend 
the forums for both areas. Forum members link into the youth partnership, highlighting 

where gaps exist in provision for young people and discussions have taken place at 
the forums that have led to partners pooling resources to provide a proactive approach 

to engagement with young people across the area, targeting hotspots in an ever 
changing environment. Some of the projects that have formed as part of this link 
between the forums and the Youth Partnership include the very successful bike 

maintenance project and work around knife crime in schools across the Southwest of 
the City. 

 
The Neighbourhood Resilience Forums have also informed and directed where youth 
engagement and outreach has been taking place over the last year, with hotspots 

being identified by officers and Cllrs and detached teams being directed to those areas 

Page 27



to engage with young people. Some examples of where this guided engagement has 
been successful has been in Cadishead Park, Eccles Interchange, Caroline/Dixon 

Street and Monton Veterans Shelter. 
 

Standing Together Funding 

 
Each Neighbourhood Resilience Forum has a neighbourhood grants budget based on 

the principles of building community resilience, keeping people safe and reducing 
harm and offending. The forums have invited applications and awarded funds based 

upon the criteria and what it identifies as the neighbourhood priorities. Funding has 
been awarded to projects that focus on several themes, including: 
 

 Sports Programmes. 

 Diversity.  

 Environmental Initiatives 

 Young people’s outreach 
 
Partners/Cllrs Feedback 

 

As the Neighbourhood Resilience Forums have progressed over the last year the 
Neighbourhood Management Team for Eccles, Barton & Winton and Higher Irlam & 

Cadishead/Lower Irlam have regularly asked forum members for feedback on both the 
format and impact of the meetings, to ensure that changes and improvements can be 
made where possible. Feedback from partners has always been positive as they have 

found real value in the model for several reasons: 
 

 Frequency: holding monthly meetings enables a fuller understanding of 
neighbourhood issues as they arise.  

 Pace: forums have been between 60-90 minutes in length and useful information 
has been shared in a concise manner.  

 Actions: emerging issues have been discussed and enabled partners to respond 

with quick resolve and joined up planning. 

 Partnership: partnerships have been strengthened due to regular meetings and 

increased and effective joint working across a range of issues.  

 Communication: information from all partners has been shared regularly so there 

is an improved understanding of the work each service is delivering.  

 Support: a virtual team of people have come together regularly and feel supported 

and trusted in the work they do 

 Where required key issues that have been brought to the forums have been the 
focus of subsequent multi-agency meetings that have enabled detailed action 

plans to be put in place (for example the issues around Cadishead Railway 
Embankment).  

 
There is a shared sense of purpose amongst Neighbourhood Resilience Forum 
members as there is recognition of the role each partner contributes to improving lives 

within the immediate neighbourhoods and the wider City.  
 
 
 

Page 28



 
 

Next Steps 
 

The youth partnership for Eccles, Barton & Winton and Higher Irlam/Peel Green & 
Cadishead/Lower Irlam was recently refreshed and has been going from strength to 
strength, with new partners joining the partnership and working together to produce a 

co-ordinated youth engagement plan and a fresh terms of reference for each of the 
two youth partnerships in the Southwest of the city. 

 
During the last 12 months key partners have pooled resources to provide a proactive 
approach to engagement with young people across the areas, targeting hotspots in 

an ever-changing environment, this will be further developed to ensure any gaps in 
provision are covered. This work will take in closer working relationships with key 

community facilities such as the Brookhouse Community Centre in Higher Irlam/Peel 
Green and the Castle Community Centre in Eccles. It has recently been agreed at 
the Eccles, Barton and Winton Resilience Forum that a visit will be undertaken by 

Cllrs and partners to the Castle to take a look at the facilities and identify new 
possible collaborations between the centre and partners. 

 
Discussions have also taken place with Brookhouse Community Centre regarding an 
open day during the summer months to promote the centre, increase engagement 

and recruit volunteers. This will be supported by the Resilience Forum and the 
Southwest Neighbourhood Management team.  

 
Another big focus for the remainder of 2022 will be to continue the fantastic work 
around recruitment of street champions within the area. There are currently over 150 

street champions across the southwest locality. This work, co-ordinated through the 
Neighbourhood Management team with support from resilience forum members, has 

gone from strength to strength and the project will continue to be a priority moving 
forward. 
 
Conclusion 

 

Eccles, Barton & Winton and Higher Irlam/Peel Green & Cadishead/Lower Irlam 
Neighbourhood Resilience Forums have established themselves as an effective multi -
agency partnership and have delivered tangible outcomes that have made a real 

difference to the lives of residents in the area. 
 

From their early inception as a vehicle to discuss and tackle the many issues caused 
by the pandemic, through their natural progression to incorporating wider 
neighbourhood issues, the forums have strengthened the neighbourhood partnership 

structures and created a joined up and cohesive approach. The frequency and tone of 
the meetings has allowed issues arising to be actioned quickly and proactively in 

response to the priorities in the neighbourhood at the time.  
 
The consensus is that Cllrs and partners feel the Neighbourhood Resilience Forums 

should continue to grow and develop and this is demonstrated by the continued buy 
in and attendance from Cllrs and partners.  

 

Page 29



 
KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: Community Safety Strategy and Emergency 

Response and Recovery Plan 

 

 
EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: N/A 

 
ASSESSMENT OF RISK: Low 

 

 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 
 
PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 

 
 
CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 

 
OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: N/A 

 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: Dave Thomas  TEL NO: 0161 603 4082 

 
 
WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: Eccles, Barton & Winton and Higher 

Irlam/Peel Green & Cadishead/Lower Irlam 

 

Page 30



Part 1: Open to the Public  

 
REPORT OF STRATEGIC DIRECTOR PLACE 

 

TO: The Community and  Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Panel  

ON: Monday 21 November 2022
 

TITLE: Little Hulton, Walkden, Boothstown, Worsley and Westwood Park  
Neighbourhood Resilience Forums Update. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: Community and  Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Panel  

is requested to note the information. 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: The purpose of this report is to share the work of 

Little Hulton, Walkden, Boothstown, Worsley and Westwood Park 
Neighbourhood Resilience Forums.  

 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: N/A 

 
KEY DECISION: NO 

 
DETAILS: 

 
Background 

 
Neighbourhood Resilience Forums (NRF) were established in each of the city’s eight 
neighbourhood areas in April 2020 in response to the covid 19 pandemic with the 

purpose of:  
 

 Developing civil resilience in Salford at a neighbourhood level. 

 Being the multi-agency tactical tasking and co-ordinating group for each 

Neighbourhood area.  
 
When the Neighbourhood Resilience Forums were launched in 2020, the Little Hulton, 

Walkden, / Boothstown, Worsley and Westwood Park forums initially met on a bi-
weekly basis. In the last few months, the cycle for both areas have moved to a monthly 

meeting to run in line with the rest of the city.  
 
Neighbourhood Resilience Forum Membership  

 
Neighbourhood Resilience Forums have a diverse membership, with a wide range of 
partner agencies playing a key role, alongside Elected Members. This incorporates 

housing, GMP, GMFRS, Public Health, Youth Services, Health Improvement, 
Regulatory Services, Salford CVS and other internal and external partners who join 

meetings when required to input on specific issues and priorities.  
 
 

 

Page 31



 
Focus/Priorities 

 
The Neighbourhood Resilience Forums for Little Hulton and Walkden, and 

Boothstown, Worsley and Westwood Park have been at the forefront of driving forward 
improvements to these areas by focusing on issues that impact on the quality of life 
for residents within these neighbourhoods and setting priorities that matter most to 

local residents. Some of the key priorities over the last 12 months have included the 
following: 
 
Community Safety 
 

The Neighbourhood Resilience Forums have been an effective mechanism to update 
partners on neighbourhood and city-wide police operations, including Op Sycamore 

(knife crime) and the annual Safe 4 Summer response to anti-social 
behaviour.  Priorities such as burglary and car crime are brought to the forums for 
discussion with partners and Cllrs. This has helped in spreading target hardening 

messages throughout the neighbourhood to assist residents and to also feedback on 
progress in tackling these issues.  

 
Following the significant increase in burglaries within the northwest of the city in the 
second quarter of 2022, there was a big focus from GMP on targeting suspected 

offenders and through close partnership working via the Resilience Forums and 
Community Safety Referral Team (CSRT), suspects were identified and warrants 

executed.  
 
Anti-Social Behaviour: 

 

The Neighbourhood Resilience Forums have played a key role, alongside the CSRT, 

in targeting hotspots where anti-social behaviour is impacting on communities across 
the northwest of the city. The forums have provided a fully joined up approach for 
partners and Cllrs to both identify where issues are occurring and develop solutions to 

tackling the issues. Some examples of key hotspot areas that forum members have 
come together to tackle include the following: 

 

 Peel Park – Little Hulton and an increase in deliberate fires 

 Walkden town centre 

 Amblecote playing Fields 

 Circle park , Boothstown 

 
 

When hotspots of anti-social behaviour have occurred across the area, the forums 
have been at the very forefront of tackling the issues. Youth service detached teams 
have visited these locations when directed from information shared at Neighbourhood 

Resilience Forums by partners and Cllrs. This has led to positive engagement of many 
young people, in particular on the Amblecote estate and in Walkden town centre. 

 
In Walkden town centre regular meetings between the neighbourhood management 
team, shopping centre management team, neighbourhood policing colleagues, youth 

service colleagues and local schools have led to the swift identification of individuals 

Page 32



causing anti-social issues and they have been proactively dealt with via school based 
police officers. This has led to a significant decrease in anti-social behaviour at the 

centre and its environs. 
 

The forums have linked in effectively with CSRT, to ensure problematic individuals 
and hotspot areas identified are referred to CSRT for discussion so that multi -agency 
plans can be put in place. This process has enabled Cllrs, housing providers and police 

partners to feed back to complainants regarding the actions taken. Issues including 
the need for the installation of CCTV at the Standfield centre in Boothstown to tackle 

anti-social behaviour as the night time economy and activity over the past five years 
has increased in this area with further provision of bars and restaurants, have been 
addressed. This CCTV system has been secured via devolved budget and standing 

together monies and is due for installation in November 2022.   
 
Primary Care Networks (PCN’s) 
 

Neighbourhood Resilience Forums have facilitated a much closer working 

relationships between Public Health and the neighbourhood partnership. Public Health 
attended the forums throughout the last two years, initially to provide support through 

the covid pandemic, sharing regular data updates for partners to fully understand the 
picture at city, neighbourhood and ward level. More recently the Public Health 
representative has been important in clarifying the vaccination process and testing 

arrangements, this has enabled forum members to seek guidance and ask questions 
ensuring that the correct information is relayed wider and into the community. In 

conjunction with public health, partners and Cllrs contributed to identifying local testing 
sites and any local issues surrounding those sites were addressed. 
 

Following the recent implementation of the new Primary Care Network’s across the 

city, close links have been established between the PCN and Neighbourhood 

Resilience Forum in each neighbourhood. Public Health Engagement and Inclusion 

Leads (PHEIL) now represent Public Health at the forums and provide detailed 

updates, using an evidence-based approach. The link between the PCN and the forum 

allows key health messages to be conveyed to members and then onto the wider 

neighbourhood and the collection of information at ward level to identify gaps in 

knowledge to reduce health inequalities. 

 
Work with Foundation 92 and the Johan Cruyff Foundation 

 

Following six months of partnership working with the Johan Cruyff Foundation, 

Foundation 92 and For Housing, construction of a new Cruyff Court multi use games 

area has been confirmed (Nov 22) for Peel Park Little Hulton. This new facility will 

enhance the delivery of sport, and physical activity sessions in the Little Hulton area 

and serve as a new communal space for the residents of Little Hulton.  

The state-of-the-art pitch will be the first of its kind in Salford, and only the second in 

Greater Manchester.  

Construction of the pitch is expected to begin in December 2022 with a planned 

opening in February 2023.  

Page 33



Health Improvement Team  

 

Both the Little Hulton and Walkden and Worsley / Boothstown and Westwood park 

health improvement teams are represented at the forums by their Health Improvement 

officers. They share information on key initiatives such as smoking cessation, weight 

management, healthy cooking and eating programmes, getting active and linking 

residents with special interest groups.  

Initiatives promoted via the forums and various partners include the Holiday Hunger 

scheme, summer activity programs and the Warm Home Investment scheme, which 

has subsequently been running weekly sessions at local venues. 

CVS outreach & support  
 

In a similar approach to the Health Improvement Team, CVS first linked into the forums 
in the early stages of the pandemic, playing a key role in delivering outreach and 

support across all wards within the area, offering support to vulnerable and elderly 
residents. Attendance at the forums enables CVS colleagues to update partners and 
Cllrs on work including their support of Community Champions, hard to reach groups 

including disability awareness, BME community and LGTBQ groups.  
 

CVS attendance at Resilience Forums has also led to new initiatives being developed, 
including the establishing of new groups within the area. A recent example of this has 
been the collaboration between the Neighbourhood Management Team, CVS 

colleagues, GMP, Cllrs and residents living around Parr Fold Park in Walkden, to 
address issues of safety and security within the park. This has resulted in the existing 

friends group gaining more volunteers and we continue to work with the friends group 
on fund raising bids.  
 
Housing providers 
 

The forums for Little Hulton, Walkden, Boothstown, Worsley and Westwood Park have 
benefitted from attendance by all of the key local housing providers, these include: 
 

 For Housing 

 Salix 

 Great Places 
 

 
Extensive discussions have taken place at both forum meetings between key housing 
providers, wider partners and Cllrs regarding issues such as anti-social behaviour, 

serious criminality, environmental concerns and pest control hot spots. An example of 
this is the work undertaken through the Little Hulton and Walkden forum to tackle 

issues that have occurred around a number of social housing hot spots for rat 
infestations. This has been discussed at the forum a walkabout with key partners 
conducted and action plans put in place with input from the housing provider and wider 

partners.  
 

 
 

Page 34



Amblecote Playing Fields 

 

A number of measures have been implemented at Amblecote playing fields following 
reports of off road motorcycles gaining access and damaging the sports pitches. The 

measures include replacing of fencing to restrict access and the renewal of signage 
and litter bins. 
 
Youth Engagement / Providers 

 

Little Hulton, Walkden and Worsley, Boothstown and Westwood Park have 
established youth partnerships and lead officers from the partnership attend the 
forums for both areas. Forum members link into the youth partnership, highlighting 

where gaps exist in provision for young people and discussions have taken place at 
the forums that have led to partners pooling resources to provide a proactive approach 

to engagement with young people across the area, targeting hotspots in an ever 
changing environment. Some of the projects that have formed as part of this link 
between the forums and the Youth Partnership include the very successful bike 

maintenance project and work around knife crime in schools across the northwest of 
the City. 

 
The Neighbourhood Resilience Forums have also informed and directed where youth 
engagement and outreach has been taking place over the last year, with hotspots 

being identified by officers and Cllrs and detached teams being directed to those areas 
to engage with young people. Some examples of where this guided engagement has 

been successful has been in Peel Park, Amblecote Fields, Walkden town centre and 
Boothsbank Park. 
 

Standing Together Funding 

 

Each Neighbourhood Resilience Forum has a neighbourhood grants budget based on 
the principles of building community resilience, keeping people safe and reducing 
harm and offending. The forums have invited applications and awarded funds based 

upon the criteria and what it identifies as the neighbourhood priorities. Funding has 
been awarded to projects that focus on several themes, including: 

 

 Sports Programmes particularly during school holidays 

 Diversity / Addressing hate crime issues 

 CCTV – Boothstown 

 Holiday hunger projects 

 Community forest garden 

 Environmental Initiatives 

 Young people’s outreach 
 

Partners/Cllrs Feedback 

 
As the Neighbourhood Resilience Forums have progressed over the last year the 

Neighbourhood Management Team for Little Hulton, Walkden, Boothstown, / Worsley 
and Westwood Park have regularly asked forum members for feedback on both the 

format and impact of the meetings, to ensure that changes and improvements can be 

Page 35



made where possible. Feedback from partners has always been positive as they have 
found real value in the model for several reasons: 

 

 Frequency: holding monthly meetings enables a fuller understanding of 

neighbourhood issues as they arise.  

 Pace: forums have been between 60-90 minutes in length and useful information 

has been shared in a concise manner.  

 Actions: emerging issues have been discussed and enabled partners to respond 
with quick resolve and joined up planning. 

 Partnership: partnerships have been strengthened due to regular meetings and 
increased and effective joint working across a range of issues.  

 Communication: information from all partners has been shared regularly so there 
is an improved understanding of the work each service is delivering.  

 Support: a virtual team of people have come together regularly and feel supported 
and trusted in the work they do 

 Where required key issues that have been brought to the forums have been the 

focus of subsequent multi-agency meetings that have enabled detailed action 
plans to be put in place (for example anti-social behaviour issues around 

Boothsbank Park).  
 

There is a shared sense of purpose amongst Neighbourhood Resilience Forum 
members as there is recognition of the role each partner contributes to improving lives 
within the immediate neighbourhoods and the wider City.  

 
Next Steps 

 

The youth partnership for Little Hulton, Walkden/Boothstown, Worsley and Westwood 
Park was recently refreshed and has been going from strength to strength, with new 

partners joining the partnership and working together to produce a co-ordinated youth 
engagement plan and a fresh terms of reference for each of the two youth partnerships 

in the north west of the city. 
 
During the last 12 months key partners have pooled resources to provide a proactive 

approach to engagement with young people across the areas, targeting hotspots in an 
ever-changing environment, this will be further developed to ensure any gaps in 
provision are covered. This work will take in closer working relationships with key 

community facilities such as the den in Walkden town centre and the newly formed 
youth group in Boothstown.  

  
Another big focus for the remainder of 2022 will be to continue the positive work around 
recruitment of street champions within the area. There are currently over 230 street 

champions across the northwest locality. This work, co-ordinated through the 
Neighbourhood Management team with support from resilience forum members, has 

gone from strength to strength and the project will continue to be a priority moving 
forward. 
 
Conclusion 

 

Little Hulton, Walkden and Boothstown, Worsley and Westwood Park Neighbourhood 
Resilience Forums have established themselves as an effective multi -agency 

Page 36



partnership and have delivered tangible outcomes that have made a real difference to 
the lives of residents in the area. 

 
From their early inception as a vehicle to discuss and tackle the many issues caused 

by the pandemic, through their natural progression to incorporating wider 
neighbourhood issues, the forums have strengthened the neighbourhood partnership 
structures and created a joined up and cohesive approach. The frequency and tone of 

the meetings has allowed issues arising to be actioned quickly and proactively in 
response to the priorities in the neighbourhood at the time.  

 
The consensus is that Councillors and partners feel the Neighbourhood Resilience 
Forums should continue to grow and develop and this is demonstrated by the 

continued buy in and attendance from Councillors and partners.  
 

 
KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: Community Safety Strategy and Emergency 
Response and Recovery Plan 

 

 
EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: N/A 

 
ASSESSMENT OF RISK: Low 

 

 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 
 
PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 

 
 
CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 

 
OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: N/A 

 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: Vincent Nash  TEL NO: 0161 779 8090 

 
 
WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES:  

Little Hulton, Walkden North and South, Boothstown, Worsley and Westwood Park 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
commonslibrary.parliament.uk 

 

  

  

 
By Neil Johnston, 
Elise Uberoi 

26 October 2022 

Voter ID 

  

 Summary 
1 Current voting requirements 
2 Why introduce voter ID? 
3 Voter ID pilots 
4 Reactions 
5 Elections Act 2022 
6 Access to ID 
7 What is personation? 
8 Background to voter ID in Northern Ireland 
9 Case study - Canada 
 

Page 39

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Voter ID 

2 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

 

 

  

Number 9187 

 
Image Credits 
To the polling station by Matt.  Licensed under CC BY 2.0 / image cropped. 

Disclaimer 
The Commons Library does not intend the information in our research 
publications and briefings to address the specific circumstances of any 
particular individual. We have published it to support the work of MPs. You 
should not rely upon it as legal or professional advice, or as a substitute for 
it. We do not accept any liability whatsoever for any errors, omissions or 
misstatements contained herein. You should consult a suitably qualified 
professional if you require specific advice or information. Read our briefing 
‘Legal help: where to go and how to pay’ for further information about 
sources of legal advice and help. This information is provided subject to the 
conditions of the Open Parliament Licence.  

Feedback 
Every effort is made to ensure that the information contained in these publicly 
available briefings is correct at the time of publication. Readers should be 
aware however that briefings are not necessarily updated to reflect 
subsequent changes.  

If you have any comments on our briefings please email 
papers@parliament.uk. Please note that authors are not always able to 
engage in discussions with members of the public who express opinions 
about the content of our research, although we will carefully consider and 
correct any factual errors. 

You can read our feedback and complaints policy and our editorial policy at 
commonslibrary.parliament.uk. If you have general questions about the work 
of the House of Commons email hcenquiries@parliament.uk. 

 Page 40

https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/sn03207/
mailto:papers@parliament.uk
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/
mailto:hcenquiries@parliament.uk


 

 

Voter ID 

3 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

Contents 

Summary 5 

1 Current voting requirements 8 

1.1 Great Britain 8 

1.2 Northern Ireland 9 

2 Why introduce voter ID? 10 

2.1 Electoral Commission research 11 

2.2 The Pickles report 16 

2.3 International observers 17 

3 Voter ID pilots 19 

3.1 Background to pilots 20 

3.2 2006 and 2007 pilots 21 

3.3 2018 ID pilots 23 

3.4 2018 Pilot evaluations 25 

3.5 2019 ID pilots 30 

3.6 2019 Pilot evaluations 31 

3.7 Effect of the 2018 and 2019 pilots on voter turnout 35 

3.8 Legal challenge 36 

4 Reactions 39 

4.1 Reactions to the pilots 40 

4.2 Opposition parties 43 

4.3 Academics 44 

4.4 Electoral administrators 45 

4.5 Parliamentary proceedings 45 

4.6 Government responses 49 

5 Elections Act 2022 51 

6 Access to ID 56 

Page 41



 

 

Voter ID 

4 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

6.1 Existing photo ID 56 

6.2 Voter ID cards 58 

6.3 Attitudes to voter ID 58 

7 What is personation? 61 

7.1 The prescribed questions 61 

7.2 Tendered ballots 62 

7.3 How much personation is there? 63 

8 Background to voter ID in Northern Ireland 66 

9 Case study - Canada 74 

 

Page 42



 

 

Voter ID 

5 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

Summary 

In April 2022, the Elections Act 2022 was passed by the UK Parliament. The Act 
will require voters in Great Britain to show photo ID before being issued a 
ballot paper in polling stations at UK Parliamentary elections, local council 
elections in England and police and crime commissioner elections in England 
and Wales. 

The voter ID provisions will not take effect immediately. They are due to be in 
place for local elections in England May 2023 and at any UK Parliamentary 
election held after that date. 

The types of ID to be allowed are set out in section 5 of the Act. These include 
passports, photographic driving licences, biometric immigration documents 
and some concessionary travel passes. Free voter cards, to be called a Voter 
Authority Certificate, will be made available for those without any other form 
of photographic ID. People are likely to be able to apply for these from 
January 2023. 

In February 2022 the Government released a policy paper with more detail 
about the types of ID and provision of the free voter card. The Government’s 
view is the types of ID are secure and accessible to “the vast majority of the 
population” and has said: 

We have and will continue to work with charities and civil society 
organisations across the UK to ensure that voter identification works 
for all voters, and all groups are aware of the new requirements. 

Voter ID is designed to prevent personation’, the crime of pretending to be 
someone else when you vote. The Government acknowledges levels of fraud 
are low but argues that every ballot matters, and that voter ID will protect 
voters from having their vote stolen. 

Opposition  

During the passage of the Elections Bill opposition parties highlighted 
concerns that requiring photo ID might disenfranchise some voters. Cat Smith 
(Labour) said: 

Concerns have been raised from across the House and from charities 
and campaigning organisations that disabled people, older people, 
younger people and people without the spare cash to buy that 
passport or driving licence are going to be disenfranchised. 

Brendan O’Hara (SNP) expressed the incidence of personation was low: 

Page 43

https://bills.parliament.uk/bills/3020/publications
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/voter-identification-at-polling-stations-and-the-new-voter-card
https://bills.parliament.uk/bills/3020/publications
https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2021-09-07/debates/D24D6DE7-5D14-46F1-B2C5-A0B756B94249/ElectionsBill#contribution-8A167FD8-BD7E-4F67-B1EA-BA62B88EF92F
https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2021-09-07/debates/D24D6DE7-5D14-46F1-B2C5-A0B756B94249/ElectionsBill#contribution-8A167FD8-BD7E-4F67-B1EA-BA62B88EF92F
https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2021-09-07/debates/D24D6DE7-5D14-46F1-B2C5-A0B756B94249/ElectionsBill#contribution-398D5EE1-B8EE-43D9-A044-BE63F4BEB507


 

 

Voter ID 

6 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

voter fraud at polling stations barely reaches the height of 
minuscule…We have to ask: what is the problem they are seeking to 
solve? 

During the Lords stages of the Bill an amendment from Lord Willets 
(Conservative) was passed that extended the list of types of ID to other types 
of photo ID and non-photo ID. The amendment was overturned by the House 
of Commons. The Government’s view was the types of ID listed were not 
sufficiently secure and might be prone to fraud.  

Current situation 

In Great Britain voters currently do not normally need to present any form of 
identification before receiving a ballot paper. 

Voters in Northern Ireland must provide photo ID before receiving a ballot 
paper. ID requirements were introduced after the 1983 General Election 
following concerns about fraud. Since 2003 photographic ID has been 
required. There has been no evidence that ID requirements in Northern 
Ireland have affected turnout, and since its introduction the allegations of 
‘personation’ have been eliminated. 

Why introduce voter ID? 

In August 2016 the then Government Anti-Corruption Champion, Sir Eric, now 
Lord Pickles, published a report on electoral fraud. He highlighted the trust-
based nature of polling station voting and the lack of checks on people 
proving who they were when voting. He recommended the Government should 
consider options for voter ID and suggested the Government may wish to pilot 
various options before introducing a system nationwide.  

Since 2014 the Electoral Commission has recommended that ID should be 
required in Great Britain before voters are issued with a ballot paper. In 
December 2015 the Commission published options for delivering and costing a 
voter ID scheme modelled on the existing scheme operating in Northern 
Ireland. One of its key assumptions was that photo ID would be required but 
also cautioned that accessibility was fundamental, and any scheme should be 
backed up by a free voter card scheme for those without an alternative. 

Following the publication of the Elections Bill, the Commission reiterated that 
any scheme to improve security must address the likely impact on the 
accessibility to voting and those without appropriate ID should be able to 
apply for a free local card easily. The Commission also stated a scheme 
should introduced with manageable timescales and proper funding. 

Pilots of voter ID 

Pilots were held in 2018 and 2019. The Government declared them a success 
and said the overwhelmingly majority of people were able to vote and “there 
is no indication that any consistent demographic was adversely affected by 
the use of voter ID.” 

Page 44

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/securing-the-ballot-review-into-electoral-fraud


 

 

Voter ID 

7 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

The Local Government Information Unit criticised the Cabinet Office 
evaluations as being an “optimistic interpretation of extremely limited 
evidence” and that only “marginal information is available on the 
demographic makeup of the pilot areas”. 

A voter without the required voter ID challenged the pilots in the courts. The 
case eventually came before the Supreme Court but in April 2022 it gave its 
judgement that the pilots were legal. 

The Electoral Commission conducted statutory evaluations of both sets of 
pilots. The Commission found that a large majority of people already have 
access to suitable photo ID but that some groups of people would find it 
harder than others to show photo ID. It also found using poll cards as the 
approved type of ID would be less secure than photo ID and would require 
more costly equipment.  

Overall, the Commission concluded:  

However, we are not able to draw definitive conclusions, from these 
pilots, about how an ID requirement would work in practice, 
particularly at a national poll with higher levels of turnout or in areas 
with different socio-demographic profiles not fully represented in the 
pilot scheme. 

If the policy is to be developed further, Government and Parliament 
should consider carefully the available evidence about the impact of 
different approaches on the accessibility and security of polling 
station voting in Great Britain. 

Access to ID 

In 2015, the Electoral Commission estimated the number of people who would 
have one of the forms of photo ID it was recommending was 92.5% of the 
electorate. The Commission estimated that limiting the acceptable form of ID 
to passports and photographic driving licences could potentially see almost a 
quarter of the electorate without acceptable photo ID.  

In advance of the Elections Bill, the Government commissioned research that 
showed 98% of voters already held some form of photo ID and 96% held 
photo with a recognisable photo. 

Case study 

This briefing also summarises the experience in Canada. Voter ID 
requirements were brought in with cross-party support in 2008. Similar 
concerns to those raised here were voiced on either side of the argument. The 
case study briefly outlines the introduction of voter ID, including a legal 
challenge and procedural changes since it was introduced. 

 

Page 45

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/voter-identification-photographic-id-ownership-in-great-britain


 

 

Voter ID 

8 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

1 Current voting requirements 

1.1 Great Britain 

Voters must appear on the electoral register to vote. The details on eligibility 
to vote in elections are in the Library briefing, Who can vote in UK elections? 
(CPB 8985). 

Voters who cast their ballot in a polling station in England, Scotland and 
Wales do not currently need to provide any form of identification to vote. They 
do not even need to present the polling card issued to them by their local 
council in the run up to polling day.  

Polling station staff ask the voter to confirm their name and address. If this 
corresponds with the entry on the electoral register and they are eligible to 
vote in the election, then must be issued with a ballot paper.  

Some entries on the polling station register will show a voter is ineligible to 
vote at certain elections. This could be because they have applied for a postal 
vote and therefore not allowed to vote at a polling station, they may be an EU 
national and ineligible to vote in the election, or they may not yet have 
attained the age of 18. 

In local elections in England in May 2018, voters in five local authority areas 
needed to show some form of ID before receiving a ballot paper as part of a 
voter ID pilot. Further pilots were held in local elections in England in May 
2019 (see section 3).  

Summary 

Voters casting their vote in polling stations in Great Britain currently do not 
need to present any form of identification before receiving a ballot paper. 

New voter ID rules introduced by the Elections Act 2022 will not take effect 
immediately.  

Voters in Northern Ireland must provide an approved piece of photo ID before 
receiving a ballot paper.   

Page 46

https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-8985/
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-8985/
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-8985/


 

 

Voter ID 

9 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

1.2 Northern Ireland 

Since 2003, voters in Northern Ireland must show photo ID at a polling station 
before being issued with a ballot paper.  

Once a voter has confirmed their name and address as it appears on the 
register, voters are required to produce one of the following documents to 
confirm their identity: 

• A UK, Irish or EEA driving licence (photographic part) (provisional 
accepted) 

• A passport  

• An Electoral Identity Card 

• A Translink Senior SmartPass 

• A Translink 60+ SmartPass 

• A Translink War Disabled SmartPass 

• A Translink Blind Person’s SmartPass 

 

The identification document does not need to be current, but the photograph 
must be of a good enough likeness to allow polling station staff to confirm 
their identity. It also doesn’t matter if the identity document has a different 
address to the elector’s current address on the register. 1 

Translink is the Northern Ireland’s main public transport provider and 
operates scheduled bus and rail services across Northern Ireland. 

The electoral identity card is a free card issued by the Electoral Office for 
Northern Ireland that voters can use as an alternative photo ID. To apply for a 
free card, voters must be registered to vote and must submit a different form 
of photo ID as part of the card application. However, the range of photo ID 
that can be used for the application is broader than the allowable photo ID 
used in the polling station. Voters that do not have any suitable photo ID to 
send in with an electoral identity card application can ask an MP,  MLA or 
Councillor to complete a declaration confirming their identity which can be 
sent with the application. 

See section 8 for the background to voter ID requirements in Northern Ireland. 

 

1  Electoral Office for Northern Ireland, Voting at a polling place 

Page 47

https://www.eoni.org.uk/Vote/Voting-at-a-polling-place


 

 

Voter ID 

10 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

2 Why introduce voter ID? 

 

 

When the Committee on Standards in Public Life (CSPL) reviewed the working 
of the Electoral Commission in 2006 it noted that:  

There has been no serious research to determine how widespread 
the problem is by academics or by The Electoral Commission itself. 
Nor has the Commission collected any statistics on the number of 
reported cases of fraud. The lack of proper research on electoral 

Summary 

The trust-based nature of polling station voting in Great Britain has been 
identified as a potential weakness that could open voting to fraud.  

The Electoral Commission report on electoral fraud in 2014 found no evidence 
of systematic polling station fraud but warned that polling stations remained 
vulnerable because of the few checks in place to check identity. It 
recommended introducing voter ID. International observers have also noted 
that voter ID would provide additional safeguards. 

The Commission considered the balance between the need for security and 
said any scheme should not prevent access to the poll. It recommended any 
scheme in Great Britain should be based on the scheme in Northern Ireland, 
where a free photo ID card is available for those without any other form of ID. 
In response to the proposals for voter ID now being introduced it has 
reiterated its view that “introduction of a photo ID requirement must not 
prevent people from voting.” 

In 2016 the Government’s then Anti-Corruption Champion, Lord Pickles 
published a report on electoral fraud. He recommended the Government 
should consider options for voter identification and suggested the 
Government may wish to pilot various options before introducing a system 
nationwide. Like others, he highlighted “trust has been an enduring factor in 
British elections for many decades.” 

 

Page 48



 

 

Voter ID 

11 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

fraud makes it difficult for the Committee or anyone else to comment 
authoritatively on the scale of the problem. 2 

The CSPL recommended that the Electoral Commission undertake detailed 
research into the levels of fraud. The first set of elections where the 
Commission systematically collected data were local government elections in 
England and Wales and the GLA elections in 2008. 

Much of the concern at the time was in relation to increased access to postal 
voting and the possibility of postal voting fraud. Postal voting on demand was 
introduced in 2001. In 2008, the Joseph Rowntree Reform Trust report on 
electoral malpractice noted that: 

Current concerns about electoral integrity stem directly from reforms 
intended to modernise the electoral process, provide voters with 
greater convenience and choice, and increase turnout. Since 2000, 
these objectives have primarily been promoted through the 
availability of postal voting on demand and pilots of all-postal voting 
and various forms of electronic voting. 3 

Since then, some of the vulnerabilities associated with postal voting have 
been tightened, with postal voters required to provide personal identifiers 
(signature and date of birth) when voting by post. These must then match 
those held by the council before the vote is counted. Individual electoral 
registration has replaced household registration and new applications must 
provide a national insurance number, greatly reducing the opportunity for 
fraudulent entries on the registers.  

2.1 Electoral Commission research 

In 2012 the Electoral Commission began a review to determine whether there 
were opportunities to improve confidence in the security of the electoral 
process. The Commission stated the evidence then available did not support 
the conclusion that electoral fraud was widespread in the UK but there was 
evidence to suggest there were areas of concern: 

...electoral fraud is more likely to be reported as having taken place 
on a significant scale in certain specific places in England. Those 
places are currently concentrated in a small number of local 
authority areas – although we should be very clear that we do not 
believe fraud is likely to have been attempted in more than a handful 
of wards in any particular local authority area. It is also clear that 
the majority of cases of alleged electoral fraud relate to local 

 

2  CSPL, Electoral Review of The Electoral Commission (PDF), January 2007, Cm 7006,  p85 
3  Joseph Rowntree Reform Trust, Purity of Elections in the UK Causes for Concern (PDF), March 2008, 

p9 

Page 49

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/336901/11thReport_FullReport.pdf
http://www.jrrt.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Purity-of-Elections-in-the-UK-2008.pdf


 

 

Voter ID 

12 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

government elections, rather than elections to the UK Parliament or 
other legislative bodies. 4 

Public attitudes to electoral fraud 
Postal voting fraud remains a greater concern to voters than polling station 
fraud. The Electoral Commission’s Winter Tracker is an annual UK-wide survey 
designed to provide an overview of public sentiment towards the process of 
voting and democracy in the UK. 5  

Overall, 90% those surveyed thought polling stations were very or fairly safe 
from voter fraud. The equivalent figure form postal voting was 68% with 21% 
thought postal voting was not safe from fraud.  

The latest survey saw greater confidence in elections overall. 

• 87% said that voting in general is safe from fraud and abuse (up from 
80% in 2020); 

 
• 22% said they thought that there could be enough electoral fraud in an 

area to affect the electoral result (in 2020 36% thought this); 
 

• 20% thought that it would be easy to get away with electoral fraud (31% 
thought the same thing in 2020).  
 
41% thought there are sufficient safeguards in place, up from 35% in 
2020. 6 

When asked whether there were sufficient safeguards in place to prevent 
voter fraud, 41% agreed, 16% disagreed and 21% did not know. 7 

The lower numbers for postal voting versus polling station voting are a similar 
theme in previous tracker research.  

The Commission also asked about other issues and to what extent they were a 
problem.  

• 48% said inadequate regulation of the money political parties spend on 
their election campaigns is a problem. This has not changed much over 
recent years with 51% saying that it was a problem in 2018; 
 

• 14% think there is transparency in the spending and funding of political 
parties/campaigners (down from 20% in 2020); 

 

4   Electoral Commission, Electoral fraud in the UK: evidence and issues paper, May 2013, p1 
5  As above, Public opinion tracker tables  
6  Electoral Commission, Winter Tracker 2021 
7  As above, Public opinion tracker tables  

Page 50

https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/sites/default/files/2021-06/Winter%20tracker%202021%20for%20the%20website.xlsx
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/who-we-are-and-what-we-do/our-views-and-research/our-research/public-attitudes
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/sites/default/files/2021-06/Winter%20tracker%202021%20for%20the%20website.xlsx


 

 

Voter ID 

13 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

 
• 46% agree that the information they read online is not trustworthy while 

12% agreed it is trustworthy. 8 
 

The area of main concern for voters remains bias in the media, with over two-
thirds saying this is a problem. Just over half said low voter turnout at 
elections is a problem. A similar proportion said the inadequate regulation of 
political activity on social media is a problem. 9  

Fraud research 
In 2013 the Commission published two reports based on qualitative research it 
had undertaken to better understand concerns amongst the public and 
others about electoral fraud and to get a better picture of the actual level of 
fraud. The work was based on focus groups and in-depth interviews.  

The first report, in May 2013, focused on public perceptions and 
understanding of activities identified as electoral fraud. It found that most 
people’s concerns did not come from first-hand experience of electoral fraud. 
The public were mainly getting their information about electoral fraud from 
media reports and second-hand information passed by word of mouth.  

The research found the public feel concerned but are not clear what their 
concern is based on, but that electoral fraud was not at the forefront of 
people’s minds. For some, being provided with information on electoral fraud 
can heighten the concern of it, explaining to some extent how concern 
becomes raised in response to information passed on through the media. 
There was some assumption from participants that the topic would not be 
brought to attention unless it existed as an issue. 10  

In the second stage of the research the Commission found that providing 
specific information on electoral processes helped to reduce their concerns. It 
instead helped to support the perception that the electoral system in the UK is 
sound and is reviewed at times to check integrity, with appropriate 
adjustments being made if necessary. 

On the specific policy of requiring some sort of ID at polling stations, the 
participants felt it would be likely to be effective by:  

• Creating a sense that the electoral operators have security in mind; 
 

• Strengthening the idea that ‘it is difficult for someone to take my vote’ 
and offering some sense of personal security; and 

 

8  Electoral Commission, Winter Tracker 2021 
9  As above 
10  Electoral Commission, Perceptions of Electoral Fraud: Qualitative Research Report of Findings for 

Stage 1 (PDF), May 2013, pp4-5 

Page 51

https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/who-we-are-and-what-we-do/our-views-and-research/our-research/public-attitudes
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140805182119/http:/www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0014/155300/Perceptions-of-Electoral-Fraud-Stage-1-research-report.pdf
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140805182119/http:/www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0014/155300/Perceptions-of-Electoral-Fraud-Stage-1-research-report.pdf


 

 

Voter ID 

14 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

 
• Having an additional ‘halo effect’ when the public consider other aspects 

of the system of which they are less aware. 11  

The Commission’s final report on electoral fraud, published in January 2014, 
found there was no evidence to suggest there have been widespread, 
systematic attempts to undermine or interfere with recent elections through 
electoral fraud.  

The Commission identified 16 local authorities where a greater risk of cases of 
alleged electoral fraud being reported and noted this was generally limited to 
individual wards within the local authorities. These wards were characterised 
as often densely populated with a transient population, a high number of 
multiple occupancy houses and a previous history of allegations of electoral 
fraud. These areas are also often home to communities with a diverse range 
of nationalities and ethnic backgrounds. 12 

The report made three key recommendations on improving the security of 
voting. One of those was that voters in polling stations should be required to 
show proof of their identity.  

On polling station voter fraud, it concluded that:  

Polling station voting in Great Britain remains vulnerable to 
personation fraud because there are currently few checks available 
to prevent someone claiming to be an elector and voting in their 
name. This part of the system could become more vulnerable to 
fraud as other processes (including electoral registration and postal 
or proxy voting) become more secure.  

It noted there was “little evidence” that the “photographic scheme applied in 
Northern Ireland presents difficulties for people in terms of accessibility”.13 

The Commission went on to say: 

For these reasons, our preliminary conclusion is that the system in 
Northern Ireland should provide the basis for a Great Britain-wide, 
geographically consistent and compulsory polling station voter 
identification scheme.14 

It committed to undertaking further consultation and analysis to “identify a 
proportionate and accessible scheme”. The work would “include 

 

11  Electoral Commission, Perceptions of Electoral Fraud: Qualitative Research Report of Findings for 
Stage 2 (PDF), September 2013, p35 

12  Electoral Commission, Electoral fraud in the UK Final report and recommendations (PDF), January 
2014, p16 

13  As above, p26 
14  As above 

Page 52

https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140805182120/http:/www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/164596/Stage-2-Perceptions-of-Electoral-Fraud-Report.pdf
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140805182120/http:/www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/164596/Stage-2-Perceptions-of-Electoral-Fraud-Report.pdf
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/164609/Electoral-fraud-review-final-report.pdf


 

 

Voter ID 

15 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

consideration of the acceptable forms of photographic ID to be included in 
the scheme”.15 

The Commission’s recommendation was that any such scheme would provide 
sufficiently robust security, would be accessible, include an alternative form 
of ID for those without any other form to be specified in the scheme, and be 
cost-effective and affordable.  

Electoral Commission recommendations  
In December 2015 the Commission published a report following further 
consultation and analysis of options for a voter ID scheme. 16 The scheme was 
modelled on the existing scheme operating in Northern Ireland.    

The report considered the balance between the need for security and the 
need to minimise any adverse impacts on people’s ability to vote. The 
Commission developed a scheme based on cost effectiveness and that would: 

• Be sufficiently robust to verify electors’ identities.  
 

• Be sufficiently accessible to electors.  
 

• Provide for electors to obtain an alternative form of identification 
specifically for the purpose of voting if they did not have access to any 
other specified form of identification.  

The Commission also noted that non-photo ID would be unlikely to provide 
adequate security. It cited the ID requirements in Northern Ireland between 
1985 and 2002, when non-photographic ID documents were included in the 
list of acceptable documents: 

…the system was considered to be inadequate because of the ease 
with which identity documents could be falsified and the fact that 
non-photographic identity documents were regarded as providing 
insufficient proof of identity. 17  

The Commission recommended only forms of ID which “possess certain 
security features and which require an adequate level of verification to 
obtain” should be included in any scheme. It listed those as having the 
required features as including photographic driving licences, passports, Proof 
of Age Standards Scheme (PASS) cards, military identification cards, police 
identification cards and firearms licences. The Commission said some 

 

15  As above 
16  Electoral Commission, Delivering and costing a proof of identity scheme for polling station voters in 

Great Britain (PDF), December 2015 
17  Electoral Commission, Delivering and costing a proof of identity scheme for polling station voters in 

Great Britain (PDF), December 2015, p6 

Page 53

https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/194719/Proof-of-identity-scheme-updated-March-2016.pdf
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/194719/Proof-of-identity-scheme-updated-March-2016.pdf
http://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/194719/Proof-of-identity-scheme-updated-March-2016.pdf
http://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/194719/Proof-of-identity-scheme-updated-March-2016.pdf


 

 

Voter ID 

16 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

transport passes, such as Freedom Passes and Oyster photocards could also 
be added to the list. 18 

The Commission estimated the number of people who would have one of the 
forms of photo ID it had highlighted was around 92.5% of the electorate. In an 
electorate of approximately 46 million this would leave almost 3.5 million 
voters without suitable ID. The Commission estimated that limiting the 
acceptable form of ID to passports and photographic driving licences could 
potentially see almost a quarter of the electorate without acceptable photo 
ID. 19  

The Commission’s analysis also highlighted that access to some forms of 
photo ID varies and some groups would less likely than the general 
population to hold certain forms of photo ID.  

The latest figures from the National Travel Survey show a variation in the 
proportion of people with a full driving licence. The data is aggregated into 
broad groups and shows 76% of white people have a full driving licence, but 
that figure drops to around 60% for Asian and mixed-race people and 50% 
for black people. 20  

For these reasons the Commission recommended that a free photographic 
voter card should be available to those who did not have a suitable 
alternative, modelled on the Electoral Identity Card available to voters in 
Northern Ireland. 21 

2.2 The Pickles report 

On 14 August 2015 the Cabinet Office announced that Lord Pickles, then Sir 
Eric and the then Government’s Anti-Corruption Champion, was to review 
electoral fraud and make recommendations on what could be done to tackle 
it. 22  

The final report was published by the Cabinet Office on 12 August 2016. 23 The 
report made 50 recommendations for the Government to consider. 

On voter ID, Pickles highlighted the trust-based nature of the current polling 
station procedures: 

Trust has been an enduring factor in British elections for many 
decades. But a number of commentators now point to the potential 

 

18  As above, p17 
19  As above, p17-8 
20  Gov.uk Ethnicity facts and figures, Driving licences, 16 December 2020 
21  As above, p18-9 
22  Sir Eric Pickles to examine electoral fraud, Cabinet Office press release, 14 August 2015 
23  Cabinet Office, Securing the ballot: review into electoral fraud, 12 August 2016 

Page 54

https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/culture-and-community/transport/driving-licences/latest#by-ethnicity-over-time
http://www.wired-gov.net/wg/news.nsf/articles/DNWA-9ZCCWL
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/securing-the-ballot-review-into-electoral-fraud


 

 

Voter ID 

17 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

for significant abuse if people can commit personation at polling 
stations with little risk of detection. 24  

The report highlighted the basic checks currently available to polling station 
staff, the ‘statutory questions’ (see section 7.1 below for detail on the 
statutory prescribed questions). The report also acknowledged the number of 
allegations of polling station fraud were low and prosecutions were rare but 
cautioned that: 

…there is a concern that the absence of evidence does not mean this 
practice is not taking place. And even if it is not, there is a 
precautionary principle that comes into play in terms of the potential 
for it to happen. As noted above, the absence of some form of 
verification at the polling station has been identified by a number of 
expert organisations as a significant vulnerability. 25 

The report examined various options for which forms of ID might be 
considered without recommending which might be best.  

Pickles recommended the Government should consider options for voter 
identification and suggested the Government may wish to pilot various 
options before introducing a system nationwide. This was a recommendation 
that the Government took forward with pilots held in 2018 and 2019 (see 
section 3 for more detail). 

2.3 International observers  

UK elections were not formally opened up to international observers until 
2006. In 2005 a delegation from the Organization for Security and Co-
operation in Europe (OSCE) Office for Democratic Institutions and Human 
Rights (ODIHR) observed the general election.  

In its report it noted the OSCE/ODIHR teams were not allowed access to 
polling stations. However, the report commented on the trust-based nature of 
elections and that no ID was required by voters in Great Britain. One of its 
recommendations   

In order to provide additional safeguards for the integrity of polling, 
consideration could be given to amending the legal framework to 
require that a person presents a proof of identity and signs the 
polling station voter register before being given a ballot. 26 

 

24  As above, p11  
25 As above, p12 
26 Office for Democratic Institutions and Human Rights, UK General Election 5 May 2005 OSCE/ODIHR 

Assessment Mission Report, p16 

Page 55

https://www.osce.org/odihr/elections/uk/16204?download=true
https://www.osce.org/odihr/elections/uk/16204?download=true


 

 

Voter ID 

18 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

This was reiterated in its report on the 2010 UK General Election. 27  

In its report on the 2015 General Election the OSCE/ODIHR noted that 
improvements in ID requirements for electoral registration under individual 
electoral registration (IER) had improved the security of the vote but also 
noted the recommendation about ID in polling stations had yet to be 
addresses.  

The report on the 2017 election made no further recommendations on polling 
station security and focused instead on campaign issues, such as campaign 
finance and expenditure. 28 

 

 

27  Office for Democratic Institutions and Human Rights, UK General Election 6 May 2010 OSCE/ODIHR 
Assessment Mission Report, p22 

28  Office for Democratic Institutions and Human Rights, UK General Election 8 June 2010 OSCE/ODIHR 
Assessment Mission Report,  

Page 56

https://www.osce.org/odihr/elections/69072?download=true
https://www.osce.org/odihr/elections/69072?download=true
https://www.osce.org/odihr/elections/uk/336906?download=true
https://www.osce.org/odihr/elections/uk/336906?download=true


 

 

Voter ID 

19 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

3 Voter ID pilots 

Summary 

The Government accepted Pickles’ recommendation that it should hold pilot 
schemes to test possible voter ID requirements. Local authority areas were 
invited to apply. Five were chosen in 2018 and 10 held pilots in 2019. 

Three different schemes piloted different ID requirements that voters had to 
be shown before being issued with a ballot paper: 

• Photo ID - where only approved types of photo ID had to be shown, 
• A mixed model - voters could use photo and non-photo ID (such as utility 

bills), and 
• The poll card model - where a voter had to bring their poll card but could 

also use photo ID if they did not have their poll card. 

2018 

The Electoral Commission’s statutory evaluation of the pilots concluded they 
were run effectively. The proportion of voters without the correct ID turned 
away and who did not return was less than 0.5% of all voters voting. The 
evidence suggested that showing ID in polling stations may have had some 
positive impact on the level of public confidence in the security of the system. 

The Commission also noted, though, that further pilots should be conducted 
in a wider range of areas with different demographic profiles to gain more 
detailed evidence about the impacts on different groups of people. 

Following the 2018 pilots the Cabinet Office conducted its own evaluation and 
estimated that a national roll out of the photographic ID model would cost 
£5.9 to £17.9m per general election. The main drivers of costs were additional 
staff costs, especially additional administrative staff costs, training and 
facilities costs and the cost of producing and issuing local elector cards. 

2019 

The Electoral Commission found, like 2018, there were no administrative 
problems during the 2019 pilots and perceptions of security increased. The 
proportion of people not returning after being turned away ranged between 
from 0.03% to 0.7%. The Commission noted that if voter ID was to be rolled 
out nationwide it would need a significant level of resourcing.  

Page 57



 

 

Voter ID 

20 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

3.1 Background to pilots 

The power to hold pilot schemes at local elections in England and Wales 
comes from the Representation of the People Act 2000. 29  

The 2000 Act resulted from and implemented the recommendations of a 
working party under the then Home Office Minister with responsibility for 
elections, George Howarth, set up in 1999. The working party included 
representatives from the three major political parties represented at 
Westminster, representatives of the local authority associations, responsible 
central government departments, returning officers and electoral 
administrators. The final report, published in October 1999, recommended 

 

29  Section 10 as amended 

In the 2019 evaluation the Commission found some evidence that certain 
groups found it harder to show appropriate ID and emphasised that “the 
importance of ensuring the ID requirements are suitable for all and that any 
public awareness activities are genuinely effective across all communities”. 
Overall, the Commission concluded that the ten pilot areas were not 
representative of Great Britain as a whole and it would be difficult to draw 
conclusions about the impact on confidence across the UK as a whole 

The Commission’s public opinion survey asked non-voters why they did not 
vote. The main reasons given were in line with previous Commission surveys, 
with 30% too busy, 9% away at the time of the election and 6% forgot. 
However, 1% of people who didn’t vote in the pilots said it was because they 
didn’t have the right ID and less than 1% said it was because they disagreed 
with the requirement. 

The Cabinet Office evaluation of the 2019 pilots found slightly higher levels of 
people saying the ID requirements were the reason they did not vote, 2%. The 
Cabinet Office survey also asked whether having to provide ID would make 
people more or less likely to vote. 85% of voters said presenting photo ID 
would make no difference to them and the remaining respondents were evenly 
split between saying it would make them more or less likely to vote. 

The Cabinet Office data did not indicate that any one demographic group of 
those examined, was adversely impacted by the requirements of the pilots. 
The 2019 evaluation made no estimates of the cost of rollout of voter ID.  

The Cabinet Office found those authorities that piloted photo ID felt the 
photographic ID is most appropriate for national rollout due to the level of 
security and those authorities that trialled polling cards felt the poll card 
model required the least behavioural change, as many voters do this already. 

Page 58

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/2/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/2/section/10


 

 

Voter ID 

21 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

change in several areas and included the recommendation that the 
Government: 

..should be authorised to approve pilot schemes on when, where or 
how to vote eg weekend voting, mobile polling stations, electronic 
voting. 30 

A minister can make an Order to allow for the local pilot only after consulting 
the Electoral Commission.  

The Order may make provisions to modify or disapply an existing provision in 
electoral law to allow the procedure being piloted to take place. A pilot 
scheme may make a change to the when, where, and how voting takes place, 
how votes are counted and the sending of elections addresses by candidates. 

An Order made under this provision is not subject to Parliamentary 
procedure, but a copy must be sent to the local authority taking part and that 
authority must publish in their area in any manner it thinks fit. 

3.2 2006 and 2007 pilots 

A range of pilots were conducted at local elections in England between 2000 
and 2007. These trialled a variety of innovations, including all-postal voting, 
electronic voting and counting, advance voting and new voting hours and 
locations. In total 154 pilots were conducted at local elections from 2000 to 
2007. In addition, four regions trialled all-postal voting in the European 
Parliamentary elections of June 2004. 31 

In seven areas in 2006 and four areas in 2007, pilot schemes were conducted 
to require voters in local elections to sign for their ballot papers in polling 
stations. A provision had been included in the Electoral Administration Act 
2006 to make voters sign for their ballot papers in all elections. This provision 
was subsequently not brought into force. This was in part because the 
relevant section in the Act did not provide a clear sanction to withhold a 
ballot paper should an elector refuse to sign. 32  

During the passage of the Bill the then Minister of State (Department of 
Constitutional Affairs), Harriet Harman, highlighted the new security measure 
was aimed to be a deterrent to personation: 

The requirement for a signature is another security measure, and it 
underlines the importance of the fact that the voter must be the 
person who should be voting. People have to sign for registered post 

 

30  The Final Report of the Working Party on Electoral Procedures, Home Office 1999, Deposited paper 
Dep 99/1672, paragraphs 3.1.3 – 3.1.18 

31  Electoral Commission, Summary – key issues and conclusions: May 2007 electoral pilot schemes, 
August 2007 

32  Electoral Commission, Electoral fraud in the UK Evidence and issues paper, May 2013, p64 

Page 59

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/22/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/22/contents
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20000902235809/http:/www.homeoffice.gov.uk:80/ccpd/wpep1.pdf
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/electoral_commission_pdf_file/0015/13218/Keyfindingsandrecommendationssummarypaper_27191-20111__E__N__S__W__.pdf
http://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/155335/Electoral-fraud-evidence-and-issues-paper-revised.pdf


 

 

Voter ID 

22 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

that is delivered to them, but they do not have to sign when they go 
into the polling station. The Bill introduces the requirement to sign, 
and the signature will be kept for a year. That will provide additional 
security if there are subsequent allegations of people impersonating 
others and stealing their votes, because we shall be able to check 
the signature. We hope that that will be a deterrent to personation. 33 

David Heath, the Liberal Democrat spokesperson, contended that to be a 
more effective deterrent a signature on its own was insufficient: 

It would be much more effective as an anti-fraud measure if we had 
not only the signature of the elector when they arrived but a 
specimen signature as part of the registration process…A signature 
in vacuo does not do a lot, as there is no way of knowing whether 
that is the rightful elector’s signature unless there is a comparator 
from the registration process. 34  

The Government and the Electoral Commission considered that piloting the 
requirement would provide an opportunity to evaluate reactions to the new 
requirement. 35 

In both sets of pilots, polling stations staff were required to refuse to issue a 
ballot paper to any elector who refused to provide a signature, although they 
were allowed to waive the requirement for a signature if the voter had a 
physical incapacity. 

None of the local authorities undertook any post-election checks on the 
signatures, as this was not provided for within the pilot Orders in either year. 

The pilots were evaluated by the Electoral Commission, which included public 
opinion surveying in the pilot areas.  

In 2006, only just over a third of voters (35%) thought that signing for ballot 
papers would make them more confident in the voting process. The majority 
(58%) thought it would make no difference. Overall, 92% did not object to the 
requirement to sign but the Commission noted that some voters who did 
object were ‘vociferous’ in their objections. Of those that did object, concerns 
were raised about privacy and secrecy of signatures, for example, who would 
have access to the signatures once the election was over. Voters also 
questioned the value to be gained from requiring signatures without them 
being checked against another signature or other form of identification. 36 

The Commission’s evaluation of the 2007 pilots found that nearly 60% of 
respondents felt more confident about the electoral process as a result of 
having to sign for their ballot papers. A similar proportion of voters were 

 

33  Electoral Administration Bill 2005-06, Standing Committee B, 22 November 2005, c173 
34  As above, c174 
35  Electoral Commission, May 2006 electoral pilot schemes signing for ballot papers in polling stations 

summary findings (PDF), August 2006 
36  As above 

Page 60

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm200506/cmstand/cmscelect.htm
http://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/electoral_commission_pdf_file/0015/13191/FindingsSigninginPollingStations_22990-17177__E__N__S__W__.pdf
http://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/electoral_commission_pdf_file/0015/13191/FindingsSigninginPollingStations_22990-17177__E__N__S__W__.pdf


 

 

Voter ID 

23 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

comfortable with signing for their ballot paper (around 90%) and similar 
objections were raised to the 2006 pilots. 37 

The Commission concluded that making people sign for a ballot paper was a 
limited security measure: 

in the absence of existing records against which signatures provided 
at polling stations could be compared, the Commission continues to 
question their overall deterrent value in the face of someone 
determined to commit an electoral offence. 38 

These pilots were conducted before the introduction of individual electoral 
registration (IER). The Commission also recommended at the time that 
introducing IER could help underpin polling station security by then empower 
polling station staff to confirm their date of birth or provide a signature. This 
could then be checked against details provided by individual voters when they 
registered to vote. 39  

Under the current system of IER voters applying to register must supply a 
National Insurance number and a date of birth to confirm their identity. This 
reduces the opportunity for fake entries on the electoral register but does not 
currently provide any additional security in a polling station.  

3.3 2018 ID pilots 

Following the publication of the Pickles report on electoral fraud (see section 
2.2) the Government announced that it would take forward one of his key 
recommendations: “that the Government should consider the options for 
electors to have to produce personal identification before voting at polling 
stations and might consider piloting different methods”. 40 

In March 2017 the Cabinet Office issued a prospectus inviting local authorities 
in England to apply to host a pilot scheme in May 2018. 41 The prospectus 
outlined the two objectives of the pilots: 

• Objective 1: That proposed ‘ID at polling stations’ policy measures are 
proportional to the policy objective of reducing the opportunity for 
electoral fraud.  

• Objective 2: That the proposed ‘ID at polling stations’ policy measures 
enhance public confidence in the security of the electoral system. 

 

37  Electoral Commission, Signing for ballot papers at polling stations May 2007 electoral pilot schemes 
summary (PDF), August 2007 

38  As above 
39  As above 
40  Cabinet Office press release, Eliminating electoral fraud in polling stations, 27 December 2016 
41  Cabinet Office, Prospectus on Electoral Integrity Pilots in May 2018,  

Page 61

https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/electoral_commission_pdf_file/0010/13222/Signingforballotpapersinpollingstationssummarypaper_27197-20116__E__N__S__W__.pdf
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/electoral_commission_pdf_file/0010/13222/Signingforballotpapersinpollingstationssummarypaper_27197-20116__E__N__S__W__.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/eliminating-electoral-fraud-in-polling-stations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prospectus-on-electoral-integrity-pilots-in-may-2018


 

 

Voter ID 

24 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

The prospectus also outlined pilots would consider the use of various forms of 
non-photographic ID if they met the objectives of the pilots. 42 

Five local authorities were chosen for the 2018 voter ID pilots and were 
announced in September 2017. 43 Polling day was 3 May 2018. 

Woking trialled photo ID. Bromley and Gosport piloted both photo- and non-
photo ID. In Swindon and Watford voters only needed their poll card but could 
use photo ID if they had lost or did not bring their polling card to the polling 
station. 

Each area had its own prescribed list of acceptable documents, but all five 
areas included five key documents in their list of acceptable photo-ID: 

• UK, EU, or Commonwealth passport; 
• Photographic driving licence; 
• Northern Ireland Electoral Identity Card; 
• Biometric immigration residence permit; 
• European Economic Area Identity Card. 

The requirements for whether a passport had to be current or expired to be a 
valid form of ID, or for the driving licence to be full or provisional varied 
depending on the area. Other prescribed documents varied.   

Each local authority trialled a slightly different model and these are 
summarised below: 

Bromley   

• Voters in Bromley had to take either one piece of photo identification or 
two pieces of non-photo identification from a prescribed list to be able to 
vote at their polling station.  
 

• Registered voters without any ID from the list could apply to the 
Returning Officer for a Certificate of Identity which could be shown to 
vote at their polling station. 

Gosport  

• Voters in Gosport also had to take either one piece of photo identification 
or two pieces of non-photo identification. The list of acceptable ID was 
similar to that of Bromley although there was some variation. Like 
Bromley, registered voters without an acceptable form of ID could apply 
to the Returning Officer for an electoral identity letter.  

 

42  As above, p5 
43  Cabinet Office press release, First British voters required to show ID before casting their ballots in 

crackdown on fraud, 16 September 2017 

Page 62

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/voter-id-pilot-to-launch-in-local-elections
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/voter-id-pilot-to-launch-in-local-elections


 

 

Voter ID 

25 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

Swindon  

• In Swindon, voters had to take their poll card to be able to vote at their 
polling station. Poll cards had a barcode which was scanned at polling 
stations. 
 

• Voters who had lost their poll card or did not take it with them to the 
polling station could show one piece of photo identification from a 
prescribed list. 
 

• Registered voters without any ID could bring someone with them to their 
polling station to confirm/attest who they were. This person had to be 
registered to vote at the same polling station and have already voted 
themselves or could vote by showing their poll card or other form of 
identification. 

Watford  

• The provisions in Watford were similar to those for Swindon with one 
main exception. In Watford, there was no provision for a voter without 
the required poll card or alternative photo ID to have their identity 
attested by a fellow voter.  

Woking  

• Voters in Woking had to provide photo ID from a prescribed list. 
Registered voters in Woking who did not have any of the listed ID could 
apply to the Returning Officer to be issued with a photographic Local 
Elector Card. 

The post-pilot evaluation form the Cabinet Office noted there had been no 
allegations of electoral fraud in the period 2014-17 in three of the five areas. 
Watford and Woking had 11 and 7 respectively. Of these 6 cases in Watford 
related to personation, legal incapacity to vote or multiple voting offences. 
The equivalent number in Woking was 3. 44 None resulted in a prosecution. 

3.4 2018 Pilot evaluations 

The Electoral Commission has a statutory duty to evaluate any pilot schemes 
conducted under the Representation of the People Act 2000. It published its 
evaluation of the 2018 pilots in July 2018. The Cabinet Office published its own 
evaluation at the same time. 

 

44  Cabinet Office, Electoral Integrity Project - Local Elections 2018 - Evaluation (PDF), August 2018, p56 

Page 63

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/733128/Electoral_Integrity_Project_-_Local_Elections_2018_-_Evaluation.pdf


 

 

Voter ID 

26 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

Electoral Commission  
The Commission’s evaluation found the pilots worked well and overall, the 
number of voters who could not vote was small. The evaluation found that 
polling station staff found little difficulty in delivering the pilot. Over two-
thirds agreed with the statement that asking voters to prove their identity had 
little or no impact on their work on polling day. 45 

The Electoral Commission noted that there was little evidence the voter 
identification requirements had a direct impact on turnout in the May 2018 
pilot scheme areas. Overall, it was not possible to collect demographic data 
on people and so it had no evidence to suggest particular demographics were 
more affected than others.  

The Commission cautioned that:  

The data on turnout and participation cannot tell us much about 
people who may have decided not to go to their polling station at all 
because of the identification requirement. 46 

The Commission also noted though, that further pilots should be conducted in 
a wider range and cautioned against drawing conclusions on how voter ID 
would apply more widely if introduced: 

However, we are not able to draw definitive conclusions from these 
pilots on how a voter identification requirement would operate in the 
future across Great Britain, or at polls with higher levels of turnout. 

This is partly because the available evidence is drawn from only five 
local authority areas which are not representative of many other 
areas of Great Britain. There would be different challenges in areas 
with different demographics. 47 

Awareness 

Nearly nine out of ten (86%) of people who voted at polling stations said they 
were aware beforehand that they had to show identification to vote at their 
polling station. 55% of voters had seen local advertising campaigns by May. 
Levels of awareness were lower in voters from the C2DE social grades.  

Nearly everyone who went to vote at their polling station was able to show 
the right identification, but a small number did not and some did not return 
(see section 3.7). 

 

45  Electoral Commission, May 2018 voter identification pilot schemes, Impact on electoral 
administration 

46  As above 
47  Electoral Commission, Background 

Page 64

https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/who-we-are-and-what-we-do/our-views-and-research/our-research/voter-identification-pilots/may-2018-voter-identification-pilot-schemes/impact-electoral-administration
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/who-we-are-and-what-we-do/our-views-and-research/our-research/voter-identification-pilots/may-2018-voter-identification-pilot-schemes/impact-electoral-administration
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/who-we-are-and-what-we-do/our-views-and-research/our-research/voter-identification-pilots/may-2018-voter-identification-pilot-schemes/background


 

 

Voter ID 

27 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

ID used 

In the three areas using photo ID, Bromley, Gosport and Woking, photo 
driving licences were the most popular form of ID (ranging from 54% to 60%), 
with passport the second most popular (ranging from 21% to 25%). Travel 
passes were the third most popular form.  

In the two poll card pilot areas approximately nine in ten voters showed their 
poll card (95% in Swindon and 87% in Watford). Photo driving licences were 
the most popular non-poll card form of ID. 48  

Access to ID 

The Commission’s research found that most people (88%) said they would 
find it easy or very easy to show identification if they had to at future 
elections. Younger people aged 34 and below were slightly less likely (83%) to 
say they would find it easy. 

The Commission heard concerns from organisations representing the 
interests of different groups of people. Mencap, for example, told the 
Commission:  

People with learning disability often do not have ID such as a 
passport as they are unable to travel abroad or cannot afford it. 
Almost none will have a driving licence and in some cases will not 
even have access to utility bills or other forms of ID. 49 

The RNIB, Royal National Institute of Blind People, noted the lack of driving 
licences amongst blind and partially sighted people and Stonewall told the 
Commission that trans and non-binary people may have been particularly 
vulnerable as the photo on their official ID may not reflect their gender 
identity.  

Perceptions of fraud 

There was some evidence to suggest that requiring voters to show 
identification had a positive impact on public confidence in the May 2018 
elections, although the Commission noted this varied between pilot areas. 
The key findings on the impact on public confidence were: 

• People in areas where the pilot schemes took place were less likely to 
think that electoral fraud took place at the May polls than those in other 
areas where elections were also held in May 2018; 
 

• Across the pilot areas as a whole people were more likely to say they 
thought electoral fraud was not a problem than they were in January 
2018; 
 

 

48  Electoral Commission, May 2018 voter identification pilot schemes, Impact on voters 
49  As above 

Page 65

https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/who-we-are-and-what-we-do/our-views-and-research/our-research/voter-identification-pilots/may-2018-voter-identification-pilot-schemes/impact-voters


 

 

Voter ID 

28 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

• People who voted in polling stations in the pilot scheme areas, and 
therefore experienced the process of showing identification, were more 
confident in the security of the voting system than non-voters in those 
areas. 50 

Overall, the Commission found inconsistent evidence about whether a 
requirement to show identification at polling stations in Great Britain would 
improve confidence in the security of the voting system. 

The May 2018 pilots provided very limited evidence about whether the 
identification requirement had a direct impact on the security of election 
procedures. In particular, the Commission stated, “it is not possible to 
evaluate whether the requirements actually prevented attempts to commit 
electoral fraud at elections.” 51 

Recommendations 

The final recommendations of the Commission on the 2018 pilots were that UK 
Government should: 

• Ensure that a wider range of local councils run pilot schemes in May 
2019; 
 

• Set out more specifically how pilot schemes in May 2019 should be 
designed and run; 
 

• Work with the Equality and Human Rights Commission and organisations 
that represent people with different needs to carry out robust Equality 
Impact Assessments for future pilot schemes; 
 

• Carry out further work to identify what kinds of alternative identification 
are available for people who would find it harder to show their passport, 
driving licence 21 or travel pass; 
 

• Carry out further work to gather more evidence on the levels of identity 
assurance provided by different types of documents; and 
 

• Carry out further work to establish whether poll cards could be included 
as acceptable identification without needing scanning technology in 
polling stations, as the pilots in Watford and Swindon (using poll cards) 
were significantly more expensive. 

 

50  Electoral Commission, May 2018 voter identification pilot schemes, Impact on public confidence 
51  Electoral Commission, May 2018 voter identification pilot schemes, Impact on security 

Page 66

https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/who-we-are-and-what-we-do/our-views-and-research/our-research/voter-identification-pilots/may-2018-voter-identification-pilot-schemes/impact-public-confidence
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/who-we-are-and-what-we-do/our-views-and-research/our-research/voter-identification-pilots/may-2018-voter-identification-pilot-schemes/impact-security


 

 

Voter ID 

29 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

Cabinet Office  
The Cabinet Office produced its own evaluation of the 2018 pilots. It found 
similar results to the Electoral Commission in terms of effective delivery of the 
pilots and on the most common types of ID used by voters but also noted the 
limited data collected across five authorities made general conclusion on a 
wider rollout difficult. However, electoral services teams delivering the postal 
pilots were not confident that the requirements piloted would decrease 
electoral fraud. 52 

It also found similar trends on the perception of voter fraud and on the 
integrity of polling station voting, with some mixed results. The view that 
photographic ID was an effective measure to reduce electoral fraud 
significantly increased in Woking, where only photo ID was accepted, but in 
the other models was more mixed. 

The perceptions of voter fraud more generally were mixed: 

The belief that there are sufficient safeguards and that polling 
stations are safe from fraud and abuse has significantly increased 
post election day in the photographic ID model. Perceptions of there 
being sufficient safeguards increased in both mixed ID models, but 
the belief that polling stations are safe from fraud and abuse only 
significantly increased in one of the two mixed ID models (Gosport). 
Similarly, perceptions of sufficient safeguards and the belief that 
polling stations are safe from fraud and abuse has only significantly 
increased in one of the two poll card models (Watford).  

… 

The perception of electoral fraud has significantly decreased at a 
local level and significantly increased at a GB level in the 
photographic ID model and the mixed ID model (although Gosport 
remains unchanged on perceptions of fraud at a GB level). In 
contrast, perceptions of levels of electoral fraud significantly 
increased at a local level in one of the two poll card models 
(Swindon) and at a GB level (Watford). 53 

On the cost of rolling out the various models, the Cabinet Office did not make 
estimates of the roll out of the poll card model. It noted that cost of IT 
equipment in polling stations varied considerably between the two authorities 
piloting the poll card model. 54 

The Cabinet Office estimated that a national roll out of the mixed ID model 
was expected to range in cost from £4.6m to £17.1m per general election. 55 
The photographic ID model is expected to range in cost from £5.9 to £17.9m. 

 

52  Cabinet Office, Electoral Integrity Project - Local Elections 2018 - Evaluation (PDF), p54 
53  Cabinet Office, Electoral Integrity Project - Local Elections 2018 - Evaluation (PDF), p53 
54  As above, p31 
55  As above, p38 

Page 67

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/733128/Electoral_Integrity_Project_-_Local_Elections_2018_-_Evaluation.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/733128/Electoral_Integrity_Project_-_Local_Elections_2018_-_Evaluation.pdf


 

 

Voter ID 

30 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

The main drivers of costs were additional staff costs, especially additional 
administrative staff costs, training costs, facilities costs, and the cost of 
producing and issuing local elector cards. 56 

3.5 2019 ID pilots 

In November 2018 the Government announced the details of the pilots to be 
held in local authority areas in May 2019. 

Voters in Pendle, East Staffordshire and Woking would be asked to show 
photo ID before they are given their ballot papers. 

In Ribble Valley, Broxtowe, Derby, North Kesteven and Braintree voters would 
be required to present either one form of photo ID or up to two forms of non-
photo ID. 

Mid Sussex, Watford and North West Leicestershire would require voters to 
show their polling card. Cards in Watford and Mid Sussex would have to be 
scanned but North West Leicestershire would be a non-tech version where 
poll cards were not scanned.  

Proxy voters in Peterborough would also be required to show ID before they 
could cast their proxy vote. 

In addition, Peterborough and Pendle would run a separate postal vote pilot, 
looking at the security of postal votes and providing additional guidance in 
postal vote packs. 57 

Following the announcement of the scheme three local authorities withdrew 
from the pilots: East Staffordshire, Peterborough and Ribble Valley. One 
additional local authority was added to the pilots, Craven. 58 

An East Staffordshire spokesperson said it had withdrawn because of 
concerns over timings and the council was worried about the amount of time 
“allowed for us to communicate with the electorate what valid forms of ID 
would be permitted”. 59 

Ribble Valley council said that implementing its new ward boundaries for the 
2019 elections was “too resource intensive” and could have an impact on the 
smooth running of elections. 

Peterborough withdrew because of the uncertainty at the time over whether 
or not it would have to run a recall petition, following the conviction and 

 

56  As above, p43 
57  Cabinet Office press release, Next round of Voter ID pilots announced for 2019, 3 November 2018 
58  PQ 217666 [Proof of Identity], 11 February 2019 
59  Derby Telegraph, Trial polling system cancelled for Burton voters, 14 January 2019 

Page 68

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/next-round-of-voter-id-pilots-announced-for-2019
https://www.parliament.uk/written-questions-answers-statements/written-question/commons/2019-02-06/217666
https://www.derbytelegraph.co.uk/burton/polling-burton-east-staffordshire-elections-2416867


 

 

Voter ID 

31 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

imprisonment of the local MP, Fiona Onasanya, for perverting the course of 
justice. 60 

Following polling day, opposition parties wrote to the Government urging 
ministers to abandon the policy of introducing voter ID. 61 

3.6 2019 Pilot evaluations 

Electoral Commission 
The Commission found that like 2018, the 2019 pilots saw no administrative 
problems but noted that if voter ID was to be rolled out nationwide it would 
need a significant level of resourcing. 62  

Awareness 

As in 2018 the Commission found high levels of awareness of the requirement 
to show ID in the pilot areas, with 85% of voters surveyed after the elections 
knowing that some form of ID was required. 

However, some groups of polling station voters were less likely to say that 
they knew they would need to show ID. Awareness was lower among first time 
voters (73%) compared to people who had voted before (87%), and among 
35–54-year-olds (80%) compared to those aged 55+ (89%). 

The Commission cautions these differential levels of awareness could have 
negative impact at other polls with higher turnout: 

If there were to be a disproportionate impact on particular groups of 
voters this could also have a negative impact on public confidence; 
we know that problems at elections can affect voters’ and non-
voters’ overall perceptions of the poll. 

Of course, it is possible that groups reporting lower levels of 
awareness in relation to the 2 May elections, where they were less 
likely to vote, would have higher levels of awareness around an 
election in which they intended to vote, such as a UK general 
election. However, we cannot assume that would happen 
automatically. It is likely to depend, to some extent, on the nature of 
the public awareness activities used. 63 

 

60  Independent, Government plans to introduce voter ID 'falling apart' as councils pull out of scheme, 15 
February 2019 

61  Guardian, Tories 'trying to rig elections' with compulsory voter ID, 13 May 2020 
62  Electoral Commission, May 2019 voter identification pilot schemes, Impact on administration of the 

polls 
63  As above 

Page 69

https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/politics/voter-id-local-election-pilot-scheme-high-court-challenge-council-a8780776.html
https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2019/may/13/tories-trying-to-rig-elections-with-compulsory-voter-id
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/who-we-are-and-what-we-do/our-views-and-research/our-research/voter-identification-pilots/may-2019-voter-identification-pilot-schemes/impact-administration-polls
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/who-we-are-and-what-we-do/our-views-and-research/our-research/voter-identification-pilots/may-2019-voter-identification-pilot-schemes/impact-administration-polls


 

 

Voter ID 

32 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

The Commission noted previous research that, on average, local election 
voters tend to be older than for other polls. 64 

Access to ID 

In the 2019 evaluation the Commission found some evidence that certain 
groups found it harder to show appropriate ID. Polling station staff were not 
asked to collect demographic data in 2018 or 2019. In some wards there was a 
correlation between the proportion the ward’s population from an Asian 
background and the number of people not issued with a ballot paper. 

The Commission noted the evidence was mixed and “it is important to be 
clear that this correlation analysis does not definitively suggest that Asian 
voters were disproportionately affected” by the requirement to show ID. It 
goes on to say: 

However, this does emphasise the importance of ensuring that the ID 
requirements are suitable for all and that any public awareness 
activities are genuinely effective across all communities. 65  

ID used 

Photo driving licences and passports were the most popular types of photo ID, 
with similar proportions to 2018 showing these in photo ID and mixed model 
pilots. Travel passes were the third most used. In the poll card pilot areas 
93% of people showed their poll card with 6% showing either a driving 
licence or passport. 66 

Attitudes to voting 

The Commission’s public opinion survey asked non-voters why they did not 
vote. The main reasons given were in line with previous Commission surveys, 
with 30% too busy, 9% away at the time of the election and 6% forgot. 
However, 1% of people who didn’t vote in the pilots said it was because they 
didn’t have the right ID and less than 1% said it was because they disagreed 
with the requirement. 

The Commission also asked about whether voter ID made people more or less 
likely to vote. 90% said it made no difference or made them more likely to 
vote. A notable minority said it made them less likely to vote (3%), that they 
didn’t have ID (1%) or that they didn’t know (6%). Non-voters on 2 May were 
more likely than voters to say they would be negatively affected, or they were 
unsure. 

Perceptions of fraud 

As in 2018, the 2019 pilot areas saw an increase in voter confidence and in 
perceptions of the safety of voting in the pilots compared to non-pilot areas. 

 

64  Electoral Commission, May 2019 voter identification pilot schemes, Impact on voters: experience 
65  As above 
66  As above 

Page 70

https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/who-we-are-and-what-we-do/our-views-and-research/our-research/voter-identification-pilots/may-2019-voter-identification-pilot-schemes/impact-voters-experience


 

 

Voter ID 

33 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

People who voted in polling stations in the pilot scheme, and therefore 
experienced the process of showing identification, were more confident in the 
security of the voting system than non-voters in those areas. However, the 
changes in attitudes were not uniform across the pilot areas.  

The Commission noted the ten pilot areas were not representative of Great 
Britain as a whole and it would be difficult to draw conclusions about the 
impact on confidence across the UK as a whole. 67 

Cabinet Office   
The Cabinet Office evaluation stated the 2019 pilots were: 

designed to understand how the potential impact of an ID 
requirement for voters at the polling station is likely to vary between 
areas with different demographics and electoral administration 
capacity. The results from the data gathered are not nationally 
representative, but do enable an understanding of the potential 
effects of rolling out an ID requirement on particular demographic 
groups and type of local authorities. 68  

As with the Electoral Commission evaluation, perceptions of polling station 
fraud occurring were low. In those areas holding pilots only 10% of people 
thought fraud happened in polling stations where they lived but 24% thought 
it happened elsewhere. However, the proportions were higher in the pilot 
local authorities where there had been recent issues with voter fraud.  

Voters in Woking, Pendle and Derby, all authorities that had been identified 
by the Electoral Commission report of 2014 that had a greater risk of localised 
electoral fraud, 69 were more likely to think that polling station fraud 
happened in their areas than others. Pendle was the highest at 30% of 
respondents thinking fraud occurred in local polling stations with Derby at 
13% and Woking at 14%. 

The survey also asked people about their perception of postal voting. Around 
half of all respondents in all areas thought postal voting was safe from fraud, 
with around 30% saying postal voting was ‘unsafe’. 70 

The perception that voting at polling stations is safe from fraud and abuse 
increased consistently across all models after polling day. When asked 
whether there were sufficient safeguards in place to prevent voter fraud at 
polling stations, the proportion rose from 63% to 68% in mixed ID pilot areas 
and from 57% to 63% in photo ID areas. In the poll card areas, the perception 
rose from 63% to 65%, although this was not statistically significant. 

 

67  Electoral Commission, May 2019 voter identification pilot schemes, Impact on voters: confidence 
68  Cabinet Office, Evaluation of Voter ID Pilots 2019 (PDF), July 2019, p10 
69  Electoral Commission, Electoral fraud in the UK Final report and recommendations (PDF), January 

2014, p16 
70  Cabinet Office data tables - Evaluation of voter ID pilots 2019, July 2019 

Page 71

https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/who-we-are-and-what-we-do/our-views-and-research/our-research/voter-identification-pilots/may-2019-voter-identification-pilot-schemes/impact-voters-confidence
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/819404/2019_Voter_ID_Pilots_Evaluation.pdf
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/164609/Electoral-fraud-review-final-report.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/evaluation-of-voter-id-pilots-2019


 

 

Voter ID 

34 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

The Cabinet Office stated the data collected did not indicate that any one 
demographic group, of those examined, was adversely impacted by the 
requirements of the pilots. 71  

Attitudes to voting 

The proportion of people surveyed cited ID requirements as the reason for not 
casting their vote was 2%, 34 out of the 1,749 who said they did not vote, a 
similar proportion to 2018 pilots.  

The survey also asked whether having to provide ID would make people more 
or less likely to vote. About 85% of voters said presenting photo ID would 
make no difference to them and the remaining respondents were evenly split 
between saying it would make them more or less likely to vote. Less than 10% 
of respondents said it would make it more difficult to vote. In the polling card 
model 90% of voters said it would make no difference to their likelihood to 
vote with the remaining respondents evenly split. Less than 10% of 
respondents said it would make it more difficult to vote. 

When respondents were asked about non-photo ID similar levels said it would 
make no difference to whether they wanted to vote but higher levels said it 
would make it more difficult, 13%.  

When asked whether the different forms of ID would prevent electoral fraud in 
polling stations, over 80% agreed that presenting photo ID would be 
effective. The figure for polling cards was 60% and less than half of 
respondents thought showing non-photo ID, such as a bank statement or 
debit card, would be effective. 72 

Attitudes to national rollout  

The Cabinet Office reflected that those authorities that trialled polling cards 
as the required form of ID required the least behavioural change, as many 
voters do this already. 

The photographic ID model sites felt the photographic ID was most 
appropriate for national rollout due to the level of security it provides 
compared to the other models. And mixed ID model pilot areas felt that the 
number of non-photo ID documents approved should be shortened as the 
majority of electors who used this option brought similar documents (poll 
card and bank card). 73  

The evaluation made no estimates of the cost of rollout of voter ID across 
non-devolved elections. Writing to the Public Administration and 
Constitutional Affairs in June 2020, the Minister of State, Chloe Smith, saying: 

The exact costs will depend significantly on the detail of the scheme 
we pursue and what package we wrap around the national roll out of 

 

71  Cabinet Office Evaluation of Voter ID Pilots 2019 (PDF), July 2019, pp12-15 
72  Cabinet Office data tables - Evaluation of voter ID pilots 2019, July 2019 
73  Cabinet Office Evaluation of Voter ID Pilots 2019 (PDF), July 2019, p18 

Page 72

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/819404/2019_Voter_ID_Pilots_Evaluation.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/evaluation-of-voter-id-pilots-2019
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/819404/2019_Voter_ID_Pilots_Evaluation.pdf


 

 

Voter ID 

35 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

photographic voter ID to ensure its success, particularly for training 
and communications. The technical plans for its implementation are 
being developed and the anticipated costs of national rollout will be 
published in due course, alongside the planned primary legislation 
which will be brought forward. 74 

3.7 Effect of the 2018 and 2019 pilots on voter 
turnout 

One key concern about the introduction of Voter ID is that people without 
valid forms of identification will no longer be able to vote. Voter ID pilots were 
held in local authorities to assess the effect of ID requirements on voting. The 
table below shows the number and proportion of all voters in local authorities 
organising voter ID pilots in 2018 and 2019 who were turned away for not 
having a valid form of ID and did not return to vote.  

The table shows there was substantial variation both between and within the 
different models that were piloted (described in section 3 above). The 
proportion of voters who did not return after being turned away was between 
0.1% and 0.7% of all voters voting at that polling station. Generalising from 
these pilots, that translates to between 46,000 and 324,000 voters in Great 
Britain.  However, these local authorities may not be representative of local 
authorities across the country, so these numbers need to be treated as a 
rough guide.  

 

74  Public Administration and Constitutional Affairs publications, Letter from Chloe Smith MP, Minister of 
State on Government response to Committee’s electoral law report, dated 18.6.20 

 
Source: Source: Electoral Commission, Voter identification pilots 

Voters not returning after initially refused a ballot paper
Number and % of all voters at polling station

Local authority Voters Local authority Voters

Bromley 154 (0.2%) Braintree 73 (0.3%)

Gosport 54 (0.4%) Broxtowe 69 (0.3%)

Craven 49 (0.7%)

Derby 256 (0.6%)

North Kesteven
68 (0.4%)

Swindon 25 (0.06%) Mid Sussex 8 (0.03%)

Watford 42-66 (0.2%)
NW 
Leicestershire

61 (0.4%)

Watford 33-51 (0.2%)
Woking 51 (0.3%) Pendle 101 (0.7%)

Woking 22 (0.1%)

2018 2019

Mixed model

Poll card model

Photo ID only

Page 73

https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/1584/documents/15057/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/1584/documents/15057/default/
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/who-we-are-and-what-we-do/our-views-and-research/our-research/voter-identification-pilots


 

 

Voter ID 

36 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

The Electoral Commission found little evidence that voter ID requirements had 
a direct impact on turnout overall in its evaluation of the 2018 pilots. 75  

In 2019, for the pilots with comparable figures, turnout was down by two to six 
percentage points on the 2018 elections. However, the evaluation noted that 
turnout depends on various factors and changes cannot be attributed to a 
single factor. Turnout across English local elections in 2019 was down around 
two percentage points on 2018. 76 

3.8 Legal challenge 

In December 2018, a voter in one of the pilot areas, Braintree, began a legal 
challenge on the validity of the pilot scheme. Neil Coughlan, of Witham in the 
district of Braintree, has no photographic ID and sought a judicial review of 
the decision hold the pilots. 77 The challenge was dismissed. 

The case claimed the pilots were unlawful because they made it harder for 
people to vote, and because the secondary legislation required to implement 
the pilots does not require Parliamentary approval. 78 

In court the main arguments put by Mr Coughlan’s team were the requirement 
to produce ID documents was beyond the scope of section 10 of the 
Representation of the People Act 2000. They said it did so in two ways. Their 
view was that pilot did not test ‘how’ people may vote (one of the reasons a 
pilot might be held), rather it introduced a test on “whether” they could vote. 
The other key argument was the requirement for ID did not satisfy the power 
to conduct pilots on “facilitating” or “encouraging” voting.  

The judicial review was heard in the High Court on 7 March 2019, with the 
judgement handed down on 20 March 2019. The Court dismissed the case. 
Although the Court acknowledged the controversial nature of the pilots it 
ruled they were legal. It agreed with the Government’s argument that:  

the words "how voting at elections is to take place" are broad 
enough to encompass procedures for demonstrating an entitlement 
to vote, including by proving identity, as part of a voting process. 79 

The Court agreed with the Government that the power to allow pilots was 
permissive rather than prescriptive. The Court also agreed that even if a pilot 
had to facilitate or encourage voting to be permissible, that could be 
qualified. Firstly, the voting that is to be facilitated and encouraged must be 
lawful voting by persons entitled to vote, and secondly the purpose of 
facilitating or encouraging cannot be limited to the pilot itself, but that it 
 

75  Electoral Commission, May 2018 voter identification pilot schemes, Impact on voters 
76  Electoral Commission, May 2019 voter identification pilot schemes, Impact on voters: experience 
77  Guardian, Voter ID trials in England face legal challenge, 4 Dec 2018 
78  Leigh Day, Legal action launched against government’s voter ID pilot schemes, 4 December 2018 
79  [2019] EWHC 641 (Admin) Case No: CO/150/201 

Page 74

https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/who-we-are-and-what-we-do/our-views-and-research/our-research/voter-identification-pilots/may-2018-voter-identification-pilot-schemes/impact-voters
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/who-we-are-and-what-we-do/our-views-and-research/our-research/voter-identification-pilots/may-2019-voter-identification-pilot-schemes/impact-voters-experience
https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2018/dec/04/voter-id-trials-in-england-face-legal-challenge
https://www.leighday.co.uk/News/News-2018/December-2018/Legal-action-launched-against-governments-voter-I
https://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2019/641.html


 

 

Voter ID 

37 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

must lead to changes in electoral procedure that encourage voting over the 
longer term. The Court highlighted the 2018 voter ID prospectus: 

The August 2018 prospectus referred to the wider objectives of the 
pilot schemes: 

"… the Government wishes to see in place systems that can mitigate 
risks to the integrity of our electoral processes and address the 
perception of electoral fraud. If voters have confidence in the 
integrity of the electoral system then they are more likely to 
participate in that process (p.8)." 80 

In 2020, following a crowdfunding campaign, Mr Coughlan appealed the 
decision. 81 The grounds for the appeal were on the contention of the meaning 
of ‘how’ someone could vote, and the broader intention of the Act was to 
encourage voting, which it was claimed, voter ID ran contrary to. The 
appellant’s case argued that use of the power to hold pilots in the 2000 Act 
(section 10) undermined “the fundamental constitutional right to cast a vote 
in local elections.” 

The Court of Appeal dismissed the case, with Lord Justice McCombe saying: 

the use of the power in section 10 to test a pilot scheme of this type 
does not in truth override or abrogate the right to vote at all. The 
voter remains entitled to vote and must only produce sensible means 
of demonstrating that entitlement. The words in section 10(2)(a) 
used, on these specific occasions, to launch an experimental scheme 
requiring identification at the polling station do not, in my judgment, 
“override” the important right to vote at the particular elections 
concerned. 82 

The Court also commented on the safeguards in place to prevent the right to 
vote being altered more widely by secondary legislation. Section 11 of the 
2000 Act allows government ministers to permanently alter arrangements 
following a pilot scheme by statutory instrument. In comments supporting the 
main judgement, Lord Justice Underhill said: 

I appreciate of course that the effect of section 11 is that that decision 
can be made by the Secretary of State without further primary 
legislation; but it would be conditional on both (a) the Electoral 
Commission recommending the change (subsection (1)) and (b) 
approval by both Houses of Parliament under the affirmative 
resolution procedure (subsection (3)). Those are significant 
safeguards, deliberately introduced, and in the light of them I do not 
believe that we should approach the construction of section 10 on 
the basis that Parliament cannot have contemplated the possibility 

 

80  As above 
81  Court of Appeal to hear voter ID pilot scheme legal challenge, April 2020 
82  [2020] EWCA Civ 723 Case No: C1/2019/0675 

Page 75

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/2/section/10
https://www.leighday.co.uk/News/Press-releases-2020/April-2020/Court-of-Appeal-to-hear-voter-ID-pilot-scheme-lega
https://www.judiciary.uk/judgments/coughlan-v-the-minister-for-the-cabinet-office/


 

 

Voter ID 

38 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

of permanent voter identification requirements being introduced 
under the section 11 procedure. 

In February 2021, the Supreme Court granted leave to appeal to Mr 
Coughlan.83 The arguments were heard in February 2022 and the judgement 
handed down in April 2022. 

The Supreme Court dismissed Mr Coughlan’s appeal, saying: 

…the purpose of section 10 is to facilitate pilot schemes to enable 
the gathering of information to assist in the modernisation of 
electoral procedures in the public interest. The [pilot schemes] were 
made to promote that object and accordingly were authorised for a 
lawful purpose.84 

 

83  Supreme Court, Permission to Appeal results – January and February 2021 (PDF)  
84  [2022] UKSC 11 27 April 2022 

Page 76

https://www.supremecourt.uk/cases/uksc-2020-0129.html
https://www.supremecourt.uk/cases/uksc-2020-0129.html
https://www.supremecourt.uk/docs/permission-to-appeal-2021-01-2021-02.pdf
https://caselaw.nationalarchives.gov.uk/uksc/2022/11


 

 

Voter ID 

39 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

4 Reactions 

 

Summary 

There have been some concerns that the introduction of voter ID is a 
disproportionate response to the level of polling station fraud and could 
prevent some people from exercising their right to vote. Critics have pointed 
to the very low level of polling station fraud and question whether there are 
bigger priorities, such as improving voter registration rates and preventing 
postal voting fraud, which is perceived as a bigger problem. 

Opposition politicians have highlighted the cost of acquiring a passport or a 
driving licence and have cautioned that requiring voter ID will disenfranchise 
some groups.  

Civil society organisations have also warned that some people will find it 
harder to provide voter ID in a polling station. Campaign organisation Liberty, 
said: ‘‘If you’re young, if you’re a person of colour, if you’re disabled, trans or 
you don’t have a fixed address, you’re much less likely to have valid photo ID 
and could therefore be shut off from voting.” In June 2020 campaigners 
highlighted that 52% of black people hold a full driving licence, compared to 
76% of white people. 

The Government has argued that ID requirements for everyday activities, such 
as picking up a parcel, is something people from all backgrounds do already 
and voting should be no different. 

The Government also has stated that no demographic group, of those 
examined, was adversely impacted by the requirements of the pilots, and also 
highlights Electoral Commission research suggesting that the voter ID 
requirements in Northern Ireland are not a barrier to voting. 

The Local Government Information Unit published a briefing which 
summarised the pilot evaluations. It criticised the Government for “an 
optimistic interpretation of extremely limited evidence”. It also criticised the 
evaluations for not considering the people turned away, saying “Neither the 
Cabinet Office nor the Electoral Commission consider the people not returning 
to vote as a proportion of those refused a ballot, as opposed to a percentage 
of the total voting. Overall, 37% of those refused a ballot paper did not 
return.”  

Page 77



 

 

Voter ID 

40 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

 

4.1 Reactions to the pilots 

Electoral Reform Society 

The Electoral Reform Society (ERS) responded to the recommendation that 
the Government was to trial voter ID by saying it was “a sledgehammer to 
crack a nut”. It welcomed many of the anti-fraud recommendations made by 
Lord Pickles but said, “The introduction of voter ID is something that has to be 
thought very carefully about. There's a big risk it raises a barrier to 
participation and could put people off voting.” 85 

In March 2018, the ERS sent a letter co-signed by over 40 organisations and 
charities opposing the voter ID pilots. These included Liberty, Stonewall, 
Centrepoint, Age UK, the British Youth Council, Operation Black Vote, and the 
Royal National Institute of Blind People. The letter highlighted the Electoral 
Commission estimates that 3.5 million people lacked suitable ID. It also 
claimed the small scale of the problem of personation, citing a figure of 44 
allegations of personation in 2016, did not warrant an approach that risked 
disenfranchising people without photo ID: 

As organisations who support and represent a diverse range of 
communities, we have serious concerns that these proposals present 
a significant barrier to democratic engagement and risk 
compromising a basic human right for some of the most 
marginalised groups in society. Decades of international studies 
show that restrictive identification requirements are particularly 
disadvantageous to certain voter groups who are less likely to 
possess approved ID for a variety of socio-economic and accessibility 
reasons.  Voter ID reforms could therefore affect young people, older 
people, disabled people, transgender and gender non-conforming 
people, BAME communities and the homeless. 

Local government 

Shortly before the evaluations of the 2018 pilots were published Jo Miller, then 
returning officer and chief executive of Doncaster Council, and president of 
the Society of Local Authority Chief Executives (SOLACE) wrote an article for 
the Municipal Journal on the pilots. She questioned the need for voter ID and, 
like others, highlighted the small number of allegations of personation 
compared to the number of ballots cast, asking, “That rather begs the 
question: what problem are we trying to solve?” 86 

 

85  Huffington Post article by Josiah Mortimer, Communications Officer for the Electoral Reform Society, 
Eric Pickles' Electoral Fraud Report Is A Sledgehammer To Crack A Nut, 18 August 2016 

86  Municipal Journal, Voter ID in perspective, 4 July 2018 

Page 78

https://www.huffingtonpost.co.uk/josiah-mortimer/electoral-fraud_b_11539640.html
https://www.themj.co.uk/Voter-ID-in-perspective/211286


 

 

Voter ID 

41 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

The article then went on to note the Association of Electoral Administrators 
report on the 2017 local government and UK Parliamentary elections, which 
had been endorsed by SOLACE, had made various recommendations to the 
Government. These prioritised the integrity of the electoral register and the 
problem of duplicate registrations in the run up to elections, but none related 
to personation. 

Ms Miller acknowledged that if Parliament decided to roll-out voter ID 
nationally then electoral administrators would ensure this happened but 
warned that it would come with significant costs in IT, training, and public 
awareness. She questioned whether at a time when local authorities had 
increasing financial pressures, “I am not alone in thinking that there are more 
pressing problems to be solved”. 

In May 2020, the Local Government Information Unit (LGiU) published a 
briefing which summarised the pilot evaluations. It commented on the 
Cabinet Office evaluations by saying: 

The decision to introduce a requirement for photo ID is based on an 
optimistic interpretation of extremely limited evidence, of the photo 
model appearing to have the most pronounced impact on the 
measures of integrity. 87  

It also criticised the evaluations for not considering the people turned away. 
The evaluations focused on the small number of people turned away but the 
LGiU points out: 

Neither the Cabinet Office nor the Electoral Commission consider the 
people not returning to vote as a proportion of those refused a 
ballot, as opposed to a percentage of the total voting. Overall, 37% 
of those refused a ballot paper did not return. In two areas just 
under half of those turned away did not come back with ID. 

It notes that the Electoral Commission states in its evaluations that it is not 
possible to draw definitive conclusions from the pilots. In the LGiU’s view, 
while the pilots provided some insight to the operation of potential voter ID 
systems, assessing whether the possible measures were a proportionate 
response to preventing fraud and enhancing public confidence has been 
“submerged by an overwhelming political drive to be seen to do something to 
address voter confidence”.  

The LGiU concluded by saying: 

Ministers like to compare the lack of an ID requirement when voting 
to the need to prove identity when collecting a parcel from the post 
office. Being able to collect a parcel is not a basic human right, 
unlike taking part in a free and fair election. There is a case for self-
identification in polling stations to protect the security of the poll: 
the point is that it should be inclusionary, not ignore obstacles to 

 

87  LGiU, Photo voter ID in the UK? Should it be challenged?, May 2020 

Page 79



 

 

Voter ID 

42 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

providing identification, and rely on proportional safeguards to 
address risks that are real, not overstated. 

Equality and Human Rights Commission 

The EHRC wrote the Cabinet Office in April 2018 expressing its concerns about 
the effect on voters with protected characteristics: 

In essence, there is a concern that some voters will be 
disenfranchised as a result of restrictive identification requirements 
potentially leading to violations of Article 1 Protocol 1 of the 
European Convention on Human Rights, as incorporated into 
domestic law by the Human Rights Act 1998. 88  

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) also demanded to know 
how the Cabinet Office had fulfilled its Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) 
under the Equality Act 2010 in taking forward the pilots and in how would 
subsequently assess them. 

The Cabinet Officer Minister, Chloe Smith, replied to the EHRC saying: 

I am satisfied that these have been specifically raised and 
considered from early in the development of the pilots.  Each local 
authority has completed an equality impact assessment, which has 
been subject to expert and detailed scrutiny from Cabinet Office, the 
Electoral Commission and the Association of Electoral 
Administrators. The authorities are building on their expertise and 
local knowledge and engaging with local groups to take into account 
the needs of all of their respective electorates. 89  

The EHRC again wrote to the Cabinet Office. The letter, dated 14 May 2018, 
acknowledged the work done by the local authorities but stated that it 
believed the Government could have gone further in undertaking its public 
sector equality duty in relation to the pilots. The letter said: 

I infer from your letter that the analysis of the potential impact of the 
scheme on persons with protected characteristics in a national 
context was not conducted by the Cabinet Office prior to the 
introduction of the pilot scheme.  

The EHRC letter went on to say: 

earlier conduct of an equality impact assessment would have 
ensured delivery of the Government’s objectives (as you have set 

 

88  Letter from the Equality and Human Rights Commission to the Cabinet Office, 11 April 2018 
89  Deposited paper DEP2018-0393, Letter dated 23/04/2018 from Chloe Smith MP to David Isaac, 

Equality and Human Rights Commission, regarding the voter identification (ID) pilot scheme running 
in five local authority elections on 3 May 2018 (PDF). 

Page 80

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/letter-from-the-equality-human-rights-commission-to-the-cabinet-office
http://data.parliament.uk/DepositedPapers/Files/DEP2018-0393/Letter_to_David_Isaac_CBE__2_.pdf
http://data.parliament.uk/DepositedPapers/Files/DEP2018-0393/Letter_to_David_Isaac_CBE__2_.pdf
http://data.parliament.uk/DepositedPapers/Files/DEP2018-0393/Letter_to_David_Isaac_CBE__2_.pdf


 

 

Voter ID 

43 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

them out) and would have built confidence by doing so 
demonstrably. 90  

A further reply from the Cabinet Office highlighted the work the Government 
are doing on increasing accessibility to elections in general. 91 

4.2 Opposition parties 

The Labour Party opposes the introduction of voter ID. Following press 
coverage that a Bill was due in 2021, the Labour Party renewed its opposition 
to the introduction of voter ID. Cat Smith, Labour's shadow minister for 
democracy, said:  

It doesn't matter how the Government dresses it up, these plans will 
make it harder for working class, older and black people to vote. 
Giving people a say at the ballot box helps make our democratic 
country what it is, and we must not do anything to undermine that. 92 

Mhairi Black, of the SNP, writing in February 2021, pointed to the cost of photo 
ID, with passport fees £85 and provisional driving licences £43, and was 
sceptical the promised free electoral identity card for those without ID would 
be created. She said “Elections should be inclusive and voter ID laws are, by 
their nature, exclusive”. 93 Kirsten Oswald, the SNP’s deputy leader at 
Westminister, said: 

There is a very real danger that many lower income, ethnic minority, 
and younger people will be prevented from voting to fix a problem 
that doesn’t exist. These laws are designed to suppress votes among 
groups that traditionally vote against the Tories. It’s a disgrace. 94 

Writing in the Independent, Alistair Carmichael, the Liberal Democrat 
spokesperson, also accused the Government of voter suppression and said: 

At first sight it looks like a modest proposal. The requirement for 
most people will be to produce a form of photo ID. For most people 
that will be a passport or a driving licence. For most people it will not 
be a barrier and therein lies the rub. To say that for "most people" it 
will not be a barrier to participation in the democratic process 
concedes the fact that for some people it will be. 95   

 

90  Letter from the Equality and Human Rights Commission to the Cabinet Office, 14 May 2018 
91  Letter from Chloe Smith MP to the Equality and Human Rights Commission, 16 May 2018 
92  Telegraph, Photo ID will be needed to vote from 2023; New legislation aims to crack down on polling 

station fraud, but critics brand plan 'dangerous', 18 February 2021 
93  The National, Mhairi Black: Why Tories’ voter ID plans remind me of bedroom tax, 20 February 2021 
94  Times, Resistance to voter ID requirement at Holyrood, 12 May 2021 (log in required) 
95  Independent, Boris Johnson’s voter ID proposals are nothing more than suppression under a different 

name, 11 May 2021 

Page 81

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/letter-from-the-equality-and-human-rights-commission-to-the-cabinet-office-14-may-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/letter-from-chloe-smith-mp-to-the-equality-and-human-rights-commission-16-may-2018
https://www.thenational.scot/news/19105380.mhairi-black-tories-voter-id-plans-remind-bedroom-tax/
https://www.independent.co.uk/voices/voter-id-queens-speech-boris-johnson-b1845784.html?utm_source=Dr+Mark+Pack%27s+Liberal+Democrat+Newswire&utm_campaign=79e84e88e7-MAILCHIMP&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_0ff3c09d5e-79e84e88e7-312777201
https://www.independent.co.uk/voices/voter-id-queens-speech-boris-johnson-b1845784.html?utm_source=Dr+Mark+Pack%27s+Liberal+Democrat+Newswire&utm_campaign=79e84e88e7-MAILCHIMP&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_0ff3c09d5e-79e84e88e7-312777201


 

 

Voter ID 

44 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

The Government proposals are also facing criticism from some members of 
the Conservative Party. David Davis, a former Conservative minister, has 
described the voter ID policy as an ‘illiberal solution for a non-existent 
problem’. 96 Ruth Davidson, former leader of the Scottish Conservatives, said 
in an interview, “I think it’s trying to give a solution to a problem that doesn’t 
exist, and that makes it politics as performance.” 97 

4.3 Academics 

The need for the pilots was also been questioned by some academics. Dr 
Stuart Wilks-Heeg, who has written extensively on issues concerning electoral 
integrity and is also a trustree of Democratic Audit, echoed the sentiment that 
voter ID is a “solution in search of a problem” in terms of the number of cases. 
He also argues that postal votes are more open to abuse, saying: 

the main reason to be sceptical that voter ID can prevent further 
instances of electoral fraud in Great Britain is that recent convictions 
for voting offences have overwhelmingly related to postal votes, not 
personation at polling stations.  

However, he does also acknowledge: 

Certainly, the absence of voter ID at polling stations is an obvious 
vulnerability. Fraud could also shift to polling stations as voter 
registration and postal voting safeguards become more robust. 98 

This is a concern shared by the Electoral Commission and it makes the same 
point in its 2014 report on electoral fraud. 99 

Dr Toby James, a Senior Lecturer at the University of East Anglia, has argued 
that administrative reforms in one area displace reforms in another area. He 
has highlighted research, including the Electoral Commission’s own research, 
that shows millions of eligible voters are missing from the electoral register.  

He contests reforms to the electoral registration process to ensure a more 
complete electoral register are more pressing than voter ID reforms. 100 He has 
also conducted research, with Dr Alistair Clark that suggest people being 
turned away for not being registered is a much bigger problem than 

 

96  Independent, Boris Johnson’s voter ID plans ‘illiberal solution for non-existent problem’, says senior 
Tory, 9 May 2021 

97  Times, Former Scottish Conservatives leader Ruth Davidson lashes out at voter ID plans, 13 May 2021 
(log in required) 

98  Stuart Wilks-Heeg, Manchester Policy blog, Voter ID at British Polling Stations – Learning the Right 
Lessons from Northern Ireland, 1 March 2018 

99  Electoral Commission, Electoral fraud in the UK Final report and recommendations (PDF), January 
2014, p5 

100 Toby James, Democratic Audit blog, Voter ID is a risky reform when 8m people are already missing 
from the electoral register 

Page 82

https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/politics/boris-johnson-voter-id-queen-speech-b1843891.html
https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/politics/boris-johnson-voter-id-queen-speech-b1843891.html
https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/former-scottish-conservatives-leader-ruth-davidson-lashes-out-at-voter-id-plans-mzbwlndsv
http://blog.policy.manchester.ac.uk/posts/2018/03/voter-id-at-british-polling-stations-learning-the-right-lessons-from-northern-ireland/
http://blog.policy.manchester.ac.uk/posts/2018/03/voter-id-at-british-polling-stations-learning-the-right-lessons-from-northern-ireland/
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/164609/Electoral-fraud-review-final-report.pdf
http://www.democraticaudit.com/2016/12/28/voter-id-is-a-risky-reform-when-8m-people-are-already-missing-from-the-electoral-register/
http://www.democraticaudit.com/2016/12/28/voter-id-is-a-risky-reform-when-8m-people-are-already-missing-from-the-electoral-register/


 

 

Voter ID 

45 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

suspected fraud in polling stations. The evidence was presented to the Public 
Administration and Constitutional Affairs Committee inquiry on electoral law 
(see below).  

4.4 Electoral administrators 

The Association of Electoral Administrators (AEA), which believes the 
introduction of a voter ID scheme is a matter for the Government, warns any 
scheme needs “careful consideration”. Its Chief Executive has, like others, 
warned the introduction should not negatively impact on those wishing to 
vote and also warns that time is needed to ensure success of the proposals, 
saying: 

Sufficient lead-in time for legislation, administrative planning, delivery, & 
voter education is vital to ensure any scheme is successful. 101 

The AEA has also previously warned that a voter ID scheme should not be 
rolled for the first time during a general election as higher turnout and higher 
levels of last-minute voter registration would cause significant administrative 
challenges. 102  

4.5 Parliamentary proceedings 

Urgent questions 
In the run up to the 2018 voter ID pilots, the Labour Party asked an urgent 
question. Cat Smith, the then Shadow Minister for Voter Engagement, raised 
the issue of whether the voter ID requirement would have a disproportionate 
impact on certain groups of voters, the issue raised by the Equality and 
Human Rights Commission (EHRC). 103 

Labour also asked another urgent question in advance of the 2019 pilots. 104 

Westminster Hall debates 
Ellie Reeves led a Westminster Hall debate in June 2018 following the 2018 
pilots. 105 

 

101 @AEA_elections, 23 June 2021 
102 AEA statement on the Electoral Commission report on evaluation of Voter ID pilots (PDF), July 2019 
103 HC Deb 23 April 2018 [Voter ID Pilots], c605-18 
104 HC Deb 10 April 2019 [Voter ID Pilots], c332-42 
105 HC Deb 6 June 2018 [Voter ID Pilot Schemes], c179-96WH 

Page 83

https://twitter.com/AEA_Elections/status/1407684585643810819
https://www.aea-elections.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/aea-statement-ec-voter-id-report-july-2019.pdf
https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2018-04-23/debates/D9007576-1312-4F35-B4CC-74ABA580327B/VoterIDPilots
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Commons/2019-04-10/debates/FE8C3BBE-52D5-4F21-BE08-DD6620E722CA/VoterIDPilots
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Commons/2018-06-06/debates/10F26E8E-D4D1-4CDB-972A-EC902044F8EF/VoterIDPilotSchemes


 

 

Voter ID 

46 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

Committees 

Public Administration and Constitutional Affairs Committee 

In November 2019, the House of Commons Public Administration and 
Constitutional Affairs Committee published its report Electoral Law: The 
Urgent Need for Review. 106 

Section 3 of the report examined electoral fraud and the UK Government’s 
plan to improve electoral integrity, including voter ID. The Committee noted 
that “Voter ID was the most controversial part of our inquiry, we received 
submissions both strongly in favour and resolutely opposed”. 107 

Academic witnesses gave evidence to the Committee’s inquiry that reiterated 
the view that voter ID was not a problem that needed solving in the UK.  

Dr Stuart Wilks-Heeg and Professor Maria Sobolewska expressed the view to 
the Committee that it was “difficult to square the government’s sole focus on 
voter ID with the wider evidence of threats to electoral integrity in the UK”, 
explaining that allegations of personation “accounted for a total of 178 cases 
alleging from 2010–18, with a peak of 44 cases in 2016” and the number of 
convictions for personation “could be counted on one hand”. 108 

Dr Toby James and Dr Alistair Clark referenced their survey of polling station 
staff from the 2018 elections. 109 Their survey of over 2,200 polling station staff 
across 42 local authorities in England found the most widespread problem 
was voters being turned away from polling stations because their name was 
not on the electoral register. Over half (52%) turned away at least one voter. 
In contrast only 1% suspected fraud had taken place and, according to the 
authors, implied that it might have been through administrative error rather 
than deliberate manipulation. 110 

The Minister again argued the Government’s view that voters who did not 
have photographic ID would be able to access a free of charge Electoral 
Identity Card, based on the Northern Ireland model. When pushed on the 
estimated costs of the scheme the Minister, Kevin Foster said, “We will 
obviously work with stakeholders as to what will be the final cost of it. We can 
certainly write with details to the Committee when that is available.” He 
added, when asked it could be in the region of £20 million, that was “not a 
figure I recognise”. 111 

The Committee report concluded: 

 

106 Public Administration and Constitutional Affairs Committee, Electoral Law: The Urgent Need for 
Review, 1 November 2019 (PDF), HC 244/2019 

107 As above, p17 
108 As above, p18 
109 As above, p18 
110 Toby James and Alistair Clark, Voter ID: our first results suggest local election pilot was unnecessary 

and ineffective, August 2018 
111 Oral evidence session 21 October 2019, Q342 

Page 84

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201920/cmselect/cmpubadm/244/244.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201920/cmselect/cmpubadm/244/244.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201919/cmselect/cmpubadm/244/244.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201919/cmselect/cmpubadm/244/244.pdf
https://theconversation.com/voter-id-our-first-results-suggest-local-election-pilot-was-unnecessary-and-ineffective-100859
https://theconversation.com/voter-id-our-first-results-suggest-local-election-pilot-was-unnecessary-and-ineffective-100859
http://data.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/committeeevidence.svc/evidencedocument/public-administration-and-constitutional-affairs-committee/electoral-law/oral/106515.html


 

 

Voter ID 

47 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

It is essential that voters are able to have confidence in the integrity 
of UK elections, which voter ID can support but there is a lack of 
robust evidence about the potential effect of voter ID on particular 
demographics. Furthermore, in the absence of information on the 
potential cost of voter ID, it is impossible to evaluate the value for 
money of introducing such requirements. In the absence of such 
information, voter ID is something over which the Government should 
exercise extreme caution over proceeding with. We recommend that 
the Government should continue with voter ID pilots to provide a 
greater evidence base on the impacts of voter ID on particular 
demographics and the likely cost of the national roll-out of voter 
ID. 112 

Lords Select Committee on the Electoral Registration 
and Administration Act 2013 
The House of Lords Select Committee on the Electoral Registration and 
Administration Act 2013 heard similar evidence. It did not take a view on the 
merits of voter ID but the Committee’s key conclusions on voter ID were: 

• The Government must ensure that its implementation does not 
compromise the completeness and accuracy of the registers and that the 
policy is implemented fairly; 
 

• Given that general election turnout is significantly higher than at local 
elections the Committee strongly recommend that the first roll-out of 
voter ID requirements should be at local elections and that a thorough 
evaluation be carried out so that any necessary adjustments can be 
made before voter ID is used at a general election; 
 

• The Government must publish greater detail around staffing, cost and 
funding arrangements for introducing voter ID, and plans for raising 
public awareness before any legislation for voter ID is introduced to 
Parliament and ensure that any roll-out allows time for devolved 
administrations and Local Authorities to prepare fully; 
 

• Local elector cards will be crucial to ensuring that voter ID does not 
deter or prevent any eligible elector from voting. In this case, the 
Government must clarify how local elector cards will be funded and how 
it will ensure that local elector cards are easily accessible for everyone 
who needs one; 
 

 

112 Public Administration and Constitutional Affairs Committee, Electoral Law: The Urgent Need for 
Review, 1 November 2019 (PDF), HC 244/2019, pp20-1 

Page 85

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201919/cmselect/cmpubadm/244/244.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201919/cmselect/cmpubadm/244/244.pdf


 

 

Voter ID 

48 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

• The Government must take measures to mitigate the risk of a reduction 
in turnout, particularly among BAME groups, young people and students, 
disabled people and some older people. This could include allowing for 
local elector cards to be issued on polling day for those with inadequate 
ID. The Government, working with Local Authorities, should also ensure 
that the introduction of mandatory ID is heavily publicised at local and 
national level and that there is appropriate outreach to groups who are 
less likely to engage in the democratic process and so who may be 
unaware of the requirement. 113  

Joint Committee on Human Rights 
The Joint Committee on Human Rights held two evidence sessions after the 
announcement of the Bill in the Queen’s Speech and before the details of the 
Bill had been published.  

Witnesses again highlighted that personation was rare. Dr Toby James told 
the Committee:  

From our poll worker studies, one of the most frequent problems is 
people turning up wanting to vote, and not being able to because 
their name is not on the electoral register. That is the most common 
way in which people are not able to vote. 114 

The Electoral Reform Society told the Committee argued that it was 
“implausible” that if large scale polling station fraud was taking place it 
could be going on undetected. 115 

Operation Black Vote highlighted the impact on some BAME voters. Some 
minority groups are already distrustful of public authorities and mistrust in 
Government institutions. It cited vaccine hesitancy during the Covid vaccine 
rollout and reluctance to register to vote. For those who need to apply for ID 
in order to vote OBV expressed concern: 

if there is another layer of bureaucracy it will be another impediment 
for a group that is already hesitant about fully engaging in the 
democratic process. 116 

The Electoral Commission also gave evidence. The Committee questioned the 
Commission on why it had previously recommended voter ID given the 
concerns that were now being expressed about access to the right to vote. 

 

113 Select Committee on the Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013, An electoral system fit 
for today? More to be done, 8 July 2020, HL Paper 83, Chapter 5 

114 Joint Committee on Human Rights Oral evidence: Legislative Scrutiny: Electoral Integrity Bill, HC 223, 
21 May 2021, Q6 

115 As above, Q1 
116 As above, Q2 

Page 86

https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/1792/documents/18271/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/1792/documents/18271/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/2270/html/


 

 

Voter ID 

49 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

The Commission reiterated its view that polling stations were open to the 
possible vulnerability of voter fraud and “we do not think it is acceptable to 
ignore the vulnerability at polling stations”. 117  

However, the Commission also restated its view, expressed after evaluating 
the 2019 voter ID pilots, that if Parliament decides that voter ID is to be 
introduced it must be done in a way that answers the Commission’s concerns.   

Making a change in introducing voter ID has to improve security; it 
has to maintain complete accessibility to the system; and it has to be 
a workable, practical system. Those are the three tests. We have not 
for one moment suggested that those tests have been passed. 118 

The Joint Committee’s final report was published on 2 September 2021. It 
called on the Government to produce clear research setting out whether 
mandatory ID at the polling station could create barriers to taking part in 
elections for some groups and how they plan to mitigate this risk effectively. 119  

It criticised the Cabinet Office for not fully understanding the potential 
discriminatory impacts on some groups of voters, saying: 

 It is regrettable that neither the Cabinet Office research nor the 
Government’s Equality Impact Assessment consider whether a voter 
ID requirement would disproportionately dissuade members of 
certain communities from voting.120 

4.6 Government responses 

The Government responded to the reports of the Public Administration and 
Constitutional Affairs Committee and the House of Lords Committee. It 
repeated the finding of its evaluation that no consistent demographic group 
was adversely affected by the voter ID models and that the pilots were a 
success. 

On the merits of voter ID, it reiterated its view that: 

• Potential for electoral fraud exists and the perception of this undermines 
public confidence in democracy; 
 

• That although incidence of voter fraud may be low its impact can be 
significant and takes away a voter’s right to vote as they want; 

 

117 Joint Committee on Human Rights Oral evidence: Legislative Scrutiny: Electoral Integrity Bill, HC 223, 
21 May 2021, Q9 

118 As above, Q10 
119 Joint Committee on Human Rights, Legislative Scrutiny: Elections Bill, HC 233 HL Paper 58, 2 

September 2021, 
120 As above, p19 

Page 87

https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/2271/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/7096/documents/74960/default/


 

 

Voter ID 

50 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

 
• ID requirements for everyday activities, such as picking up a parcel, is 

something people from all backgrounds do already and voting should be 
no different; and 

• That voter ID does not have a negative effect on election turnout or 
participation. 121 

On some of the specific recommendations made by the House of Lords 
Committee the Government responded: 

• That there was no evidence that voter ID would impact on the 
completeness and accuracy of electoral registers; 
 

• Cost details, including on public awareness, were still being worked out 
and would be published alongside planned legislation to roll-out the 
policy; 
 

• Strong awareness raising campaigns and targeted communications will 
help ensure that any voter without one of the forms of required ID will 
know how to apply for a local issued form of voter ID from their local 
authority. Funding for the additional cost of producing locally issued 
elector identity documents will be provided by the Government; 
 

• The Government will continue to consult with a broad range of civil 
society groups, keeping accessibility and Public Sector Equality Duty 
compliance. 

The Government did not specifically commit to rolling out the voter ID 
requirements at local elections in England. It said as a result of the pilot 
testing: 

The Cabinet Office and Electoral Commission will continue to build 
on the solid evidence from the pilots and evaluations, and continue 
to work with local authorities to develop and provide the support 
needed by Returning Officers to ensure the successful 
implementation nationally of voter ID. 122 

However, press reports suggest that the requirement will be in place for local 
elections in England in May 2023. 123 

 

121 Electoral law: The Urgent Need for Review: Government Response to the Committee’s First Report of 
Session 2019, 15 May 2020, HC 327/2019-21, pp8-9 

122 Correspondence, Chloe Smith to Lord Shutt, Government response to report: An electoral system fit 
for today? More to be done, 7 October 2020 

123 Telegraph, Photo ID will be needed to vote from 2023;New legislation aims to crack down on polling 
station fraud, but critics brand plan 'dangerous', 18 February 2021 

Page 88

https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/1095/documents/9264/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/1095/documents/9264/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/2876/documents/27896/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/2876/documents/27896/default/


 

 

Voter ID 

51 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

5 Elections Act 2022 

The Elections Act 2022 received Royal Assent on 28 April 2022.  

Section 1 of the Act makes provisions for the introduction of photographic ID 
for UK Parliament elections, police and crime commissioner elections in 
England and Wales, and local elections in England. It does this by giving 
effect to schedule 1 of the Act, which includes the necessary amendments to 
existing election law to introduce voter ID.  

The Government has indicated voter ID requirements for photo will be in place 
in time for local elections in England in May 2023.124  

The permitted photo documents are listed in the Act (in schedule 1). These will 
be: 

• A UK, Commonwealth or EEA passport; 
 

• A UK (DVLA or DVA Northern Ireland), Channel Islands, Isle of Man or an 
EEA driving licence; 
 

• A biometric immigration document issued in accordance with regulations 
under section 5 of the UK Borders Act 2007; 
 

• A PASS card issued by the National Proof of Age Standards Scheme 
bearing the PASS hologram; 
 

• An MOD Defence Identity Card; 
 

• A concessionary photo travel pass from Oyster 60+, a Freedom Pass, or a 
concessionary travel pass from a scheme funded by the Government of 
the United Kingdom, the Scottish Government or the Welsh Government; 
 

• Northern Ireland Concessionary Fares Scheme cards: 

– Senior SmartPass; 
– Registered Blind SmartPass or Blind Person’s 35 SmartPass; 
– War Disablement SmartPass or War Disabled SmartPass; 
– A 60+ SmartPass;  

 

124  Elections Bill 2021-22 Impact Assessment (PDF), p25 

Page 89

https://bills.parliament.uk/publications/44886/documents/1304


 

 

Voter ID 

52 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

– A Half Fare SmartPass; 

• A Blue Badge scheme card issued in Great Britain or Northern Ireland; 
 

• A free voter card issued by a person’s local electoral registration officer 
(the new photographic voter ID card to be introduced by the Act) or an 
existing Northern Ireland voter ID card;  
 

• A national identity card issued by an EEA state 

The new free voter card will be called a Voter Authority Certificate (VAC). 
Local authority elections teams will be responsible for issuing the VAC. Voters 
will be able to apply either in person, by post or online. The card must contain 
the elector’s full name (or elector number if they are registered anonymously) 
and a photo. No charge can be made for the card. These are likely to be 
available from early in 2023. 

If an approved identification document has expired it will still be accepted as 
long as the photograph is still a good likeness. 

The list of documents can be altered by secondary legislation if approved by 
Parliament. Forms of ID on the list can only be removed if the Electoral 
Commission has recommended this and approved by Parliament.  

The Act also makes amendments to the prescribed questions and tendered 
ballots process to reflect the new procedures for presenting photo ID. 

If ID appears to be fake the voter will be refused a ballot paper. The decision 
is a matter for the presiding officer in the polling station.  

If a voter returns with different ID having already been refused a ballot, they 
may request a ballot paper. The new provisions ensure that an elector would 
not be treated as having committed any offence related to trying to obtain 
multiple ballots if they make another attempt to vote because they had been 
refused a ballot paper. 

If the issue is a discrepancy relating to the name of the voter, the voter can 
produce further proof of identity to satisfy the presiding officer that they are 
the elector. This might arise, for example as the result of a name change after 
marriage.125

Passage of the Elections Bill 
The Commons Library briefing on the Bill, Elections Bill 2021-22 (CBP 9304), 
provides background and Elections Bill 2021-22: Progress of the Bill (CBP 9421) 
describes the debate on the Bill as it went through its various stages in 
Parliament. 

 

125 Elections Bill 2021-22 Explanatory Notes (PDF), p56-8 

Page 90

https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-9304/
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-9421/
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0138/en/210138en.pdf


 

 

Voter ID 

53 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

During the passage of the Bill, opposition to the provisions on voter ID 
mirrored the arguments made in response to the voter ID pilots. During report 
stage in the Commons a Labour amendment to remove the voter ID provisions 
from the Bill was rejected 327 votes to 234. 

During the Lords stages of the Bill probing amendments from Baroness 
Hayman of Ullock (Labour) were debated. These focused on the costs of 
implementing the voter ID policy and on the impact on voter turnout.126 

Debate on whether to include the provisions in the Bill (known as a stand part 
debate) was wide ranging and covered similar themes to those covered at 
other stages of the Bill, particularly proportionality of the measure in relation 
to personation, access to voter ID and the impact on turnout. The unamended 
clause was agreed without a division.127 

The Government rejected calls for a method of another voter attesting to 
someone without necessary identification’s identity in a polling station 
(amendment 78) as being vulnerable to fraud. Amendments to require 
returning officers to record the number of voters turned away because they 
did not have the required ID were rejected by the Government as it said this 
information would be required by the detailed secondary regulations that 
would follow the passing of the Bill.128 

At report stage in the Lords, Lord Woolley of Woodford (Crossbench) tabled 
an amendment to leave out clause 1 and its associated schedule. Other 
amendments sought to vary the list of allowable ID to include polling cards 
and other non-photographic forms of ID. Lord Woolley and others argued that 
the Conservative Party manifesto had talked of voter ID and not specifically of 
photographic voter ID.129 

Lord Willetts (Conservative) moved an amendment to schedule 1 that 
included a wide range of non-photographic ID, including birth certificates, 
council tax bills, national insurance cards, library cards and workplace ID 
cards. He argued it was consistent with the Conservative manifesto 
commitment and pushed his amendment to a vote, saying:  

this is still an enormous and expensive measure of red tape to solve a 
problem that no one insists is a serious issue in the British electoral 
system.130 

The Government opposed the amendment saying the list of documents 
included in the amendment did not provide either the required security or, for 

 

126 HL Deb 17 March 2022 [Elections Bill], c535-70 
127 HL Deb 21 March 2022 [Elections Bill], c653-89 
128 HL Deb 21 March 2022 [Elections Bill], c708-13 
129 HL Deb 6 April 2022 [Elections Bill], c2092-113 
130 HL Deb 6 April 2022 [Elections Bill], c2113 

Page 91

https://guidetoprocedure.parliament.uk/collections/lAZNrqZd/submitting-amendments
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Lords/2022-03-17/debates/4EDAC802-3527-4718-9E7E-4F6A773ADFAF/ElectionsBill#contribution-E12942AF-CC48-4BCD-95CB-9520EB4B50D6
https://hansard.parliament.uk/lords/2022-03-21/debates/FEF7648C-65A8-4110-8907-3EA250359BA8/ElectionsBill
https://hansard.parliament.uk/lords/2022-03-21/debates/FEF7648C-65A8-4110-8907-3EA250359BA8/ElectionsBill#contribution-D3872CC0-0A26-4613-9FDF-34AC31E2E76C
https://hansard.parliament.uk/lords/2022-04-06/debates/9973D507-1A02-48EB-BAC6-C48ED638908C/ElectionsBill#contribution-6DCDD323-D5D4-4E39-93D3-E932C0EB04D6
https://hansard.parliament.uk/lords/2022-04-06/debates/9973D507-1A02-48EB-BAC6-C48ED638908C/ElectionsBill#contribution-518B7192-7598-4EAA-9BD3-77EF34ACF734


 

 

Voter ID 

54 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

those without a photograph, the required proof that the person was who they 
said.131 

However, Lord Willett’s amendment was agreed to on a vote by 199 votes to 
170.132 

The House of Commons considered Lords amendments to the Bill on 
Wednesday 27 April 2022. The Government successfully overturned the defeat 
it had suffered in the Lords on the Willett’s amendment on a vote, 306 votes 
to 213, and the original list of types of photographic ID in the Bill was 
restored.133 

Policy paper – January 2022 
Detailed regulations will made about the application process for the free 
voter ID card in secondary legislation now the Act has been passed. These will 
include deadlines for applying before elections and required information on 
an application. 

In January 2022 the Government issued a policy paper to provide more 
information about how the new requirements will work, and on the 
application and rollout process.134 Work is ongoing to understand the 
implications for those registered as anonymous electors.  

Types of existing ID 

The Government provided additional information on the forms of existing ID 
included in the approved list. It assessed the security levels of various ID 
documents.  

Railcards were ruled out because the Government concluded they were not 
sufficiently secure. The same applied to 18+ student Oyster card issued by 
Transport for London. The documentary evidence to apply for such cards was 
not as rigorous or secure as other forms of ID. 

The paper noted the security provisions for 60+ Oyster card and Freedom Pass 
and Blue Badge cards were the second highest level of the four levels. These 
were included in the list in the Elections Act to support accessibility to ID for 
two of the groups that may have less access to ID.  

Passes produced by professional and educational organisations were ruled 
out as many organisations produce them and it would be possible for 
fraudulent passes to be created. The paper noted, however, some student 

 

131  HL Deb 6 April 2022[Elections Bill], c2110-1 
132 Elections Bill: Division 1: held on Wednesday 6 April 2022 
133 As above 
134 Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities, Protecting the integrity of our elections: Voter 

identification at polling stations and the new Voter Card, 6 January 2022  

Page 92

https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2022-04-27/debates/219DACED-AF3E-47DD-86EE-31E134FEB805/ElectionsBill
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/voter-identification-at-polling-stations-and-the-new-voter-card/protecting-the-integrity-of-our-elections-voter-identification-at-polling-stations-and-the-new-voter-card
https://www.railcard.co.uk/?gclid=EAIaIQobChMIgr27jZi09gIV2e7tCh0KIQXsEAAYASAAEgKfFPD_BwE&gclsrc=aw.ds
https://hansard.parliament.uk/lords/2022-04-06/debates/9973D507-1A02-48EB-BAC6-C48ED638908C/ElectionsBill#contribution-63BB9FF8-38AE-4E82-B8DC-B30EED5C5C32
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Lords/2022-04-06/division/0BF93962-6C4D-4A09-AC45-A543D25C6F3B/ElectionsBill?outputType=Names
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/voter-identification-at-polling-stations-and-the-new-voter-card/protecting-the-integrity-of-our-elections-voter-identification-at-polling-stations-and-the-new-voter-card
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/voter-identification-at-polling-stations-and-the-new-voter-card/protecting-the-integrity-of-our-elections-voter-identification-at-polling-stations-and-the-new-voter-card


 

 

Voter ID 

55 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

cards are PASS accredited, and so would be accepted (for example the 
National Union of Students ‘TOTUM’ student card). 

The Voter Card 

The policy paper gave more information on the likely operation of the free 
voter ID card to be made available by local councils. The Government have 
called these the Voter Card. 

Applications will be possible online. The Government intends to introduce a 
dedicated online system, like the Register to Vote service. This will include a 
function to upload a photograph as part of the application. The Government 
has committed to working with disability charities and civil society 
organisations to ensure the process is as accessible as possible.  

Postal applications will be possible. Those applying by post will be able to 
include a photograph in the return envelope.  

Electors will also be able to apply for a Voter Card in person, though local 
authorities will be allowed to determine their own approach to this. 

Voter Cards are likely to be valid for 10 years and will show the elector’s name 
and photograph, the local authority that issued the card, and a card number. 
The Government has chosen to exclude dates of birth as the card is not 
intended to be used for demonstrating proof of age. The Government says this 
is “consistent with the fact we have always been clear that this policy will not 
introduce a national identity card by the back door”.135 

The Government is working with stakeholders and the electoral sector to 
identify the most appropriate deadline for applying for a card ahead of an 
election. The Government hopes this will be the day before a poll. The policy 
paper says: 

If it is not possible to produce a ‘permanent’ Voter Card in time for a 
poll, EROs will be able to print Temporary Voter Cards as an interim 
measure. These will be used in the same way as a ‘permanent’ Voter 
Card, except that a Temporary Voter Card will only be valid for the 
day of the poll (this will be an exception to the general position that 
identity documents will remain valid for voting if the likeness of the 
photograph remains good).136 

 

 

135 As above, section 4 
136 As above, section 4 

Page 93

https://www.gov.uk/register-to-vote


 

 

Voter ID 

56 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

6 Access to ID 

6.1 Existing photo ID 

Electoral Commission research 
The Electoral Commission research of a possible photo ID scheme, published 
in 2014 (see section 2.1), estimated the number of people who would have one 
of the forms of photo ID it recommended was around 92.5% of the electorate. 
This included driving licences, passports and other cards such as proof of Age 
Standards Scheme (PASS) cards, military identification cards, police 
identification cards and firearms licences. 

In an electorate of approximately 46 million this would leave almost 3.5 
million voters without suitable ID. The Commission estimated that limiting the 
acceptable form of ID to passports and photographic driving licences could 
potentially see almost a quarter of the electorate without acceptable photo 
ID. 137  

As previously noted, the Commission’s analysis also highlighted that access 
to some forms of photo ID varies. For example, older people are less likely to 
hold a passport and women under 20 and over 65 are less likely to hold a 
driving licence.  

Figures from the National Travel Survey show a variation in the proportion of 
people with a full driving licence. The data is aggregated into broad groups 
and shows 76% of White people have a full driving licence, but that figure 
drops to around 60% for Asian and mixed-race people and 50% for Black 
people. 138  

More recently, the Electoral Commission’s Public Opinion Tracker 2021, 
carried out in February 2021, found that 4% of people eligible to vote 
(equivalent to around 1.9m voters) did not have any of the existing forms of 
photo ID that may be required under Government proposals. This proportion 
was higher among more disadvantaged groups including the unemployed 
(11%); those renting from a local authority or housing association (12-13%); 
and people with a disability (8%). Note that these estimates are based on 
survey data, while the research discussed above used a range of sources to 
estimate access to photo ID.  

 

137 As above, p17-8 
138 Gov.uk Ethnicity facts and figures, Driving licences, 16 December 2020 

Page 94

https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/sites/default/files/pdf_file/Proof-of-identity-scheme-updated-March-2016.pdf
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/who-we-are-and-what-we-do/our-views-and-research/our-research/public-attitudes
https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/culture-and-community/transport/driving-licences/latest#by-ethnicity-over-time


 

 

Voter ID 

57 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

Cabinet Office research 
In May 2021, the Cabinet Office published research on access to photo ID. It 
had commissioned research to establish how many people have access to at 
least one of the forms of photographic ID currently being considered for the 
voter ID requirement. A nationally representative survey of 8,500 respondents 
in England, Wales and Scotland carried out in early 2021 estimated that: 

• 98% of people eligible to vote held some form of photo ID.  
Data on the number of people eligible to vote is not publicly available, 
but if the same proportion holds across the entire population, this 
suggests approximately 1.3 million people do not hold any form of photo 
ID; 139 alternatively, if this proportion is the same for voters, then around 
925,000 voters do not hold any form of photo ID. 140  

 
• 96% held a photo ID with a recognisable picture.  

Assuming this proportion is the same for the overall population and 
voters, this suggests approximately 2.6 million people, or 1.9 million 
voters do not hold a recognisable photo ID; 
 

• 91% held a photo ID that was in-date and had a recognisable picture. 
Assuming this proportion is the same for the overall population and 
voters, this suggests that approximately 5.8 million people or 4.2 million 
voters do not have a photo ID that is in date and recognisable. 141 

The Cabinet Office research found that passports were the most common 
form of ID (91%), followed by driving licences (81%). These figures are higher 
than other sources suggest: ONS analysis of the 2011 Census found that 83% 
of the usually resident population of England and Wales held a passport, 
while the Department for Transport’s National Travel Survey for England 
suggests that 75% of residents aged over 17 held a driving licence in 2019. 
Note however, that the populations measured in these sources are different, 
covering only England or England and Wales, and including all residents 
rather than the voting eligible population only.  

The Cabinet Office research further found that most people (85%) held more 
than one form of photo ID, with 13% holding only one form of photo ID. Only 
two percent of respondents only held a travel pass or other ID (i.e. did not 
hold a passport or driving licence).  

The table below shows the subgroups in different categories that were least 
likely to hold a form of photo ID: for example, in the age category, those over 
 

139 ONS, Great Britain population mid-year estimate, 2019, June 2021: the GB population was 64.9m in 
June 2019 

140 ONS, Electoral Statistics, UK: March 2020, January 2021: the GB electorate was 46.3m in March 2020 
141 Note that not everyone resident in the UK is eligible to vote, and these figures are based on 

population estimates, rather than electorates. This is because the Cabinet Office survey was designed 
to be representative of the population rather than voters 

Page 95

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/voter-identification-photographic-id-ownership-in-great-britain
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20160107124139/http:/www.ons.gov.uk/ons/dcp171776_310441.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/906276/national-travel-survey-2019.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/timeseries/gbpop/pop
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/elections/electoralregistration/bulletins/electoralstatisticsforuk/march2020#:%7E:text=The%20total%20number%20of%20UK%20Parliamentary%20electoral%20registrations%20in%20March,increased%20by%20484%2C000%20(1.0%25).


 

 

Voter ID 

58 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

85 were less likely to hold a photo ID with a recognisable picture than other 
age groups. 

 

 

6.2 Voter ID cards 

The Elections Act will introduce a voter ID requirement will include provisions 
for a free voter ID card for those without acceptable ID. See section 5 above 
for more information on the expected application process for the card. 

The Cabinet Office’s research found that among people without any photo ID, 
42% said they were unlikely or very unlikely to apply for such a card, while 
43% said they were likely or very likely to do so. Among people with a photo 
ID that was not recognisable, 50% were likely or very likely to apply for a 
voter ID card, compared with 30% of those with recognisable IDs.  

For comparison, the Electoral Commission’s opinion tracker found that 
among people without any photo ID, 60% said they would probably or 
definitely apply to get a local ID card, while 23% were unsure and 17% said 
they would probably or definitely not apply.  

6.3 Attitudes to voter ID 

The Electoral Commission’s evaluation of the 2019 pilots, noted above, found 
90% of people in the pilot scheme said it made no difference or made them 
more likely to vote if required to show ID. A notable minority said it made 
them less likely to vote (3%), they didn’t have ID (1%) or that they didn’t know 

 
Source: Cabinet Office, Photographic ID research: headline findings report, 11 May 2021 

Groups least likely to have photo ID

Access to any ID
Access to 

recognisable ID
Age: 85+ 91%
Ethnicity: White 98%
People with a disability 94%
Unemployed people 92%
Education: People without qualifications 94%
Non-voters 96%
Region:
  West Midlands 96%
  South West 97%
  Yorkshire & Humber 97%

Page 96

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/voter-identification-photographic-id-ownership-in-great-britain
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/who-we-are-and-what-we-do/our-views-and-research/our-research/public-attitudes
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/984918/Photographic_ID_research-_headline_findings_report.pdf


 

 

Voter ID 

59 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

(6%). Non-voters in 2019 were more likely than voters to say they would be 
negatively affected or that they were unsure. 142 

Subsequent Cabinet Office research, published in May 2021, found that most 
people were equally likely to vote if they had to show ID (89%). While 5% said 
they were less likely to vote, another 5% said they were more likely to vote, 
and this increased to 8% among those who had not voted before. The Cabinet 
Office research found most people were equally likely to vote in person (89%) 
and felt the voter ID requirement would not make voting difficult (94%). 143 

The Cabinet Office research found negative attitudes towards the ID 
requirement were higher among people without any photo ID and those 
without recognisable photo ID, as shown in the table below.  

 

 

People with disabilities were more likely to say presenting photo ID would 
make them less likely to vote (7%) and vote in person (8%). These figures 
increased for people with more severe disabilities. 12% of respondents with a 
severely limiting disability said that having to present photo ID at the polling 
station would make voting difficult, compared with four per cent of those with 
no disability. 144 

Welsh Government consultation 2018 
The Welsh Government consulted on electoral reform for local government in 
Wales in 2018. It asked voters about voter ID. 145 One of the questions asked 
“Should electors attending a polling station be required to produce ID before 
they are allowed to vote? If so, what types of identification should be 
accepted?”.  

 

142 Electoral Commission, May 2019 voter identification pilot schemes, Impact on voters: experience 
143 Cabinet Office, Photographic ID research: headline findings report (PDF), 11 May 2021, p9 
144 As above, p10 
145 Welsh Government, Consultation – Summary responses, Electoral Reform in Local Government in 

Wales (PDF), April 2018  

 
Source: Cabinet Office, Photographic ID research: headline findings report 

Less likely 
to vote

Less likely 
to vote in 

person

Voting 
becomes 

difficult
Total 5% 6% 5%

No photo ID 27% 24% 39%
Unrecognisable ID 19% 19% 25%
Recognisable ID 4% 5%

Negative attitudes to voting with voter ID requirement

Page 97

https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/who-we-are-and-what-we-do/our-views-and-research/our-research/voter-identification-pilots/may-2019-voter-identification-pilot-schemes/impact-voters-experience
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/984918/Photographic_ID_research-_headline_findings_report.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2018-04/180526-summary-of-responses.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2018-04/180526-summary-of-responses.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/984918/Photographic_ID_research-_headline_findings_report.pdf


 

 

Voter ID 

60 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

The responses were divided along similar themes to those already mentioned. 
53% of the 673 responses to the principal consultation document expressed 
support for the principle, with 45% opposed.  

Those who agreed said it would add to the integrity and security of voting and 
reducing fraud. Some suggested there would not be a major issue as people 
were used to being asked to show identification to confirm their identity in a 
number of situations. The single most frequently cited types of identification 
that could be used were passports and driving licences.  

Those opposed suggested that there was currently little evidence of voter 
fraud in Wales and so an identification requirement was unnecessary. Some 
also pointed to concerns about access to photo ID for some, particularly 
younger voters if voting age was to be reduced, and some groups with less 
access to some documents, such as older or less affluent and Black, Asian 
and Minority Ethnic voters. Some respondents this could act as a deterrent to 
some of these groups participating. 

Some comments noted that voter identification pilots would take place in 
England and the outcomes should be considered. 146 

The Welsh Government did not include proposals for voter ID in subsequent 
legislation, Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021. 
 

 

 

146 As above, pp35-7 

Page 98

https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=26688


 

 

Voter ID 

61 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

7 What is personation? 

Personation is the technical term where someone votes pretending to be 
someone else.  

Personation is an offence under section 60 of the Representation of the People 
Act 1983 and applies to voting in person at a polling station, including as a 
proxy, or by postal vote. 

It is one of several offences of electoral fraud that can be termed a corrupt or 
illegal practice. Someone found guilty of personation could be subject to an 
unlimited fine and/or up to two years in prison. They could also additionally 
be disqualified from being registered and voting at any election for five years. 

Detecting personation is difficult unless voters are known to polling station 
staff. As noted above, the Electoral Commission’s 2014 report on electoral 
fraud noted “there are currently few checks available to prevent someone 
claiming to be an elector and voting in their name.” 147  

The only way polling station staff can challenge someone about their identity 
is to ask the prescribed statutory questions (see below). 

7.1 The prescribed questions 

Under certain circumstances polling station staff are allowed to ask the 
‘prescribed questions’ to a voter to confirm that the entry on the electoral 
register refers to the person asking for a ballot paper. 

This may occur if the polling station suspect the person of personation or if a 
candidate, election agent or polling agent present requires the questions to 
be asked. Polling agents are people appointed by a candidate and are 
allowed access to polling stations to observe the administration of the poll. 
One of the roles of polling agents is to detect personation.  

The different rules for different elections follow the same format. The 
questions to be asked in a Parliamentary election to a voter in a polling 
station in Great Britain are: 

 

147 Electoral Commission, Electoral fraud in the UK Final report and recommendations (PDF), January 
2014, p3 

Page 99

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/2/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/2/contents
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/164609/Electoral-fraud-review-final-report.pdf


 

 

Voter ID 

62 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

(a) “Are you the person registered in the register of parliamentary 
electors for this election as follows (read out the whole entry from 
the register)”  

If the answer is ‘no’ then the person is to be refused a ballot paper. If the 
answer is ‘yes’ then question (b) is asked. 

(b) “Have you already voted, here or elsewhere, at this election, 
otherwise than as proxy for some other person”  

If the question is ‘yes’ to question (b) a person is refused a ballot paper. If it is 
‘no’ then the person must be issued with a ballot paper.   

If a person’s entry on the register has already been marked as voted, then a 
tendered ballot must be issued (see below). If the person refuses to answer a 
ballot paper cannot be issued. 

Polling station staff may not make any other enquiry about a person’s right to 
vote other than the prescribed questions. 

If the prescribed questions are answered satisfactorily then the person must 
be issued with a ballot paper, regardless of any doubt that polling station 
may have of the identity of the person in front of them. The Pickles report 
points out the relative ease that the prescribed questions could be 
circumvented: 

The use of the ‘statutory questions’ is both very basic and optional 
and thus they are used rarely or not at all in many polling stations. In 
any event ‘coaching’ of people being used to commit personation 
could overcome that check. 148  

7.2 Tendered ballots 

Tendered ballot papers are only issued in specific circumstances. A tendered 
ballot paper can be issued to an elector who, on arrival at the polling station, 
is told that their name has already been marked as having been issued with a 
ballot paper. The issue of tendered ballots is rare, and statistics are not 
routinely collected. 149  

In this situation the polling station staff must ask the same prescribed 
questions as detailed above. If answered satisfactorily, the person must be 
issued with a tendered ballot instead of an ordinary ballot paper.  

Tendered ballots are printed on a different colour paper and are not placed in 
the ballot box, nor are they counted at the count for that election. Instead, a 

 

148 Cabinet Office, Securing the ballot: review into electoral fraud, 12 August 2016, p11 
149 Written question HL7712 [Local Government: Elections], 22 May 2018 

Page 100

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/securing-the-ballot-review-into-electoral-fraud
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-questions/detail/2018-05-09/HL7712


 

 

Voter ID 

63 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

tendered ballot will be placed in the official envelope provided at each polling 
station by the presiding officer.  

A tendered ballot paper cannot lawfully be counted by a returning officer. 
Tendered ballots are only counted if an election court allows it. This will be in 
the event of a contested election. If an election court allows it, ballots can be 
scrutinised and determine that the tendered ballot is the true ballot cast by 
the voter and discard the ballot cast fraudulently in the voter’s name. 

7.3 How much personation is there? 

One argument against introducing voter ID is that there is no evidence of a 
problem. Critics point to the low numbers of allegations of personation. 

As noted above, the Electoral Reform Society (ERS) responded to the 
recommendation the Government was to trial voter ID by saying it was a “a 
sledgehammer to crack a nut”. 150  

The Electoral Commission produces an annual update of the number of 
electoral fraud cases by collecting cases of alleged electoral fraud from 
monthly returns from all 45 territorial police forces across England, Scotland, 
Wales and Northern Ireland. It notes on its web pages there is “no evidence of 
large-scale electoral fraud”. 151 

The number of allegations fluctuate, in part because different years will see 
different types of elections take place in different areas. Analysis of the 
Electoral Commission data by FullFact shows in the period 2010-18 there were 
two convictions for personation and the largest number of allegations came 
in 2016, when there were 45. 152 

 

 

 

150 Huffington Post article by Josiah Mortimer, Communications Officer for the Electoral Reform Society, 
Eric Pickles' Electoral Fraud Report Is A Sledgehammer To Crack A Nut, 18 August 2016 

151 Electoral Commission, Electoral fraud data web pages 
152 FullFact, Voter ID scheme: far more turned away than convicted of electoral fraud, 16 October 2019 

Page 101

https://www.huffingtonpost.co.uk/josiah-mortimer/electoral-fraud_b_11539640.html
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/who-we-are-and-what-we-do/our-views-and-research/our-research/electoral-fraud-data
https://fullfact.org/crime/voter-id-2019/


 

 

Voter ID 

64 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

 

Recent data 

2019 

In 2019, 33 cases of polling station irregularities were reported. (either 
personation, voting more than once or voting while disqualified from voting). 
2019 saw local election in England in May (approximately 250 councils), the 
European Parliament elections at the end of May and a UK Parliamentary 
election in December. 153   

As of August 2020, one conviction and one caution had been secured for 
personation. A voter in West Yorkshire admitted to voting twice, once using 
his own name and once using his son’s name. He was sentenced to 8 weeks in 
prison (suspended for 12 months), fined £50 and banned from voting for five 
years. 

In West Mercia, a man who knew that he was not on the electoral register and 
could not vote gave his father’s name to polling station staff and was given a 
ballot paper and cast his vote. A polling station staff member suspected 
personation and raised their concerns with the police who interviewed the 
suspect under caution. He fully accepted that he had voted using his father’s 
name and accepted a police caution. 

 

153 Electoral Commission, 2019 electoral fraud data, with more detailed figures provided the Electoral 
Commission on request 

 
 
Notes: general election years highlighted     
 
1. Three voting cases resulted in police cautions: this includes personation as well as other voting 
offences. Allegations of personation in a polling stations made up 29% of voting cases. 
 

Source: Electoral Commission Fraud data, various volumes, 2014-2019 

 

All voting offences Personation

Allegations Allegations Convictions Cautions

2014 73 21 3 1

2015 123 26 2

2016 113 44 1 3

2017 104 28 1 0

2018 57 0 0

2019 142 1 1

2020 0 0 0

Voter fraud: personation (polling station) allegations 
and outcomes

Page 102

https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/who-we-are-and-what-we-do/our-views-and-research/our-research/electoral-fraud-data/2019-electoral-fraud-data


 

 

Voter ID 

65 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

2018 

Data for 2018 indicate there were 57 cases of alleged voter fraud. Of these, 19 
related to voting irregularities (either personation, voting more than once or 
voting while disqualified from voting). Only 8 related to polling stations, with 
one of those relating to proxy voting. No prosecutions resulted from these 
allegations. Apart from local by-elections, the main elections in 2018 were the 
May local elections in around 150 English councils. 154 

2017 

In 2017, there were 28 allegations of personation in polling stations. This 
compared to between 44 million and 45 million ballots cast at various 
elections during 2017. 155  

One allegation of personation resulted in a conviction, relating to personation 
at a polling station. Two cases relating to alleged postal vote personation 
resulted in police cautions. 156 

One of the cautions related to a person in Tower Hamlets who had posted on 
social media that if their contacts did not intend to vote themselves that they 
should consider letting the poster use their vote instead. 

There were 21 alleged cases of personation in 2014, 26 in 2015, and 45 cases in 
2016. 157  

Of the 2016 cases, there was one conviction and three cautions. The 
conviction of the offence committed in 2016 demonstrated the problems faced 
by polling station staff. A voter attended at a polling station in East Ayrshire 
during the EU Referendum claiming to be another voter (his friend) and was 
accordingly issued with a ballot paper in that name which he then used to 
cast a vote.  

Later in the day the same voter attended again to vote in his own name. 
Because the voter was distinctive in appearance the presiding officer 
suspected he had already voted and asked the prescribed questions. The 
voter was able to answer these, and also produced a driving licence, so the 
Presiding Officer had no choice but to issue him with a ballot paper in his own 
name. A report was filed with the police and the offender subsequently 
pleaded guilty in Court. 158   

 

 

154 Electoral Commission, 2018 electoral fraud data, with more detailed figures provided the Electoral 
Commission on request 

155 Electoral Commission, Analysis of cases of alleged electoral fraud in the UK in 2017 Summary of data 
recorded by police forces (PDF), March 2018, p24 

156 As above, p21 
157 As above, p14 
158 Electoral Commission, Analysis of cases of alleged electoral fraud in the UK in 2016 Summary of data 

recorded by police forces March 2017 (PDF), p11 

Page 103

https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/who-we-are-and-what-we-do/our-views-and-research/our-research/electoral-fraud-data/2018-electoral-fraud-data
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/239973/Fraud-allegations-data-report-2017.pdf
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/239973/Fraud-allegations-data-report-2017.pdf
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/223184/Fraud-allegations-data-report-2016.pdf
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/223184/Fraud-allegations-data-report-2016.pdf


 

 

Voter ID 

66 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

8 Background to voter ID in Northern 
Ireland 

 

Summary 

The then Chief Electoral Officer of Northern Ireland reported that in the early 
1980s personation was taking place on a “planned and well organised basis”. 
Concerns about the level of voter fraud in Northern Ireland culminated in 1983 
when 149 arrests were made for personation during the June 1983 General 
Election. 

The Elections (Northern Ireland) Act 1985 introduced the requirement that 
voters in Northern Ireland had to provide certain ID documents before being 
issued with a ballot paper in a polling station. 

In his report of 1985/86, the CEO reported that the new requirements, whilst 
controversial, had a “serious effect on the actual, or perceived, level of 
personation”. At the local elections of 1985 only one arrest for alleged 
personation was reported. However, concern was raised about the ease with 
which some ID documents could be forged and parties from all sides 
considered that malpractice continued. 

In the late 1990s and early 2000s the Labour Government held two 
consultations on updating the voter ID requirements and the Northern Ireland 
Affairs Committee conducted an inquiry on electoral malpractice in 1997. The 
SDLP, along with the UUP, Green Party, and the UDP favoured more stringent 
forms of voter ID. Sinn Féin viewed absent voting malpractice as an area of 
concern, but on voter ID, it favoured removing ID requirements because it was 
unnecessary and “biased against students, pensioners and the unemployed” 

New measures on voter ID were finally introduced by the Electoral Fraud 
(Northern Ireland) Act 2002 and these provisions were first used in 2003. This 
introduced the current requirements that photo ID had to be presented before 
being issued with a ballot paper.  

Dr Stuart Wilks-Heeg, a leading academic on electoral administration, noted in 
2018 that the controversies relating to voter ID in Northern Ireland have 
diminished at each election since it was introduced and confidence in the 
integrity of elections increased and is now at similar levels to the rest of the UK. 

Page 104



 

 

Voter ID 

67 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

Background 

Voter ID requirements were introduced in Northern Ireland after the 1983 UK 
General Election. This followed representations by the then Chief Electoral 
Officer (CEO) of Northern Ireland, Pat Bradley, about the extent of electoral 
fraud he had seen.  

In his evidence to a 1997 Northern Ireland Affairs Select Committee inquiry on 
electoral malpractice in Northern Ireland, the CEO provided background to 
the introduction of voter ID in Northern Ireland. He submitted evidence to the 
Committee and noted that electoral fraud was not a new phenomenon in 
Northern Ireland. He related his experiences of the two by-elections in the UK 
Parliamentary seat of Fermanagh and South Tyrone held in 1981. His 
submission states: 

My observations, both within the polling stations themselves and in 
travelling from polling station to polling station led me to the 
conclusion that personation was taking place on a planned and well 
organised basis. Subsequent to the election I advised the Secretary 
of State of the need to introduce additional safeguards to prevent 
such abuse in the future. I had in mind the use of some sort of 
identification to ensure that the person applying for a ballot paper 
was the person he or she claimed to be. 159 

Mr Bradley’s submission to the Committee also noted the important role of 
polling agents working for candidates, and that some parties had found it 
difficult to find sufficient numbers of agents. Polling station staff are 
restricted to asking the statutory questions to check a person’s identity, “A 
polling agent, and only a polling agent, can request the arrest of a person he 
or she has good reason to believe is personating another elector”. 160 

In a separate submission a former deputy electoral officer for Northern 
Ireland, Joe Connolly, highlighted the problem of polling station fraud: 

During the poll for the Northern Ireland Assembly on 20 October 
1982, twenty-six arrests were made and a total of 762 tendered 
ballots issued. At the Westminster Parliamentary election on 9 June 
1983, 149 arrests were made for personation and 949 tendered 
ballots were issued. 161 

Both submissions also highlighted other problems related to the extent of 
electoral registration irregularities and postal voting fraud in Northern 
Ireland.  

 

159 Northern Ireland Affairs Select Committee, Electoral Malpractice in Northern Ireland, Minutes of 
evidence, 5 November 1997 

160 As above 
161 Northern Ireland Affairs Select Committee, Electoral Malpractice in Northern Ireland, Minutes of 

evidence, 3 December 1997 

Page 105



 

 

Voter ID 

68 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

Introduction of ID requirement in 1985 

The Elections (Northern Ireland) Act 1985 introduced the requirement that 
voters in Northern Ireland had to provide certain ID documents before being 
issued with a ballot paper. The original ID requirements, as listed in the Act 
as passed, were: 

• A current driving licence; 
• A current passport issued by the UK or Irish Governments; 
• A current pension or benefits payment book; 
• A Northern Ireland medical card; or  
• A certified copy, or extract, of an entry of marriage issued by a Registrar 

General for women married up to two years before polling day. 

These provisions were in place until 2002.  

The first election where the requirements to show ID were in place were the 
local elections of 1985. In his report of 1985/86, the CEO reported that the new 
requirements, whilst controversial, had a “serious effect on the actual, or 
perceived, level of personation”.  

Only one arrest for alleged personation was reported, although the report 
does not quantify the number of tendered ballots issued during the poll. He 
noted, however, that despite a very extensive media campaign informing the 
electorate of the new requirements, there were claims that a considerable 
number of voters were disenfranchised because of the narrow range of 
allowable ID documents. This was claimed to particularly affect certain social 
groups although no figures or analysis was given in the report. 162  

In his 1997 submission to the Northern Ireland Affairs Committee, Mr Bradley 
noted there was some opposition to the introduction of ID requirements but 
the introduction was generally seen as a success: 

The press overall were of the opinion that the problem of personation 
had been well addressed. Indeed the Irish News, in an editorial, 
described the practice as “...well and truly buried”. 163 

1990s concerns 

As mentioned above, the 2015 Electoral Commission report that scoped a 
possible voter ID scheme for Great Britain, noted the requirements in 
Northern Ireland were altered because non-photo ID was too easy to forge 
and insufficient proof of identity. 164 The NHS medical card was of particular 
concern. 

 

162 Report of the Chief Electoral Officer for Northern Ireland 1985-86, HC 429, 18 June 1986 
163 Northern Ireland Affairs Select Committee, Electoral Malpractice in Northern Ireland, Minutes of 

evidence, 5 November 1997 
164 Electoral Commission, Delivering and costing a proof of identity scheme for polling station voters in 

Great Britain (PDF), December 2015, p6 

Page 106

http://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/194719/Proof-of-identity-scheme-updated-March-2016.pdf
http://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/194719/Proof-of-identity-scheme-updated-March-2016.pdf


 

 

Voter ID 

69 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

The Northern Ireland Forum, an elected body of 110 members set up under the 
Northern Ireland (Entry to Negotiation, etc) Act 1996, examined electoral 
reform. The proposals for the Forum were criticised by Sinn Féin and the SDLP. 

The Forum’s 1997 report quoted poll clerks and presiding officers who had 
observed but been unable to prevent personation. The Committee examining 
electoral reform, concluded that the list of specified ID documents was being 
abused and legislation should be amended to require photographic 
identification to be produced before a voting paper is handed over. It stated 
that: 

All of those who provided evidence to the Committee, in addition to 
all of those who expressed concern during the Forum debate, 
advocated that photographic identification was the only way to 
identify an elector. However, documents that do not have a 
photograph cannot simply be disallowed unless there is an 
alternative that people can use. Evidence provided to the Committee 
recognised that not all electors possess a driving licence or passport 
but stated they probably do possess some photographic document 
which would confirm proof of identity such as bus passes, security 
passes etc. 165 

The SDLP and Sinn Féin did not participate in the inquiry.  

Mr Bradley noted in his 1997 evidence to the Northern Ireland Affairs 
Committee that: 

Without any doubt the franchise is open to serious abuse from the 
use of forged medical cards so long as such cards are retained on 
the list of prescribed documents. From the simple operational 
viewpoint the removal of the medical card from the list would be the 
obvious answer. I recognise that such a course of action would 
probably result in the effective disenfranchisement of some electors 
who have no access to, or need for, the other specified documents 
unless the medical card were to immediately be replaced by some 
other more secure document that could be immediately made 
available to such persons. 166 

A Government white paper was published in October 1998. 167 It included 
recommendations to combat electoral fraud and of an internal review 
undertaken by the Northern Ireland Office. The review had been prompted by 
allegations of extensive personation at elections in 1996 and 1997.  

 

165 Northern Ireland Forum for Political Dialogue, Report by Committee on Electoral Reform (PDF), 31 
October 1997 

166 Northern Ireland Affairs Select Committee, Electoral Malpractice in Northern Ireland, Minutes of 
evidence, 5 November 1997 

167 Northern Ireland Office, Administering Elections in Northern Ireland, Cm 4081, October 1998 

Page 107

https://web.archive.org/web/19980529213225/http:/www.ni-forum.gov.uk/reports/cr15.pdf


 

 

Voter ID 

70 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

The then Secretary of State, Dr Mo Mowlam, invited voters and interested 
parties in Northern Ireland to provide evidence of voting fraud to the review.  

Despite calling for evidence, the white paper noted that “very little material” 
was submitted detail actual evidence of personation. Several parties 
submitted contributions, the Ulster Unionist Party, the SDLP, and the Green 
Party. Contributions were also received from two smaller parties no longer 
active, UKUP and the UDP. The DUP declined to contribute, saying they had 
contributed to the Northern Ireland Forum inquiry and said that they hoped 
the report produced would be taken into account by the Northern Ireland 
Office review.  

The lack of evidence was also a problem encountered by the Northern Ireland 
Affairs Committee: 

A frustrating aspect of this enquiry is the quality of the evidence on 
which to base findings. Although we wrote to all the political parties 
in Northern Ireland, the response was varied. There was some 
evidence based on particular cases and much useful coverage of the 
impression which exists about the integrity of the electoral process in 
Northern Ireland, but there was limited coherent evidence of the 
extent of vote stealing. 

… 

The Chief Electoral Officer himself is unsure about the extent of the 
problem. He has asked those political parties who have complained 
about personation for specific details that would enable him to start 
an investigation which could ultimately involve the police. He told us 
that he has still not received any specific instances. 168 

The SDLP were the most vocal in their criticism of the existing arrangements, 
claiming that personation was a significant problem. However, the party had 
produced little evidence, with the Northern Ireland Office review stating: 

There is obviously a very strong perception among SDLP members 
that electoral malpractice is a very serious problem, and the lack of 
evidence does not mean they are wrong. It simply rules out the 
possibility of being able to assess accurately the scale of the 
problem and initiate action to identify (and prosecute) 
perpetrators. 169 

The SDLP, along with the UUP, Green Party, and the UDP favoured more 
stringent forms of voter ID. 170  

 

168 Northern Ireland Affairs Committee, Electoral Malpractice in Northern Ireland, HC 316 Session 1997-
98 paras 46-49 

169 Northern Ireland Office, Administering Elections in Northern Ireland, Cm 4081, October 1998, p46 
170 As above, p49 

Page 108

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm199798/cmselect/cmniaf/316ii/nis202.htm


 

 

Voter ID 

71 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

Sinn Féin did not submit evidence to the review, but the Northern Ireland 
Office relied on evidence the party had submitted to the Northern Ireland 
Affairs Select Committee. The review summarised Sinn Féin’s view as, that 
they had suffered from electoral malpractice, despite other parties’ views 
that Sinn Féin’s electoral success was due to malpractice. The party viewed 
absent voting malpractice as an area of concern, but on voter ID, it favoured 
removing ID requirements because it was unnecessary and “biased against 
students, pensioners and the unemployed”. 171 

Academic submissions to the review considered that electoral was “thought 
to be occurring on some scale” but that it was not, overall, a serious problem. 
Those responding to the review suggested the abuse which did occur was “not 
confined to one party or one half of the political or religious divide”. 172  

The white paper recommended that a single purpose electoral card should be 
introduced. At this stage, the recommendation was that the card should not 
carry a photo but that any card should incorporate smartcard technology 
with a digitised signature. It considered that a scheme incorporating 
signatures would have benefits at proving ID at various stages of the electoral 
process, including registration and absent ballot requests. 

The white paper also rules out a more general national ID scheme. Although 
the advantages of a national scheme would be useful for administering 
elections and reducing personation, it noted that: 

A compulsory identity scheme would almost certainly be viewed with 
suspicion and as a potential infringement of civil liberties, 
particularly if it were introduced in Northern Ireland alone. 173   

Introduction of photo ID in 2002 

In March 2001 the Government issued another white paper, Electoral Fraud 
(Northern Ireland). 174 In this paper, the Government said it would introduce a 
new, voluntary photographic identity card to replace the non-photographic 
documents then included on the list of approved documents. The proposal 
had been “widely welcomed by the parties” according to the paper. Passports 
and driving licences were to continue to be permitted.  

The idea of smartcards, with biometric readers in polling stations and “the 
possibility of a comprehensive and secure electoral identity system” was 
marked as an aspiration for the future.  

The Government estimated up to half of the population of Northern Ireland 
would not hold a passport or driving licence, up to 600,000 eligible voters. It 

 

171 As above, p48 
172 As above, p50 
173 As above, p17-18 
174 Northern Ireland Office, Combating Electoral Fraud in Northern Ireland (PDF), Cm 5080, 12 March 

2001 

Page 109

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/263120/5080.pdf


 

 

Voter ID 

72 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

expected the roll out to take 18 months from the time legislation would permit 
their issue: 

The Government is determined that no one should be disenfranchised 
until they have had every reasonable opportunity to acquire 
photographic ID. Once the Government is certain that it is safe to 
remove the other documents from the list, the voter ID card, the 
passport and driving licence will be the only ID acceptable at the 
polling station. 175 

The House of Commons debated the Northern Ireland Affairs Committee 
report, along with the white paper of 1998, in March 2001, shortly after the 
second white paper had been published. The then minister, George Howarth, 
explained the delay bringing forward the proposals on various aspects of 
electoral malpractice, not just personation: 

That is not because of any lack of commitment to the problem, 
because the matter is of grave concern, something on which I have 
received many representations, and an issue that I take seriously. 
The truth of the matter is that the measures in the White  Paper have 
been refined and developed after detailed consultations with all 
political parties, with the chief electoral officer, and with registration 
and electoral officers in Great Britain, as well as after an 
examination of all the measures that have been introduced in other 
parts of the world to combat electoral fraud. 176 

Some of the measures the Government wanted to introduce, in relation to 
registration, also relied on new technology that was not yet in place.  

The measures on voter ID were finally introduced by the Electoral Fraud 
(Northern Ireland) Act 2002 and these provisions were first used in 2003. 177 
These are the requirements detailed in section 1.2 above. The 2002 Act also 
introduced individual electoral registration for voters in Northern Ireland.  

In its report on the 2003 Northern Ireland Assembly elections, the Electoral 
Commission also noted the problem with data collection. It compared surveys 
of presiding officers after 2001 elections and those of November 2003. Its 
findings showed that the suspicion of electoral fraud among polling station 
staff had reduced dramatically. The Police Service of Northern Ireland 
confirmed that it had not received any reports of attempted personation 
during election day. 178  

Writing in 2018, Dr Stuart Wilks-Heeg, a leading academic on electoral 
administration, noted the controversies relating to voter ID in Northern 

 

175 As above, para 42 
176 HC Deb 29 March 2001, c344WH 
177 The background and measures in the Bill was examined in Library briefing RP01-63, Electoral Fraud 

(Northern Ireland) Bill (Bill 6 of 2001-02) 
178 Electoral Commission, The Northern Ireland Assembly elections 2003 April 2004: The official report 

on the Northern Ireland Assembly elections 26 November 2003, p85 

Page 110

http://bit.ly/2OjqfQZ
https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/RP01-63
https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/RP01-63


 

 

Voter ID 

73 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

Ireland have diminished at each election since it was introduced. He has also 
noted confidence in the integrity of elections has also increased: 

There was no evidence to suggest a fall in turnout, but there was 
plenty of evidence that fraud declined sharply. At the 2005 UK 
General Election, just 55 tendered ballots were issued in Northern 
Ireland, a 94% reduction compared to 1983. There has been just one 
conviction for personation in Northern Ireland since 2002. 
Meanwhile, public confidence in the integrity of elections in Northern 
Ireland is up. In the early 2000s, 66% of Northern Irish electors 
believed electoral fraud was commonplace in some areas. By 2017, 
the proportion who thought at least some fraud took place was 28%, 
in line with the rest of the UK. 179 

 

 

179 Stuart Wilks-Heegs, Manchester University Policy blogs, Voter ID at British Polling Stations – Learning 
the Right Lessons from Northern Ireland, March 2018 

Page 111

http://blog.policy.manchester.ac.uk/posts/2018/03/voter-id-at-british-polling-stations-learning-the-right-lessons-from-northern-ireland/
http://blog.policy.manchester.ac.uk/posts/2018/03/voter-id-at-british-polling-stations-learning-the-right-lessons-from-northern-ireland/


 

 

Voter ID 

74 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

9 Case study - Canada 

 

1 Summary 

Voter ID requirements for federal elections were introduced in 2007 by the 
Conservative Government with general cross-party agreement from the three 
largest parties at the time. They were first used in the election of 2008. 
Overall Elections Canada’s statutory reports on general elections has found 
high levels of understanding and access to voter ID requirements. 

Currently voters may choose from an approved list of documents to prove ID 
and residence at their registered address. Voters without required 
documentation can use a process known as vouching or attestation to prove 
their ID and residence. This is where an elector who is also registered at the 
same polling station and has suitable ID will vouch that the person without ID 
is who they say they are. The current requirements are set out in the Elections 
Canada document: ID to Vote. 

The original requirements were subject to a legal challenge on the basis that 
it would prevent electors from exercising their right to vote, as guaranteed by 
section 3 of the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms.  

The court accepted that voter ID was interfered with the right in section 3 but 
was “demonstrably justified” under section 1 of the Charter, which guarantees 
rights and freedoms of all Canadians. Section 3 is not absolute and can be 
limited to protect other rights or important national values. The court found of 
voter ID, “it constitutes a reasonable limit, prescribed by law and 
demonstrably justifiable in a free and democratic society”. 

Subsequent changes to the voter ID system have been subject to more 
partisan disagreement between the Conservatives and the other parties. 

While still in government the Conservative Party tightened the rules to prevent 
use of the polling cards, known as voter identification cards or VICs, and to 
remove vouching as a way of proving identity. However, the Bill was amended 
in Committee to allow voters to prove their address by attestation by another 
voter.  

A significant minority of voters in Canada struggled to prove their residence 
address as they lack documents that prove the address used to register to 
vote, in particular residents of First Nation reserves. Following the election 
victory of the Liberal Party in 2015, the rules were changed the rules to allow 

Page 112



 

 

Voter ID 

75 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

Background 
Before 2007 the Canadian system was like the current system in Great Britain, 
voters did not need to provide ID at a polling station, they only needed to be 
correctly registered. 

Canada introduced voter ID requirements for Federal Parliamentary elections 
in 2008. The 2007 legislation that amended the Canadian Elections Act to 
require voters to produce ID was introduced following recommendations from 
an all-party report of the Standing Committee on Procedure and House 
Affairs. 

The Committee recommended that voter ID should be introduced to prevent 
against voter fraud. It noted that the extent of the problem was not known but 
shared witnesses’ concerns that the potential for fraud undermined the 
integrity of the electoral process: 

It is not our intention to impose any measures that would discourage 
voting, nor do we want to make voting more difficult than necessary. 
The credibility and legitimacy of the system, however, require that 
procedures be adopted to ensure that only those persons who are 
entitled to vote do so, and that they are who they say they are. This is 
essential to preserve the integrity in the electoral system. 180  

 

180 Improving the integrity of the electoral process: recommendations for legislative change (PDF), 
Report of the Standing Committee on Procedure and House Affairs, June 2006, p25 

use of the VICs to prove address and ID. The previous Government had 
opposed to the use of VICs for any part of the ID or residence verification as it 
said it was too easy to use someone else’s card.  

The Elections Modernization Act 2018 received Royal Assent in December 2018 
and removed the prohibition on the Chief Electoral Officer authorizing the 
voter information card as identification. It also allowed voters to prove their 
identity and residence by making a solemn declaration and being vouched for 
by another elector. The new requirements were used in the October 2019 
federal elections.  

In post-poll research 94% of voters reported they found it very easy to prove 
their identity and address when they voted, and another 5% said it was 
somewhat easy with only 1% finding it difficult.  

The likelihood of finding it very easy was lower among Indigenous voters (91% 
versus 94% of non-Indigenous voters), new Canadians (89% versus 94% of 
other Canadians), and 18- to 24-year-olds (90% versus 94% of electors aged 
25 and older). 

Page 113

https://www.ourcommons.ca/Content/Committee/391/PROC/Reports/RP2287023/PROC_Rpt13/PROC_Rpt13-e.pdf


 

 

Voter ID 

76 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

It noted that all the parties then represented in the House of Commons 
supported a more effective method of ensuring voter identification, including 
photo identification, with alternatives available for persons who are unable to 
furnish the required identification. 

The Committee also advised against making voter information cards (VIC), or 
polling cards, an acceptable form of voter ID. It concluded that the potential 
for abuse for voter fraud from using a polling card as voter ID was ‘rife’. It 
highlighted that in some addresses with multiple occupation polling cards 
could be left in lobby areas or cards could be easily discarded and used by 
others: 

we wish to make it clear that voter information cards do not entitle a 
person to cast a ballot, although, in practice, they seem to serve 
that purpose. Given the problems with how they are delivered or 
disposed of, this entire issue must be addressed as a priority. 181  

The Canadian Conservative Government accepted the recommendations and 
included provisions in Bill C-31 in October 2006. Opposition parties accepted 
the principle of the need for voter ID but wanted to see safeguards those 
voters less likely to have acceptable ID, such as Aboriginal, homeless and 
low-income voters and those living in remote areas. The Bill passed its Third 
Reading in the House of Commons with the support of the three largest 
parties, the Conservatives, the Liberals and the Bloc Québécois. 

2007 legislation 
The Act received Royal Assent in 2007 and required Canadian voters who 
voted at polling stations to provide proof of ID in one of three ways: 

• an original piece of approved photo ID, which included the voters name 
and address, issued by any level of Canadian government including 
government agencies; 
 

• two original pieces of identification from a list authorized by the Chief 
Electoral Officer of Canada. Both had to show the name of the elector, 
and one had also to show the elector's address; 
 

• swear an oath and be vouched for an elector who is also registered at 
the same polling station and has suitable ID. 

The Chief Electoral Officer is responsible for issuing a list of appropriate 
documents. About 20 pieces of ID and 20 pieces of original documentation 
were added to the list.  

There were concerns that about 5% of remote rural electors who had no 
appropriate address to prove residence within their polling district. Many 
 

181 As above 

Page 114

https://www.parl.ca/LegisInfo/BillDetails.aspx?Language=E&billId=2413948


 

 

Voter ID 

77 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

remote voters rely on a post office box or general delivery to a post office. An 
amendment was passed in late 2007 to allow these voters to show additional 
identification to establish their residence within the electoral district.  

A legal challenge to the new requirements was filed in the Supreme Court of 
British Columbia in early 2008 by voters supported by civil liberties groups. It 
said the requirements would prevent electors from exercising their right to 
vote, as guaranteed by section 3 of the Canadian Charter of Rights and 
Freedoms. The Government argued the issues of voter fraud and lack of 
confidence in the electoral system stemming from a perception by the 
electorate that fraud is prevalent or could affect the outcome of elections. 

The court found the voter ID requirements did interfere with the right to vote 
under section 3 but that the ID requirements were “demonstrably justified” 
under section 1 of the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms as “it 
constitutes a reasonable limit, prescribed by law and demonstrably justifiable 
in a free and democratic society”, under section 1 of the Charter. Section 1 
guarantees rights and freedoms of all Canadians but provides that they are 
not absolute and can be limited to protect other rights or important national 
values. 182  

The court concluded that it must analyse the provisions in a societal context 
and not whether an alternative arrangement for a particular claimant could 
be devised. It acknowledged there was some detriment to the voters who 
brought the case, but these did not outweigh the benefits of the lower the risk 
of fraud and increased confidence in the integrity of the vote. 183 An appeal 
was dismissed by the Appeal Court of British Columbia in 2014. 184 

2008 and 2011 elections 

The federal ID requirements for voters were first used the general election of 
October 2008. Elections Canada consulted with representatives of several 
communities of electors that might face challenges in meeting the new voter 
identification requirements, such as northern Canadians, seniors and 
residents of long-term care facilities, students and homeless persons.  

The Chief Electoral Officer of Canada’s statutory report on the election stated 
these groups of voters posed significant challenges. 

The main issues identified with the new voter ID provisions were: 

• Some electors were unable to present pieces of identification and official 
documents that could prove their residence, for example citizens in long-
term care facilities no longer carried acceptable identification; 

• There was inconsistent application of the new rules and confusion in 
some polling stations. Elections Canada noted that it may have been 

 

182 Guide to the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms, Government of Canada  
183 Henry v. Canada (Attorney General), 2010 BCSC 610 
184 [2014] BCJ No 122 (QL) 

Page 115

https://www.canada.ca/en/canadian-heritage/services/how-rights-protected/guide-canadian-charter-rights-freedoms.html
https://www.bccourts.ca/jdb-txt/SC/10/06/2010BCSC0610.htm
https://www.canlii.org/en/bc/bcca/doc/2014/2014bcca30/2014bcca30.html


 

 

Voter ID 

78 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

unrealistic to expect poll workers to recognize and process 46 different 
pieces of identification and official documents with limited training 
sessions; 

• In survey work, almost 1 in 5 voters thought the polling card was 
sufficient ID, although nearly all reported being able to vote as they had 
alternatives; 

• Some electors could not provide any proof of residence. Examples 
included persons residing in homeless shelters, student residences and 
long-term care facilities, or on Aboriginal reserves. 185 

At the next general election, in 2011, Elections Canada allowed the polling 
card, known as the VIC, to be used in conjunction with another piece of ID to 
facilitate proof of identity and address for certain categories of electors in 
specific locations: students living on campus, Aboriginal electors living on 
reserves and seniors living in residences and long-term care facilities. 
According to the post-election research by Elections Canada this went well. 

As in the previous election, community relations officers worked with specific 
target groups of electors – namely, youth, Aboriginal and ethnocultural 
communities, and homeless electors – to raise awareness about the electoral 
process. Elections Canada expanded the Community Relations Officer 
Program to include community relations officers for seniors living in 
residences and long-term care facilities to address the specific registration 
and identification barriers faced by these electors in the 2008 election.  

Overall, Elections Canada research found 97% of electors were aware of the 
requirement to present proof of identity, and 89% about proof of address, 
before voting. It found 97% of those who voted said that it was easy to meet 
the identification requirements. Aboriginal electors were less likely to have a 
positive view of the identification requirements than the general population 
(90% compared to 96%). 

Among the surveyed candidates, 72% reported that they or their 
representatives had witnessed no problems related to the voter identification 
requirements, an increase of 11 percentage points over 2008. 186 

2014 legislative changes 
In June 2014 the Canadian Parliament approved legislation that tightened the 
voter ID requirements. This was in response to a review of processes 
commissioned by elections Canada in March 2013. 

The review followed a legal dispute after the 2011 election. The Ontario 
Superior Court declared the result in the Etobicoke Centre riding to be null 
and void because as administrative ‘irregularities’ had led to 79 ineligible 

 

185 Elections Canada, Report of the Chief Electoral Officer of Canada on the 40th general election of 
October 14, 2008 (PDF), p44-5 

186 Elections Canada, Report on the evaluations of the 41st general election of May 2, 2011 (PDF), p12-13 

Page 116

https://www.elections.ca/res/rep/off/sta_2008/stat_report_e.pdf
https://www.elections.ca/res/rep/off/sta_2008/stat_report_e.pdf
https://www.elections.ca/res/rec/eval/pes2011/ege/pdf/ege_e.pdf


 

 

Voter ID 

79 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

votes being cast in a seat that was won by 26 votes. The sitting Member 
appealed and the Canadian Supreme Court overturned the lower court by 
striking out only 59 of the 79 ineligible votes, giving the sitting Member a 
majority of 6. 

The irregularities applied to ‘exceptions’ method of voting, particularly same 
day registration of voters and the vouching process of proving ID at the 
polling station by talking an oath. 52 votes were invalid because election 
officers made serious errors in the administration of voter registration 
procedures, and the remaining 27 cases involved serious errors within the 
application of identity vouching procedures. 

Elections Canada commissioned a review and audit, noting that, “public trust 
in an electoral process is fundamental to perceptions about the legitimacy of 
democratic governance.” 187 

The report, known as the Neufield Report, found that 85% of federal voters 
vote through a “regular” voting procedure, free from administrative 
obstacle. 188 

The remaining 15% led to more challenges: 

It is during these more complex procedures — registration, 
vouching, oaths, translation assistance, eligibility challenges, et 
cetera — that election officers often err. Too frequently, the errors 
are so serious that the courts would judge them to be “irregularities” 
that violate the legal provisions that establish an elector’s 
entitlement to vote. 189 

The report’s author noted that: 

Identity vouching procedures are unquestionably the most complex 
“exception” process administered at polling stations. The level of 
irregularities for vouching averaged 25 percent. 190 

Elections Canada agreed with the report’s conclusion that it should 
investigate methods of reducing the need for vouching by improving 
awareness and extending the use of the VIC (or polling card) as a way of 
verifying a voter’s address: 

For 2015, we plan to revise our voter identification policy to permit 
the Voter Information Card (VIC) to be used as proof of address for 
all electors when it is accompanied by another approved piece of 
identification. We will also look at simplifying the list of acceptable 
pieces of identification. These measures should improve access, 

 

187 A Review of Compliance with Election Day Registration and Voting Process Rules (PDF), March 2013, 
p11 

188 Harry Neufield was a Canadian election administration professional with more than 30 years of 
management experience in elections. 

189 As above, p14 
190 As above, p15, footnote 14 

Page 117

https://www.elections.ca/res/cons/comp/crfr/pdf/crfr_e.pdf


 

 

Voter ID 

80 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

simplify the process for electors and election workers and reduce the 
requirement for vouching. 191 

In the subsequent legislation the Conservative Government disagreed and 
proposed banning using VICs as evidence of address and ending vouching 
procedures. The Bill was criticised by the main opposition parties as a 
measure to disenfranchise a significant number of voters.  

The Standing Committee on Procedure and House Affairs held evidence 
sessions on the Bill during its scrutiny of the Bill.  

The then Chief Electoral Officer of Elections Canada gave evidence to the 
Committee. He voiced concerns about the effects of the Bill on the groups 
most likely to lack required documentation: 

The Neufeld report estimates that approximately 120,000 active 
voters in the last election relied on vouching, and we can expect that 
a significant proportion of them would not be able to vote under the 
rules proposed by [the] Bill  

… 

It is critical to understand that, as recognized by the Supreme Court 
of Canada, the vast majority of these were strictly record-keeping 
errors by poll workers documenting the vouching process, and not 
fraud or even irregularities that could compromise an election. 

He also did not believe prohibiting the use of VICs for confirming address was 
justified: 

It is worth noting that the VIC is the only document issued by the 
federal government that includes address information. The Canadian 
passport, for example, does not include an address. In fact, with an 
accuracy rate of 90%, the VIC is likely the most accurate and widely 
available government document. The VIC is based on regular 
updates from driver's licence bureaus, the Canada Revenue Agency, 
Citizenship and Immigration Canada, and various other authoritative 
sources. 

He concluded his remarks on the voter ID amendments proposed by the Bill by 
saying: 

I do not believe that if we eliminate vouching and the VIC as proof of 
address we will have in any way improved the integrity of the voting 
process. However, we will certainly have taken away the ability of 
many qualified electors to vote. 192 

 

191 As above, p39 
192 Evidence session 6 March 2014 

Page 118

https://www.ourcommons.ca/DocumentViewer/en/41-2/PROC/meeting-20/evidence


 

 

Voter ID 

81 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

The author of the Neufield report also gave evidence and noted: 

My report concludes that this is a systemic problem related to our 
antiquated voting model. At no point in the report do I link vouching 
with fraudulent voting.  

… 

over the course of my study I heard of no candidate scrutineers, 
voters, or media representatives ever raising an issue with respect to 
vouching fraud. I am not aware of any formal complaints in this 
regard. 193 

Civil liberties groups also gave evidence to the Committee opposing the 
proposed changes. The Canadian Civil Liberties Association shared the view 
that there was no issue of voter fraud that needed ‘fixing’: 

The appropriate response to a concern that something may be 
broken in the administration of our electoral system is to take steps 
to fix it. 194 

The Bill was amended by the Committee to allow a new attestation procedure 
for voters who did not have any documentation that proved residence. 

In the Act as passed voters could no longer use the vouching process to 
establish their identity. The Act prohibited the Chief Electoral Officer including 
the VIC as an official piece of evidence establish identity or residence. 

The new procedure allowed voters to prove their residence by taking an oath 
and having another voter vouch for them. The voter vouching must already 
have proved their identification and residence in the normal way and appear 
on the voter list in the same polling station. They must also have made a 
written solemn declaration. 195  

2015 election 

After the 2015 General Election, surveys found similar levels of understanding 
and access to voter ID requirements. The survey found 99% saying it was easy 
to meet the identification requirements, almost everyone who voted (99%) 
said they had the required identification with them when they went to 
vote. The majority of voters (93%) said they used a single piece of 
identification showing their name, address and photograph, nearly all of 
these used a driving licence. 

About 3% of the general population used the second option of showing two 
documents, both with their name and at least one with their address. Less 
 

193 Evidence session 27 March 2014 
194 Evidence session 2 April 2014 
195 Library of Parliament, Legislative Summary of Bill C-23: An Act to amend the Canada Elections Act 

and other Acts and to make consequential amendments to certain Acts, Section 2.3.3.1  Vouching 
Replaced by Attestation 

Page 119

https://www.ourcommons.ca/DocumentViewer/en/41-2/PROC/meeting-22/evidence
https://www.ourcommons.ca/DocumentViewer/en/41-2/PROC/meeting-26/evidence
https://lop.parl.ca/sites/PublicWebsite/default/en_CA/ResearchPublications/LegislativeSummaries/412C23E#a40
https://lop.parl.ca/sites/PublicWebsite/default/en_CA/ResearchPublications/LegislativeSummaries/412C23E#a40


 

 

Voter ID 

82 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

than 1% used the third option, which was the new residence attestation 
process approved in 2014. 

In the retrospective report on the election, Elections Canada reported that 
some electors continued to have difficulties proving their address. In its 
follow-up recommendations Elections Canada noted that: 

These requirements for qualified electors who lack documentary 
proof of address are onerous and may leave them unable to vote. 
Although the number of such electors is small, any time an elector is 
disenfranchised, it is a concern. 

Estimates based on the Labour Force Survey after the election, indicated 
about 173,000 voters who did not vote cited inability to prove identity or 
address as the reason.  

Among them, some 49,600 (28.7 percent) said they went to the 
polling station, but did not vote because they were not able to prove 
their identity and address. Approximately 39 percent of that group 
were aged 18 to 34. Election officers’ feedback confirmed these 
findings, as 10 percent reported problems in verifying electors’ 
identity and almost twice as many (19 percent) in verifying 
address. 196 

Elections Canada recommended that a voter vouching/attesting to the 
residence of another voter should not be limited to attesting to just one 
person, particularly residents of care homes or shelters, residents of First 
Nations reserves and family members from the same address. 

It also recommended the prohibition on allowing VICs to verify address should 
be repealed: 

Allowing electors to use their voter information card as proof of 
address at the polls, together with another document proving 
identity, would help those who are on the list of electors meet the 
identification requirements. The CEO successfully tested the card's 
use as proof of address in various pilot projects at specific locations 
in 2010 and 2011. 197 

These recommendations were taken forward and the Liberal Government 
introduced legislation to allow VICs to be used for voter ID. The Conservative 
Party opposed the move saying the cards were too frequently inaccurate and 
there were sufficient other forms of documentation. 

The Elections Modernization Act 2018 received Royal Assent in December 2018 
and removed the prohibition on the Chief Electoral Officer authorizing the 
voter information card as identification. It also allowed voters to prove their 

 

196 Election Canada, Retrospective Report on the 42nd General Election of October 19, 2015 (PDF), p26 
197 Elections Canada, An Electoral Framework for the 21st Century: Recommendations from the Chief 

Electoral Officer of Canada Following the 42nd General Election 

Page 120

http://www.parl.ca/LegisInfo/BillDetails.aspx?Language=E&billId=9808070
https://www.elections.ca/res/rec/eval/pes2015/ege/pdf/ege_e.pdf
https://www.elections.ca/content.aspx?section=res&dir=rep/off/rec_2016&document=p7&lang=e
https://www.elections.ca/content.aspx?section=res&dir=rep/off/rec_2016&document=p7&lang=e


 

 

Voter ID 

83 Commons Library Research Briefing, 26 October 2022 

identity and residence by making a solemn declaration and being vouched for 
by another elector. Electors who reside in an institution where seniors or 
persons with a disability reside to be vouched for by an employee of the 
institution. The employee may vouch for more than one elector and must 
reside in the same electoral district or adjacent electoral district as the 
person being vouched for. 198 

2019 election 

The new requirements were used in the election of October 2019. In post-poll 
research 94% of voters reported they found it very easy to prove their identity 
and address when they voted, and another 5% said it was somewhat easy 
with only 1% finding it difficult.  

The likelihood of finding it very easy was lower among Indigenous voters (91% 
versus 94% of non-Indigenous voters), new Canadians (89% versus 94% of 
other Canadians), and 18- to 24-year-olds (90% versus 94% of electors aged 
25 and older). 

Voters who used one piece of ID (94%) were more likely than those who used 
two pieces of ID (83%) to have said it was very easy to meet the ID 
requirements. 

Overall, 94% of voters used one piece of approved photo ID, with most using 
their driver’s licence. Only 5% used another form of photo ID.  

4% of voters used two authorized pieces of ID that together could establish 
identity and address for the purposes of voting. Less than 1% had to declare 
their identity and address in writing and have another voter vouch for them. 
Voters under 34 and 75 or older were more likely to use two authorised pieces 
if ID.  

Disabled voters were also more likely to use the two-pieces of ID method. In 
addition, the likelihood of using two pieces of ID increased as the severity of a 
disability increased, from 4% of those with no disability to 9% of those with a 
severe/very severe disability. 199 

 

 

 

198 Elections Canada 
199 Elections Canada, Detailed Findings – National Electors Study on the 43rd Canadian Federal General 

Election: Report on Voter Experience 

Page 121

https://www.elections.ca/content.aspx?section=res&dir=poli/rep1&document=index&lang=e#a7
https://www.elections.ca/content.aspx?section=res&dir=rec/eval/pes2019/nes/nesve&document=p3&lang=e#sec7
https://www.elections.ca/content.aspx?section=res&dir=rec/eval/pes2019/nes/nesve&document=p3&lang=e#sec7


 

 

 

The House of Commons Library is a research and 
information service based in the UK Parliament.  
Our impartial analysis, statistical research and 
resources help MPs and their staff scrutinise 
legislation, develop policy, and support constituents. 

Our published material is available to everyone 
on commonslibrary.parliament.uk. 

Get our latest research delivered straight to your inbox. 
Subscribe at commonslibrary.parliament.uk/subscribe 
or scan the code below: 

 

 commonslibrary.parliament.uk 

 @commonslibrary 
 

Page 122



Elections Act: Voter 

Identification

Elliot Hogan [Acting Election Manager]

Jacquie Russell [Assistant Director]

P
age 123



Elections Act

Polls impacted:

• UK Parliamentary elections 

• Local elections and Mayoral referendums

Main Focuses of the Act:

• Voter ID

• Accessibility

• Postal Voting Changes

• EU Citizens Voting Rights

• Changes to the Overseas Elector Franchise

P
age 124



Voter Identification

• Voters will have to show an approved form of photo identification 

before voting in a polling station

• A free Voter Authority Certificate will be available from the Electoral 

Registration Officer for those without an existing form of ID – they 

will be able to apply for this online or in person. 

The application will require a photo of the elector, along with their 

name, address, National Insurance Number [if no NiNo, 3 supporting 

documents]. The ID will be distributed by the Government from a 

central location, but the Elections Team will need to verify each 

individual application.

The deadline to apply for a Voter Authority Certificate will be 6 days 

before polling day.

• The Voter Authority Certificate online portal application service is due 

to start mid-January 2023.

• Voter ID requirements will be in place at elections taking place from 

May 2023

P
age 125



Accepted forms of Identification

• Passport

• Drivers Licence [including provisional]

• Biometric residence permit

• PASS accredited cards – Some student cards

• Ministry of Defence Form 90

• A national identity card issued by an EEA state

• Some Concessionary Travel Passes: Older Person’s 

Bus Pass, Disabled Person’s Bus Pass, Oyster 60+ 

Card, Freedom Pass

• A badge of a form prescribed under section 21 of the 

Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act

P
age 126



Voter Authority Certificates

This will be an A4 paper document, intended to last a voter 10 years.

There will also be a Temporary Voter Authority Certificate which we 

will be able to issue if somebody applied for one before the deadline 

but did not receive it in time.

Anonymous voters will need to apply for an Anonymous Elector 

Document. This will need to be renewed yearly. It will have their 

photo and elector number, but no name. They will also need to take 

their poll card with them to vote.

An Emergency Proxy will be available for people who have had their 

ID documents lost, destroyed or stolen from the deadline to 5pm 

polling day.

P
age 127



Accessibility

• ROs will have a general responsibility to take all 

reasonable steps to support voters with disabilities

• The provisions for voters to be assisted by a 

companion will be extended to allow anyone over the 

age of 18 to assist

• Electoral Commission to produce guidance and 

recommendations of support that should be made 

available.

• AGMA approach to be taken to ensure consistency 

across polling stations.

• Government to meet costs of new burdens, including 

purchase of new equipment, as necessary.

P
age 128



Postal Voting

• Political parties and campaigners will be banned from 

handling postal votes.

• Limit on the number of postal votes a voter can hand in 

at a polling station; their own plus 5 others – both of 

these expected for May 2024 polls.

• Postal voters will need to make a fresh application 

every 3 years, instead of the 5-yearly signature refresh 

– starting January 2024

• Postal Vote Applications will require the electors NiNo

or supporting documents for identity verification. Will 

be able to apply for a postal vote via the online portal 

[paper applications still available] – expected August 

2023

P
age 129



EU Citizens Voting and 

Candidacy Rights 

• Automatic right of EU citizens to register to vote, to 

vote and to stand in UK elections will be removed, 

• with the exception of ‘qualifying EU citizens’ and 

‘EU citizens with retained rights’ – that is, citizens of 

a country with bilateral treaties, or those resident 

since 31 Dec 2020. 

• Will not affect Irish, Maltese and Cypriot citizens

• Changes expected for May 2025 polls, more details 

August 2023.

P
age 130



Overseas Electors

• The 15-year limit on voting rights for British citizens 

living overseas will be removed

• Overseas electors will be able to register at an address 

where they were previously registered, or if they were 

never registered, where they were last resident

• Estimated 2.1- 2.5 million British citizens overseas 

could be newly enfranchised: no definitive figures on 

likely numbers who will register, but impact assessment 

considers scenario for 550k additional voters.

• Changes expected to begin 2023/24

P
age 131



Public Awareness

• National communications campaign for voter 

identification to be delivered by the Electoral 

Commission, including outreach support and roll-out via 

partners, to go live in January 2023, with support for 

key groups who may need assistance.

• No funding for local comms is expected. Working with 

AGMA on GM approach.  Cannot commence before the 

online portal is live in January.

• All necessary Voter ID information will be supplied on the 

new A4 poll card.

P
age 132



Salford preparation

• Collaboration across GM, continued discussion with 

Electoral Commission, SOLACE, LGA

• Returning Officer responsibility

• Cross council squad in place to ensure effective local 

implementation – directly accountable to Returning 

Officer

• Communication and public awareness will be key

P
age 133



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

Community and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Panel 

Work Programme 2022/23  
 

 
SCHEDULE OF COMMITTEE DATES & AGENDA ITEMS 

 

 

Date 
 

Topic/Action Responsible officer(s) 

18 July 2022 

 

 SCL Overview and Impact  

 Citywide - Catering and Cleaning Overview  

 Fleet Management - Clean Air Regulations Compliance 

 

 

August  
 

No meeting - recess  

19 September 2022 

meeting cancelled 
 

 Waste contract performance and future recycling strategies  

(to be rescheduled) 

 

17 October 2022 
 

 Pesticides Usage  

 Allotments  

 Pest Control  
 

 

21 November 2022 

 

 NRFs and Neighbourhood Management Update  

 Police overview in Salford 

 ID requirements for voting at UK elections  

 

 

December 2022 No meeting - Christmas 
 

 

16 January 2023 

 

 Bereavement Services  

 Food Safety  
 

 

P
age 135

A
genda Item

 7



  

Community and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Panel 

Work Programme 2022/23  
 

 

20 February 2023 
 

 Salford Way and cost of living crisis including: 
o 12 month review of Tackling Poverty, Inclusive and Green 

Economy and Salford Equality and Inclusion Strategies 
(originally considered by Panel on 21/3/22) 

 

 

20 March 2023   

April No meeting - run up to local election  

15 May 2022 TBC 
 

TBC  

P
age 136



  

Community and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Panel 

Work Programme 2022/23  
 

 

ABEYANCE LIST 

 

Waste contract performance and future recycling strategies (deferred from 17 October 2022) 
 

 

Independent third party review into water safety and unauthorised swimming at Salford Quays – 

Findings due early 2023 
 

 

Landlord and Business Licensing - Overview and Effectiveness (in the interim Panel asked to identify 
specific themes and issues they wish to be briefed on and consider)  

 

 

Operation and impact of Salford City Council’s Street Champions scheme 
 

 

Protocol for Managing Unauthorised Encampments - current legislation and requirements of local 

authorities (information provided further consideration by Panel required to be confirmed) 
 

 

The following items are potential ones identified following a recent meeting with the Lead Member for Anti-Poverty, 

Neighbourhoods, Financial Inclusion and Equalities: 
 

Covid-19 Pandemic  

 “social” impact on older generation, isolation and access to services (particularly online ones)  

 Social inequalities identified  
 

 

Social inclusion   

 impact of Covid-19 particularly on the elderly and their access to online services 
 

 

Crime/Community Safety - activity by extremist political groups  

P
age 137



  

Community and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Panel 

Work Programme 2022/23  
 

  

 

  

Portfolio of the Board 
 

Membership  

1. Community Safety  

2. Communities and Neighbourhoods  
3. Regulatory Services (including Environmental Health, Trading 
Standards, Licensing)  

4. Operational Services (including Citywide, bereavement, 
operational transport, refuse and street cleansing, parks 

management, grounds maintenance)  
5. Salford Community Leisure Client  
6. Cultural strategy  

7. to be the designated Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee  
8. To scrutinise the council’s business plan and budget in this 

functional area. 

Councillor Dickman (Chair) 

Councillor Karen Garrido (Deputy Chair) 
Councillor Barnes 
Councillor Boshell 

Councillor Brabiner 
Councillor Fletcher 

Councillor Mullen 
Councillor Gina Reynolds 
Councillor Wain 

Councillor Walters 
Councillor Ward 

Councillor Warner 
 

P
age 138


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of meeting held on 17 October 2022 and matters arising
	5 Neighbourhood Resilience Forums (NRFs) and Neighbourhood Management Update (Jeanette Staley - Head of Community Safety)
	05ii South East Nhood Area NRF Update
	05iii South West Nhood Area NRF Update
	054iv North West Nhood Area NRF Update

	6 Elections Act 2022 and Voter ID (Jacquie Russell - Asst Director Strategy & Change)
	Opposition 
	Current situation
	Why introduce voter ID?
	Pilots of voter ID
	Access to ID
	Case study
	1 Current voting requirements
	Great Britain
	1.2 Northern Ireland

	2 Why introduce voter ID?
	2.1 Electoral Commission research
	Public attitudes to electoral fraud
	Fraud research
	Electoral Commission recommendations 

	2.2 The Pickles report
	2.3 International observers 

	3 Voter ID pilots
	3.1 Background to pilots
	3.2 2006 and 2007 pilots
	3.3 2018 ID pilots
	Bromley  
	Gosport 
	Swindon 
	Watford 
	Woking 

	3.4 2018 Pilot evaluations
	Electoral Commission 
	Awareness
	ID used
	Access to ID
	Perceptions of fraud
	Recommendations
	Cabinet Office 



	3.5 2019 ID pilots
	3.6 2019 Pilot evaluations
	Electoral Commission
	Awareness
	Access to ID
	ID used
	Attitudes to voting
	Perceptions of fraud
	Cabinet Office  

	Attitudes to voting
	Attitudes to national rollout 


	3.7 Effect of the 2018 and 2019 pilots on voter turnout
	3.8 Legal challenge

	4 Reactions
	4.1 Reactions to the pilots
	Electoral Reform Society
	Local government
	Equality and Human Rights Commission

	4.2 Opposition parties
	4.3 Academics
	4.4 Electoral administrators
	4.5 Parliamentary proceedings
	Urgent questions
	Westminster Hall debates
	Committees
	Public Administration and Constitutional Affairs Committee
	Lords Select Committee on the Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013
	Joint Committee on Human Rights



	4.6 Government responses

	5 Elections Act 2022
	Passage of the Elections Bill
	Policy paper – January 2022
	Types of existing ID
	The Voter Card


	6 Access to ID
	6.1 Existing photo ID
	Electoral Commission research
	Cabinet Office research

	6.2 Voter ID cards
	6.3 Attitudes to voter ID
	Welsh Government consultation 2018


	7 What is personation?
	7.1 The prescribed questions
	7.2 Tendered ballots
	7.3 How much personation is there?
	Recent data
	2019
	2018
	2017



	8 Background to voter ID in Northern Ireland
	Background
	Introduction of ID requirement in 1985
	1990s concerns
	Introduction of photo ID in 2002

	9 Case study - Canada
	Background
	2007 legislation
	2008 and 2011 elections
	2014 legislative changes
	2015 election
	2019 election



	06b Elections Act 2022 - Presentation

	7 Work Programme 2022/23

